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CORPORATE INTRODUCTION
DA I

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited (the “Company” or “Kingdee”) was established in 1993. It is listed on
the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 00268.HK) and headquartered in Shenzhen, the PRC. Adhering to
the core values of “Acting in all Conscience, with Integrity and Righteousness”, the Company is committed to helping businesses
achieve their growth targets and let the sun shine on every company through dedicated services. It strives to provide them with
the most trustworthy enterprise service platform.

Through persistent efforts to explore China’s Cloud enterprise service market, Kingdee has retained the largest share in the
enterprise application software sector for fast-growing enterprises for 14 consecutive years, and has grasped the biggest share in
the enterprise-grade SaaS Cloud services industry for the second year. In addition, Kingdee’s diverse Cloud services and products
are the preferred choices of leading enterprises. They include “Kingdee Cloud Cosmic” (an epochal Cloud service platform for
large enterprises), “Kingdee Cloud Galaxy” (a digital innovative Cloud service platform for fast-growing enterprises), “Kingdee
Jingdou Cloud” (one-stop Cloud services platform for micro and small-sized enterprises), “Cloud-Hub” (intelligent Cloud office),
“Guanyi Cloud” (Cloud services for E-commerce operators) and “Cargeer” (Cloud services for auto dealers). With its strengths
in management software and Cloud services, Kingdee provides services and products to more than 6.8 million enterprises,
government agencies and other organizations around the world.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MEIRE

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AE®TR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

Revenug 2EW 2,808,658 2,303,458 1,862,207 1,516,773 1,546,517
Profit attributable to owners KA AR

of the Company BEANELER 412,106 310,004 288,230 105,766 197,048

Dividends per share FREE HKD#E #9115 HKD/& 8401 67 HKD/E M — HKDE — & HKD/&# 15

Earnings per share GREMN
- basic -EK RMBA R #13.19% RMBA R E11.04% RMBA R %9.987 RMBA R 853,829 RMBARHT.10%
~ (iluted -8 RMBAR#12.45% RMBA R E10.75% RMBAR®9.74% RMBA X360 RMBA R H7.36%

Earnings Per Share - Basic
sRaY - &%

RMB
ARERD

13.19

2014 2015 2016 2017
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Revenue
X8

RMB'000
ARETT

2,808,658

2,303,458

1,862,207
1,546,517 1,516,773

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company
FORRBRAEAEGERT

RMB'000

ARETFTT

412,106

310,004

288,230

197,048

105,766

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Operating Profit
#ERN

RMB'000
ARETT

453,307

341,434

299,918

248,900

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Net cash generated from operating activities
SEZDEENRES

RMB'000
AREFT

905,515

612,093
556,440

506,678

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
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Year ended 31 December

2017 2016 2015 2014
ZT—t+tF ZE—RF ZE-hF ZZTQmF
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTT ARETT ARETR
Revenue EED 2,303,458 1,862,207 1,516,773 1,546,517
Gross profit EF 1,876,484 1,514,246 1,226,617 1,275,830
Profit before income tax MBRAEHAIRF 378,420 209,275 279,697 225,833
Profit for the year FEAM 323,612 215,220 217 438 200,348
Assets
Non-current assets ERHEE 3,268,476 3,020,595 2,429,498 2,290,106
Current assets MENEE 3,533,582 2,956,719 3,073,959 2,103,062
Total assets BWEE 6,802,058 5,977,314 5,503,457 4,393,168
Equity and liabilities EERAR
Equity attributable to owners ARRRERE AEGLER
of the Company 3,995,341 3,475,810 3,217,069 1,988,972
Non-controlling interests DY R 47,739 60,356 29,649 9,246
Total equity B 4,043,080 3,536,166 3,246,718 1,998,218
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 1,354,101 1,518,414 1,338,024 1,365,589
Current liabilities REAE 1,404,877 922,734 918,715 1,029,361
Total liabilities BERE 2,758,978 2,441 148 2,256,739 2,394,950
Total equity and liabilities BEZNERE 6,802,058 5,977,314 5,503,457 4,393,168
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The year 2018 not only saw dramatic changes in the world, but also marked significant
breakthroughs for Kingdee’s transformation towards Cloud services. In the face of various
difficulties, our team remained enthusiastic and grasped the nettle. As a result, the total
revenue of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) advanced by
21.9% year-on-year. It is noteworthy that revenue from Kingdee Cloud surged 49.5%
from a year ago. We would like to express our heartfelt gratitude to all customers,
shareholders and investors for their continuing trust and support placed with us.

Since our establishment 25 years ago, Kingdee has adhered to sustaining longevity
and self-dependent innovation. Despite the emergence of new technologies, new trends
and new opportunities over the past 25 years, Kingdee has maintained its pursuit for
long-termism, and have sustained long-term investment in products and technology to
spearhead the development of the industry and to help the digital transformation and
upgrade of Chinese enterprises. For this reason, Kingdee became the first domestic
manufacturer to launch a Windows-based financial software and three-layer ERP based
on the Internet platform. Furthermore, it is this unique feature that inspired us to create
the epochal Cloud service platform in 2016, and to launch Kingdee Cloud Cosmic in
August 2018. Within a short span since its launch, Kingdee Cloud Cosmic received
enthusiastic responses from various large-scale enterprises, including Huawei, CND,
PetroChina International, Xiwang and Wens Group.

Over the past few years, Kingdee has steadfastly embarked on the road of Cloud
transformation. Adhering to the principle of “software is the past, Cloud is the future
of Kingdee”, the Company promoted Cloud adoption by enterprises, responding to the
policy of “Promoting Cloud Adoption by One Million Enterprises”. Furthermore, it was
included into the lists of recommended service providers by 15 provincial governments
and 22 municipal governments. Moreover, Kingdee became the first Chinese enterprise
SaaS service provider to be included in Gartner Market Guide. According to IDC, the
Company retained the largest share of China’s enterprise-grade SaaS, SaaS ERM and
Financial Cloud markets for two consecutive years. It is noteworthy that revenue from
Kingdee Cloud contributed 30.2% of our total revenue. An ecosystem of Kingdee Cloud
has been developed to provide powerful and complete Cloud service solutions for
enterprises.

Kingdee adheres to the core values of “acting in all conscience, with integrity and
righteousness”. We strive to satisfy customers’ needs and care about their concerns.
Therefore, we always put our customers first. We strive to “serve enterprises
wholeheartedly” and put it as our mission. Therefore, we reach out to customers and
power their success, thereby making the Company the most trustworthy enterprise
service platform.
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Outlook

The next decade will witness the boom of Industrial Internet. At the core of Industrial
Internet is traditional business, rather than Internet; and the foundation of traditional
business rests on industrial value chain, not the enterprise; the key to industrial value
chain is connection and reconstruction, not ownership.

Building upon the successful experience of linking 6.8 million customers, Kingdee
will work with enterprises to promote the reconstruction of value chain, shape the new
advantages of Industrial Internet, and create a win-win situation with the traditional
industry. Thus, we build a community bounded by destiny and to help integrate the new
era of commercial civilization.

Acknowledgement

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to the entire staff for
their dedication and commitment to our vision, as well as their continuing contribution
to the Company. At the same time, | would like to express our sincere gratitude to all
customers, shareholders and investors for their trust and support placed with us. While
our team strives to realize the management’s aspiration for future growth, Kingdee will
forge ahead relentlessly.
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(1) Key Financial Information
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Despite the uncertainties of the world environment in 2018, Kingdee still made new
breakthroughs in the transformation towards cloud services. During the reporting
period, the Group achieved 21.9% year-on-year revenue growth, with revenue
from management software business grown by 12.9% year-on-year, and revenue
from Cloud services increased by 49.5% year-on-year. Kingdee further pursued its
strategic objective of deepening Cloud transformation as the contribution of this
segment to the Group’s total revenue reached 30.2%.

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group recorded total revenue
of RMB2,808,658,000, representing a year-on-year growth of 21.9%
(2017: RMB2,303,458,000). Revenue from the ERP business amounted
to RMB1,959,402,000 (2017: RMB1,735,265,000), up by 12.9% year-on-
year. Revenue from Cloud services increased by 49.5% year-on-year to
RMB849,256,000 (2017: RMB568,193,000).

- FEMERH
“R-\FEHERRENTEEY - KD
EEEH FESERENRE - HEHA - A
SEBARLERN9%  ERERRHER
BR12.9%  ERBEBEROS  2REX
BRAEAEERBIRANLER02% £
GRENRA EERNEREREE -

E
BE-Z-NE+_A=t+—HILEE K&
518 B L 25 A R 152,608,658,0007T 0 [
#R19% (2T — 4+ AR #2303458,000
T RAGEEREERFENBABA
B 1950402000 (ZZE—+E: AR
1,735,265,0007T ) + [ EL 32 &12.9% ° ERASWA
[F b 38 R 495% % A B 15849,256,0007T (=2 —
4 AR568,193,0007T) ©

Revenue included the following: BEEPENT

2018 2017
—B-\%F —T—+tF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTTR ARMEFT
ERP business PEERERTEES 1,959,402 1,735,265
— Revenue from sales of software and hardware products — B EREENRA 936,620 878,100

— Revenue from rendering of software — REFHLZERBAKA
implementation services 805,667 562,897

— Revenue from rendering of software solution — RESGRRASRER

consulting, maintenance, upgrade and & ARAEME R
other supporting services 217,115 294,268
Revenue from rendering of cloud services REZRBHEA 849,256 568,193
2,808,658 2,303,458
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The abovementioned increase in revenue in ERP business was mainly attributable
to the increase in sales revenue of EAS products for medium and large-sized
enterprises and the increase in revenue from related software implementation
services. The increase in revenue from cloud services business was mainly
attributable to the increase in revenue from subscription services of Kingdee Cloud
Galaxy and Jingdou Cloud products. During the year, IFRS15 was adopted. Other
than the reclassification of certain balance sheet items, as there was no change
to the timing of the recognition of revenue from product and service sales, the
application of IFRS15 did not have any material impact on the financial statements.

Gross Profit

During the reporting period, the Group recorded gross profit of RMB2,294,319,000
(2017: RMB1,876,484,000), up by 22.3% year-on-year. The gross profit margin
remained steady at approximately 81.7% (2017: approximately 81.5%).

Selling and marketing expenses

Selling and marketing expenses amounted to approximately RMB1,491,302,000
(2017: RMB1,235,882,000). This represented year-on-year increase of 20.7%,
mainly due to the increase in selling and marketing expenses resulted from the
increase in revenue. As a percentage of revenue, the percentage of selling and
marketing expenses decreased slightly from 53.7% in 2017 to 53.1% in 2018,
mainly resulted from the implementation of the Group’s cost control measures.

Administrative expenses and net impairment losses on financial assets
and contract assets

In 2018, administrative expenses and net impairment losses on financial assets
and contract assets were RMB382,039,000 in aggregate, representing a year-on-
year increase of 19.3% (2017: RMB320,203,000). As a result of the adoption of
IFRS 9, net impairment losses on financial assets was separately disclosed as a
loss item on the face of the consolidated income statement during the year, while it
was included as part of the administrative expenses last year. In terms of revenue
percentage, the percentage of administrative expenses and net impairment losses
on financial assets decreased slightly from 13.9% in 2017 to 13.6% in 2018,
mainly resulted from the implementation of the Group’s cost control measures.
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Research and development

In 2018, total research and development costs were RMB500,301,000, representing
a year-on-year increase of 23.9% (2017: RMB403,697,000), of which, the
capitalised amount in 2018 was RMB379,237,000, up by 6.9% year-on-year
(2017: RMB354,837,000). Amortisation of research and development costs
was RMB284,094,000 in 2018, representing a year-on-year decrease of 4.2%
(2017: RMB296,457,000), and the research and development costs recognised
in the consolidated income statement was RMB405,158,000 in 2018. The Group
continued to invest in the development of Cloud products, resulting in further
increase in total research and development costs during the year.

Fair value gains on investment properties

In 2018, fair value gains on investment properties was RMB94,516,000,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 2.0% (2017: RMB96,419,000) and
remained steady compared with the corresponding period of last year.

Other income and gains-net

In 2018, other income and gains-net was RMB342,971,000, representing a slight
year-on-year decrease of 1.8% (2017: RMB349,258,000), mainly due to the
combined effects of an increase in realised gains on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (2018: RMB34,503,000, 2017: RMB15,150,000) and no
gains on remeasurement of contingent consideration for business combination
recognised during the year (2017: RMB25,117,000).

Operating profit

The change in operating profit margin is due to the combined effect of changes in
aforementioned items.

Finance costs-net

In 2018, the finance costs — net amounted to RMB1,037,000, representing a year-
on-year decrease of 96.2% (2017: RMB27,112,000), mainly due to the decrease
in interest on borrowings as a result of the conversion of the convertible bonds
during the year.

Income tax expense

In 2018, the income tax expense amounted to RMB38,760,000, representing a year-
on-year decrease of 29.3% (2017: RMB54,808,000), mainly due to the combined
effects of the increase in research and development costs and the increase in super
deduction proportion from 50% to 75%.
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Profit and earnings per share

For the year ended 31 December 2018, profit attributable to the owners of the
Company amounted to RMB412,106,000 (2017: RMB310,004,000). Net profit
margin attributable to the Company was approximately 14.7% (2017: approximately
13.5%). Basic earnings per share were RMB13.19 cents (2017: RMB11.04 cents).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss amounted to RMB638,886,000, representing an increase of RMB632,600,000
as compared with 31 December 2017, including the non-current portion of
RMB427,456,000 (31 December 2017: RMB6,286,000) and the current portion of
RMB211,430,000 (31 December 2017: nil).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss included the following:

Investments designated at fair value through profit or loss B E U A4 BEE 2B HEH

FABENRE
Wealth management products (i) HEEEER()
Preferred shares (ii) B RR (i)
Listed shares Fm
unlisted equity investments FELEmRERE
Unlisted convertible bonds FEmABRRES

Less: non-current portion o IERBHE D

HARBREH
BEZZ-N\E+ZA=+—Hit  XRA7A
oA ARG EHERT B ARK412106,000
T (ZE—FRH: ARKS10004,0007T) -
BEREARMFNEXNA4T (ZF—t
FRH: HR135%)  BREARFIRARE
B (Z2—LFRY FREXBMAR
#11.0401L

HARBEEHEAREEHARSHERNEE
R-B-N\E+-A=+—-H0 KEEURA
BEFEAEZYTABENESRHEEAA
638,886,000 ZE-FE—+FE+-A=+
— B0 A R #632,600,0007T - BIEIERE T
DARBAT6000C (ZT—+F: ARE
6,286,0007T) [ 7k &) & 2 A R #£211,430,0007C
(Z2—tFtA=t+—R:%)-

NARBEAERAZYFABENEREE
BENTIESR

2017
—E—+F
RMB’000
ARETF T

6,286

6,286

(6,286)
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(i)  This represented the Group’s investments in various wealth management () BEREEHBEERTETZZEMES
products issued by commercial banks. These products have a term ranging BEMNRE ZEERFHNTIEA
from 3 months to 36 months and have an expected return rate of 3% to 5%. ZIMEA 2 - EEEREAI%ES ©
None of these investments in wealth management products accounted for WEHEEBEMNRERTaREAS
more than 5% of the Group’s total assets. Such wealth management products BREEMY - ZSENEREETE
were described as having low risks in the product description manuals ARHMERGAFRFRELEES
published by the issuing banks. We considered to invest in such wealth KRR BMEEREHEBAKLE
management products when we have surplus cash that is not required for any EeAANRRRERRERTENE
of our working capital purposes so as to gain reasonably higher investment o AREMOEER2EGEESR
returns on our excess cash than regular bank deposits. We will adhere to our FHRETERNRELDNS - BRMOBBE
investment and treasury policies and take a prudent approach in selecting BRANEERESEERR  UEEE
such investment products issued by reputable PRC banks with low-risk and EREERENTENRITETNAS
features and annualised interest rate above the bank deposit interest rate. We KRR RAR AL R FEFEZRIRIT
will take internal control measures to review and monitor such investment FRAENEEERD - ZMERRAD
decisions in terms of investment limit, risk assessment and management, THER TIRERY - BRFHERE
as well as internal procedures for maintaining and monitoring relevant BUAR MR REEER e N A
accounting record. BrERRYASRERARETERR

EE.

(ii)  This represented the Group’s investment in 535,643,887 Series E Preferred (i) 4 7 & & LFacishare Co., Ltd. 3 17 &9
Shares issued by Facishare Co., Ltd., which is a company mainly engaged 535,643 887RRERFIE R RMIRE - %A
in the business of social network working platform for precise interactive AEENERERETDMGEHERE
marketing and enterprise collaborative management. EREHERMOHIBEIIETS -

Available-for-sale financial assets AHHESNEE

2018 2017
—Z-N\Ef —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFT

Wealth management products HEEEER - 446,871

Less: non-current portion B IERES S = (50,053)

Current portion mEED - 396,818

As at 31 December 2017, available-for-sale financial assets represented the R-Z—t&F+-A=+—H0 AftH&EsH

Group’s investments in various wealth management products issued by commercial
banks. These products have a term ranging from 3 months to 36 months and
have an expected return rate of 3% to 5%. None of these investments in wealth

management products accounted for more than 5% of the Group’s total assets.
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2017

—E—+F
RMB'000
ARETT

Balance at 31 December 2017/2016 RZF—R"E/T—+F
+ZA=+—R#&#H 269,855
Reclassification for the application of IFRS 9 BB BmE R EIREN A -
At 1 January R—A—H 269,855
Additions PN 761,173
Disposals & (584,424)
Net gains recorded in equity e R FE 267
At 31 December wt+-A=+—H 446,871

Since 1 January 2018, available-for-sale financial assets were reclassified to
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as a result of the adoption of
IFRS 9.

Investments in associates

Investments in associates of the Group for the reporting period amounted to
approximately RMB234,403,000 (2017: RMB31,420,000).

The Company sets out a breakdown as follows:

B2 /\F-A-Rig RRKERABHR
ERERESE  THHESREERENIE
BUARABEABEEEDH ABRENERHE
Eo

BERE

RFEHRNBRERAEER L ARNEED
AARE234403000T (ZF—tF: ARE
31,420,0007T) ©

AREFHAEOT

2017

—T—+F

RMB'000

ARBTT

At 1 January 2018 RZZE-N\&—H—H 25,793

Interests in associates () REFE D B () 1212

Conversion from a subsidiary to an associate (b) FRRIEABZNF(b) -

Dilution gain (b) R LR (D) 25,130

Revaluation gain upon losing of control (b) REEHIBMERKED) -
Recognition of share of prior year loss recognised ROEREE R B

against loan to an associate WRIEE BB (5,548)

Share of losses of associates AEBERERENEBROE (15,227)

At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E+ZA=1+—H 31,420

“E-\FER SKEBRRHEEERAT 15




(a) Investments in associates (a) HBERSE

The Company sets out below further information on material investments in ARBRRTRIE =S —NFRERE
associates during 2018: EREME—TER

Investment Equity
amount interest held
Principal activities and ~ (RMB '000) by the Group  Date of

Name of associate place of operation RESHE &M@ transaction Description of transaction
RELREE TEEBREBME (AE%TR) RERE XHEH R AR
ERERSHRAERAR Provision of financial 13,933 70% 15 August 2018 Capital injection into an associate, namely
(Beijing Huacai Accounting Co., services in the PRC ZZ—\F  Beijing Huacai
Ltd.") EHERHE NATHB RBSARERENEE

ERENEHRAERAA MBRY
2,549 12% 15 August 2018 Acquisition of equity interest from
ZZ—\%F  the counterparty, namely K =61
NATHB  ZRGeEERZATL (BR

&%) (Tianjin Huacaizhijia Enterprise
Management Consultancy Gentre (Limited
Partnership))
MEFHREEN  REEEER
AR (FRE¥) WEkE

2,996 14% 15 August 2018 Acquisition of equity interest from a
“E-\F  counterparly, namely K BE SR AE
NAETRE  EBHDL (BRA)(Zhuhai Ruigao
Investment Management Centre (Limited

Partnership)*)
REFHHEERREEERL
(BREH) WiEikE
PRBBE/ERM (I R) Provision of software 132,911 206% 8 November 2018  Capital injection into an associate, namely
BRAT services in the PRC ZE-NFE  ijiayoudao
(Qijiayoudao Network Technology ~ 7ER EIfR (it T—ANB REEARCREELE
(Beijing) Limited) RS
CREBEEEM (R) 5,000 1.0% 8 November 2018 Acquisition of equity interest from a
BRAF ZZ—\F  counterparty who is an individual and who
+—A/\B s anindependent third party
REAEATBRBIE=ANY
ENLC 1t
5,000 1.0% 8 November 2018  Acquisition of equity interest from a
ZZ—\F  counterparty who is an individual and who
+—A\B s an independent third party
A AEALBRBILE=FHEH
Fr s i
YT EHAERBERAT  Provision of management 16,053 50% 1 December 2018 Capital injection into an associate, namely
(Shenzhen Zhongxing New Cloud ~ consultancy and software —Z—7\F  Zhongxing New Cloud
Services Co., Lid.*) services in the PRC +ZA—H RBELEPENELE
AITHEAERBEERART  ETERME
ERAA RN RYE
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(b) Conversion from subsidiary to associate, dilution gain and

revaluation gain upon losing of control

The capital injection in relation to Qingdao Xinrun and consequent deemed
disposal (please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 28 December
2018 for further details) resulted in the Group recording a dilution gain of
approximately RMB714,000, revaluation gain upon cessation of control of
approximately RMB5,318,000 and gain on the conversion from a subsidiary
to an associate of approximately RMB16,000,000.

(b)

BHFAREEHELT RESELES
REERFSHEMKES
ERESSHEERERNBIELE
(E—THBFL2BAARBHAZ-S
—NFF+ZAZFTNBHAM) BA
SEGERERERE N AREN4,000
T I HERERNEGREHARE
5,318,0007C LA K% 1 F 1 A8 Al & 2 A B
Fll & 49 A R #16,000,000 7T ©

Loans to third parties RFPEZFRER
2018 2017
—Z-)\%§ ZE—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARETT

Loans to third parties BYEZRER

— Current portion —nEabn 88,720 61,020
— Non-current portion — SEREE D 18,940 2,910
107,660 63,930

The balance of loans to third parties as at 31 December 2018 represented
loans made under the micro-credit business of the Group. These loans are
unsecured, bear interest at 4.28% to 18.00% (2017: 6.48% to 14.40%) per
annum and are repayable with fixed terms agreed with the customers, and all
denominated in RMB.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of
asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at
the date of initial recognition.

As at 31 December 2018, as no loan was in default and borrowers are
considered having strong capabilities to meet contractual cash flows, the
loans advanced to third parties are considered to have low credit risk, and
the loss allowance recognised during the period was therefore limited to 12
months expected losses (where the expected lifetime of an asset is less than
12 months, expected losses are measured at its expected lifetime). Over the
terms of the loans, the Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately
providing for expected credit losses on a timely basis, and a general
provision of 1% of the principal was provided against the loan principals.

RZE-N\F+-A=+—-HBHETE=
HERNEREAREBEEEHT
HHMER - ZAFER/EER  BF
BABEZEBE (ZT—tF:648EZ
HAE) RERBEE P #HE OB E F
HEE  2HBOUAREHE -

FEERNEEREERZRERAE
% THRERAERBEHASEZER
BELREERRNEA LT - R
FERRREAEALI  AKEER
EHRMEEREERORMR A
RARBEHEROBRIELE -

R-ZZ-NF+=-A=1+—8 iR
EEFBERAGERABRAEESE
NEGERBER ARG TFE=AM
EXWEAREERR  MAHRER
RIBARERNEAMESHBX (4
EEMBSRTBFHLOAEA - A
HBRRETAFEHTE) - HERNE
BFEH AEBUHEERRNEERE
AREREREERAELEE &E
HREFASEEEASE %M — R
o
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Loans to related parties

The Company recorded balance of loans to related parties of approximately
RMB721 million as at 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB164 million).

Loans to related parties BYBEMTER
— Current portion —nBabn
— Non-current portion — JEREE R

The Company sets out below a breakdown of the amount as at the end
of the reporting period by transaction, and further details on the relevant
transactions:

ETRBARR
ARAIR-B-N\F+_A=+—H&
BaRTEETEREROAREIEE
T(ZF—1F: ARKIB4BET) -

2017
“EF

104,979
59,160

164,139

ARBRTRIHER Het ENRED
REBRA UREBZXH0E—FHF
IE .

RMB million (approximate)
ARKEET (B4)

Loan from the Group to 3| Z 2 RBBEHR AR FEBRTRINEZRBERBRARNER 29

(Shenzhen Cloud-Hub Network Co., Ltd.”)

Loans from the Group to L85 2B EERHERA A FERELRT EESREETHERRANER 105

(Shanghai Jinyi Medical Software Limited*)

Loans from the Group toE BB EEZER LA FERELRTEEEHEEERLANER 5g7ete (Fizt)

(Qingdao Xinrun Real Property Co., Limited*)

Total st

1

Note: RMB256,976,000 were presented as current assets due within one year, and
this amount included RMB218,430,000 which was settled subsequent to
financial statement date and before the date of this report. Loans amounting
to RMB330,398,000 were presented in non-current assets with a term of three
years from 29 December 2018 to 28 December 2021.
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Loan from the Group to JARIIIZE 2 R4 4E B FR A &(Shenzhen Cloud-Hub
Network Co., Ltd.*) (“Cloud-Huh”)

The relevant loan from the Group to Cloud-Hub was granted to Cloud-
Hub at the time when it was a subsidiary of the Company. Details of the
relevant loan transaction was disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 28 July 2016 when the Company disposed of its majority interest in
Cloud-Hub. On 14 December 2018, the Group entered into a loan extension
agreement with Cloud-Hub to extend the maturity date of the outstanding
loans from 2 January 2019 to 31 December 2021, which extension was
announced in the Company’s announcement dated 14 December 2018. As
at 31 December 2018, the net value of the loan granted to Cloud-Hub was
approximately RMB29 million (after taking into account repayments from
Cloud-Hub and certain adjustments by reference to the changes in the
value of the loan receivable from Cloud-Hub). As of the date of extension
and as of 31 December 2018, Cloud-Hub was a connected person of the
Company as it is an associate of Mr. Xu (an executive Director, the Chairman
of the Board and the controlling shareholder of the Company). For further
details of the relevant loan transactions, please refer to the aforementioned
announcements.

Loan from the Group to _E/&5 R EEE & {7 IR /2 F](Shanghai Jinyi
Medical Software Limited*) (“Shanghai Jinyi Medical”)

The relevant loan from the Group to Shanghai Jinyi Medical was granted to
Shanghai Jinyi Medical at the time when it was a subsidiary of the Company.
Details of the relevant loan transaction was disclosed in the announcement of
the Company dated 28 July 2016 when the Company disposed of its majority
interest in Shanghai Jinyi Medical. On 14 December 2018, the Group entered
into a loan extension agreement with Shanghai Jinyi Medical to extend the
maturity date of the outstanding loan from 2 January 2019 to 31 December
2021, which extension was announced in the Company’s announcement
dated 14 December 2018. As at 31 December 2018, the net value of the loan
granted to Shanghai Jinyi Medical was approximately RMB105 million. As of
the date of extension and as of 31 December 2018, Shanghai Jinyi Medical
is a connected person of the Company as it is an associate of Mr. Xu (an
executive Director, the Chairman of the Board and the controlling shareholder
of the Company). For further details of the relevant loan transactions, please
refer to the aforementioned announcements.

FEELTRINEZRBH/ERD A
([BZR)) WER
ARERNEZRRENEBERTIRE
ZRBARAFRAKGRETFEZR © 1
BEFRSGHBERAARAHRAZS
—~NEFtAZt+N\B (EBRARRLHE
LREZ R R R BAMHHE
BoRZT-N\F+ZATMA k&
EHZEZFIVETRBHE  BRE
BEZMIASHAHR-_Z-NE—FA_-H
RBUZ-_T-—F+-A=+—H %
BHERAARIARA-S—N\F+=
ATHBHDHER AR RZT—N\F
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BEHNBARBIEEL (BAFAZZRE
BIULKSERKZECRERERZD
METHAR) BZRBAREE-Z—
NE+ZAZ+—8 mREZRA%
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FHiE B2 LRLMH -

By Ot
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NE+ZA+IE  FXEEE LGSR
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—T-—F+-fF=1+—H  ZEHE
RARRB#HAZZ—N\F+_A+H
EEIUNGEUN IR et S IS el
=t-H HTLESRBENENRTF
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Loan from the Group to & &% HE AR A F)(Qingdao Xinrun Real
Property Co., Limited*) (“Qingdao Xinrun”)

The relevant loan in the amount of RMB587 million from the Group to
Qingdao Xinrun was granted by the Group to Qingdao Xinrun at the time
when it was a subsidiary of the Company in August 2018. As disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 28 December 2018, after the making
of the capital injections by the other shareholder of Qingdao Xinrun (who
maintained its shareholding after the capital injection) and another third party
(who became a new shareholder of Qingdao Xinrun), the Group’s interest in
Qingdao Xinrun diluted from 80% to 45% and as a result Qingdao Xinrun
ceased to become a subsidiary and became an associate of the Company. In
connection with the capital injection transaction, the third party has agreed to
provide shareholder’s loan to Qingdao Xinrun in the requisite amount so that
the loans from all three shareholders of Qingdao Xinrun would be adjusted
to reflect their respective equity interest in Qingdao Xinrun after the capital
injection. Whilst the outstanding loan principal amount at 31 December 2018
remained at RMB587 million, the Group received certain repayment from
Qingdao Xinrun subsequent to the financial statement date and therefore the
remaining outstanding loan principal amount reduced to RMB369 million as
of the date of this report.

Contract assets

During the year, the Group adopted IFRS 15 and as a result, due from customers
on implementation contracts have been reclassified to contract assets since
1 January 2018. As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s contract assets
amounted to RMB494,662,000, the corresponding contract assets amounted to
RMB432,802,000 as at 31 December 2017. The increase in contract assets during
the year was mainly due to the growth of the Group’s software implementation
revenue.

Contract liabilities

During the year, the Group adopted IFRS 15 and as a result, advances from
customers on implementation contracts, advances from customers in relation
to Cloud services (previously presented as deferred income), advances from
customers in relation to sales of software products and other services (previously
presented in trade and other payables) have been reclassified to contract liabilities
since 1 January 2018. As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s contract liabilities
amounted to RMB846,755,000. The corresponding contract liabilities amounted
to RMB622,233,000 as at 31 December 2017. The increase in contract liabilities
during the year was mainly due to the growth of the Group’s revenue.
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Liquidity, financial and capital resources

As at 31 December 2018, the Group recorded a total cash and bank deposits of
RMB1,812,674,000 (31 December 2017: RMB2,154,749,000). As at 31 December
2018, the Group held wealth management products of RMB288,347,000 (31
December 2017: RMB446,871,000). A substantial part of the Group’s cash,
bank deposits and wealth management products were denominated in RMB
and the RMB-equivalent of the part denominated in foreign currencies was
RMB170,579,000 as at 31 December 2018 (31 December 2017: RMB401,772,000),
which were mainly denominated in US dollar and Hong Kong dollar (*HKD").

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s net current assets amounted to approximately
RMB1,292,946,000 (31 December 2017: RMB2,128,705,000). As at 31
December 2018, the current ratio being current assets over current liabilities
was approximately 1.69, representing a decrease as compared with 2.52 as at 31
December 2017, mainly due to the combined effects of the decrease in cash and
bank deposits, and the increase in current contract liabilities representing more
prepayments from customers as a result of the growth of the Group’s businesses.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s borrowings amounted to RMB301,125,000
(31 December 2017: RMB1,348,529,000), representing a year-on-year decrease of
77.7%, mainly due to the conversion of the convertible bonds of the Group during
the year. Gearing ratio is calculated as net debt (representing total borrowings
less cash and cash equivalents) over total capital (representing total equity plus
net debt). The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December 2017 was 7%. The Group
had a net cash of RMB1,151,723,000 as at 31 December 2018 (2017: net debt of
RMB291,854,000).

For the year ended 31 December 2018, net cash inflow generated from operating
activities was RMB905,515,000(2017: RMB823,690,000), representing an increase
of 9.9% year-on-year.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from short-term and long-term borrowings.
Except for the borrowings and bank deposits, fluctuation of market rates does not
have significant impact on the Group’s cash flows.

Borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate
risk which is partially offset by cash held at variable rates. There is no other written
policy on managing the interest rate risk and management will take appropriate
steps to minimize its impact on the income statement.

Reng MEREFARE
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S RBITHEFEEARE 8126740007 (=%
—tF+ZA=+—H8: AR¥2154749,000
) e RZBE-\F+ZA=+—0  F£&H
HEMEERERAR8,347,0007T (ZF—
tETZA=T—H : AR%446,871,0007T)
AEENRE ROFFRYEEEERAF
DANREEE  MHNEEHETIR T~
NETZA=+-BHNARBEERARE
170,579,000 (ZE—+F+ZA=+—H: A
R#401,772,0007T) - F2HRETRET (18
T EE.

RZB-NF+ZA=+—H FEENRD
BEFENRBARE292946,000T (Z2—+
FrZA=+—H: AR21287050007T)
RZZE-\E+_A=1T—H RPEELR
PEEHORPILEORIE B-B—+5F T+
ZRA=tT-RE2EMAL  TERARR
ERBIFEFTRSUREAREBEBIERIUR
EFBNRERBAFRARNLERNNGS
FEMH -

R-B-N\E+-A=1+—-80 KEEMHLE
FAAREIM 5,000 (ZF—tF+=A
=+—H: AR13485290007T) [t A
PT11% TERARFAREENAEIRE
FERAMY - BEABLRRFER (A
FRRERALEEY) RIALER (BN
wINFAE) FE - AEER T —+F =
A=+—BRMEERBLEARI% - AEER
ZE-N\F+ZR=+—-HEFREARE
1151723000 (ZE—+F: FEHBARE
291,854,0007T ) ©

BE_Z-N\F+A=1+—H1t  FEERX
BELEDEENFRS B ARKEI5515000
T(ZE—LFRH: ARKS23,690,0007T) -
FILE B 9.9% -

FIERR
AREONXERREEHERRER - BiE
REBRITEHAIN - THNERGHAZED
REREFELTEK -

WEHNEFENERSAKEAZRERE
MEREE - BORRFDNEFENREME
He ARERAHTEABRERERNEZR
b BRERBMARERMAEEHAEER
HmERNTE -

“T-\FER  SREBRBAKEERAT 21




22

For the year ended 31 December 2018, if interest rates on borrowings had been 1%
higher/lower with all other variables held constant, profit before tax for the year
would have been decreased/increased by RMB2,211,000 (2017: RMB2,309,000)
respectively, as a result of higher/lower interest expenses on borrowings at variable
rates.

Foreign exchange risk

The functional currency of the Company and its major subsidiaries is RMB. The
majority of the revenues of the Group are derived from operations in the PRC.

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates. Fluctuations in exchange rates between RMB and other currencies
in which the Group conducts business may affect its financial position and results
of operations. The foreign exchange risk facing the Group mainly comes from
movements in the USD/RMB and HKD/RMB exchange rates.

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

At 31 December 2018, if the RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the
HKD with all other variables held constant, profit before tax for the year would have
been higher/lower by RMB4,723,000 (2017: RMB1,833,000), mainly as a result
of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of HKD denominated cash at bank
and in hand.

At 31 December 2018, if the RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the
USD with all other variables held constant, profit before tax for the year would have
been higher/lower by RMB7,058,000 (2017: RMB37,698,000 lower/higher), mainly
as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of USD denominated
borrowing and cash at bank and in hand.
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Fund and working capital management

Our funds and liquidity management are centrally carried out by our fund management
department. Qur fund management department is generally responsible for overall
management and implementation of funds, including formulating the capital management
policy for our Group, guiding, coordinating and standardizing the fund management of
regional companies, making annual funding plans, reviewing and summarizing annual
capital budget, overseeing and assessing fund management of each regional company.
Our finance departments of regional companies are committed to implementing the
fund management policies formulated by our headquarters and are responsible for
making funding plans and executing capital operations at subsidiary level. We have also
adopted sophisticated fund management policies and implemented a set of rules and
guidelines on fund management, such as the Group Capital Internal Control Management
Measures ({5 [E & & A N1 & 18 97 %)) and Fund Settlement Of Branch
Offices Management Measures (D B ESAEF EIEPHE)), to enhance the
effectiveness and efficiency of fund management, thereby ensuring our financial security
and reducing cost of capital.

To manage our idle cash on hand, we purchase and redeem wealth management
products using them as our “cash pool” from which we could readily access cash as
needed and generate higher yield than bank deposits. The underlying financial assets
of the wealth management products in which we invested primarily consist of the low-
risk wealth management products issued by financial institutions. The amount of the
purchase will be determined based on our surplus funds. Our main treasury policy on
fund management is the Wealth Management Administration Solution (& & B &
FBHEE) ). We consistently comply with our treasury policy during the procedures of
purchasing the wealth management products and managing the relevant departments, as
well as in conducting business, accounting and filing.

We are committed to safeguarding overall financial security and maintaining a strong
cash position and a healthy debt profile with strong repayment ability. By adopting a
full, reasonable and professional assessment mechanism, preparing annual and monthly
funding plans, we have established disciplined fund management principal, which allows
us to efficiently manage market risks.

For budget management, we have established a monthly, quarterly and annual budget
management system, then seek approval from our chief financial officer. The capital
budget plans should be made based on the objective basis of the Group’s business
plans, project schedules, and contractual payment terms to ensure that the plan
accurately matches the actual business needs.
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Major properties

The following table sets forth the details of the major properties held by the Group as of

31 December 2018.

EEME

TRERTASBHEZ T \F+-A=+—HIt
FENENED

Fair value
of occupancy
portion
Property name Location Lease term HHHBS
MELE it i1k HBHR LREE
RMB'000
ARETT
Beijing Kingdee Software Valley No. 4 Fuxing Street, Mapo Town, Shunyi District, Beijing City, the PRC Long term 721,252
ITREGEHHE B R T IR R S S S (R I $=3 <t
Shanghai Kingdee Development No. 88 Chenhui Road, Zhangjiang High Technology Park, Pudong Long term 356,928
Center District, Shanghai City, the PRC K
FEeREHR FE EETERRI RN EE R B85
Shenzhen Kingdee Development No. 2, No.12 Technology Road South, High Technology Park, Nanshan Long term 666,758
Center District, Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province, the PRC R
sl g B E R AR L R R A R 1288 25%
Shenzhen W1-B Level 4, Building W1, High-tech Industrial Village, No. 1 Technology Long term 71,268
#YIW1-8 Road South, Nanshan District, Shenzhen City, Guangdong Province, the R
PRC
FEERE A MELRRMRE - B IENWEES
mE
1,816,206
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(2) Report on Business Sub-segments

U]

In digital economy era, Cloud computing has become the driving force of
enterprise, business innovation, and Cloud adoption by enterprises is the
inevitable path of digital transformation. According to the latest “Semi-Annual
China Public Cloud Services Tracker for the First Half of 2018” issued by IDC,
the premier international market intelligence service provider, the overall market
size of China’s public Cloud services industry (laaS, PaaS, SaaS) exceeded US$3
billion in the first half of 2018. According to the sales revenue report on the
Chinese enterprise-grade SaaS service providers for the first half of 2018, Kingdee
surpassed both its domestic and foreign peers and ranked the first in the market.
Moreover, Kingdee retained the largest market shares of enterprise-grade SaaS,
SaaS ERM and financial Cloud sectors in terms of revenue for two consecutive
years. In addition, during the reporting period, Kingdee became the first Chinese
enterprise SaaS Cloud service provider included in Gartner's “Market Guide for
Cloud ERP for Product-Centric Companies”.

In line with the trend of the Industrial Internet, Kingdee has been working together
with leading enterprises in different industries to further explore the reconstruction
of value chains of conglomerates, infrastructure and real estate, energy
resources, modern agriculture, medical health, fast-moving consumer goods and
manufacturing companies. It introduced platform products and gradually formed a
unique cooperation model and Industrial Internet digital solutions. Kingdee further
deepened the cultivation of benchmark customers and enhanced strategic customer
management.

Medium and Large-sized Enterprises Market

During the reporting period, Kingdee Software (China) Co., Ltd. (hereinafter
referred to as “Kingdee China”) consolidated its leadership in the Cloud
services and management software sector for fast-growing enterprises. It drove
this business development by accelerating the development of innovative
products for medium and large-sized enterprises, exploring new avenues for
market development, and promoting brand internationalization. During the
reporting period, project and consultancy-based business generated revenue of
RMB2,185,700,000, representing an increase of 24.9% year-on-year.

Stellar product “Kingdee Cloud Cosmic” was launched, and revenue of
“Kingdee Cloud Galaxy” increased by 53.8% year-on-year.

During the reporting period, Kingdee launched an epochal Cloud service platform
for large enterprises, Kingdee Cloud Cosmic, the first domestically-developed
enterprise-grade Cloud service platform in China based on Cloud-native
infrastructure. It uses distributed architecture to support Cloud-native infrastructure
such as micro-services, container services, DevOps. Kingdee created the unique
KDDM Cloud dynamic domain model to support personalized Cloud service,
and integrated social networking, artificial intelligence, Big Data and Blockchain
technologies to provide scenario-based platform services for enterprise
applications.
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Kingdee leveraged this low-code and high-performance platform to help Wens
Group build up a digital agriculture platform, to assist Huawei, PetroChina
International and other large enterprises with building innovative business
platforms. Within months of its launch, Kingdee received Cosmic contracts worth
RMB39.8 million. Within a short period and limited market coverage after the
product rollout, its revenue exceeded RMB7 million, and the number of contracted
large-enterprise customers has grown to 15, including Huawei, C&D, PetroChina
International, Xiwang Group, Wen’s Group and several other conglomerates. The
success of the Kingdee Cloud Cosmic debut is evident.

During the reporting period, revenue from “Kingdee Cloud Galaxy”, an innovative
digital Cloud service platform for fast-growing enterprises, reached RMB605
million, up more than 53.8% year-on-year, while the number of customers
reached 9,500. The retention rate of customers continued at a high level exceeding
95%. During the period, Kingdee Cloud Galaxy also strengthened cooperation
with Amazon AWS, Huawei Cloud, JD Cloud and other laaS service providers
to create an ecosystem for businesses including with Samsung, Han’s Laser,
NetEase and other well-known enterprises. During the reporting period, the
Group took advantage of opportunities arising from the government’s initiative
to promote Cloud adoption by enterprises and was named the authorized partner
of the “Steering Committee of China Cloud Service Alliance for Promoting
Cloud Adoption by One Million Enterprises” by the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology. Furthermore, Kingdee Cloud Galaxy was included in lists
of recommended service providers by 15 provincial governments and 22 municipal
governments. This reflects its selection as a “strategic partner of the Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology in 2018 for promoting one million enterprises
to adopt Cloud services” and its designation as “excellent supplier of Industrial
Internet platform technology”.

Excellent results were achieved for medium and large-sized
enterprises with EAS revenue increasing by 19.3% Y-o-Y.

During the reporting period, the business of EAS, the Kingdee China’s core
traditional solutions, continued to grow steadily, with software sales revenue
increasing by 19.3% vyear-on-year. Focusing on “dual-mode IT, smart
transformation”, Kingdee EAS utilized 8 growth engines, i.e., intelligent sharing,
global treasurer, tax management, s-HR, smart manufacturing, digital marketing,
digital sourcing and large enterprise hybrid Cloud, to enhance direct access to
customers and help them implement digital transformations.

During the reporting period, fruitful results were made in Kingdee EAS business
for medium and large-sized enterprises and the industry market. The Company
successfully signed contracts with medium and large-sized enterprises including
Tsingshan Holding Group, Jemincare, Weigao Holding, Guangdong Radio and
Television, PetroChina International, SIPG, SANY Group, Zhuhai Gree and
other model enterprises. Kingdee EAS will continue to deepen cooperation with
enterprises and expand Industrial Internet operations going ahead.
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Kingdee further cultivated channels, embraced Cloud transformations
and helped partners to improve their management and operating
efficiencies

During the reporting period, the Group continued to promote the transformation
of channel partners towards Cloud services. As a result, revenue of public Cloud
channel increased by nearly 200% and the number of public Cloud distribution
customers exceeded 2000. The number of public Cloud billing partners reached
445, up 83% year-on-year.

Kingdee took advantage of the Belt and Road Initiative to accelerate
globalization of Cloud businesses

Building on Hong Kong’s role as an international financial center and traditional
strengths in cross-border-commerce, the Group took advantage of opportunities
provided by the “Belt and Road Initiative” to actively develop its Asia Pacific
market, marking an important milestone for the planning and development of
overseas businesses. In Hong Kong, the Group provided solutions to a number
of local Chinese-owned financial institutions, including ABC International, CMB
International, CEB International, Haitong International. It also signed agreements
with a number of famous customers, including Bauhaus, MOISELLE, PanAsialum
Holdings, Honeymoon Dessert and SPIC International Finance (Hong Kong)
Company Limited.

Micro and Small-sized Enterprises Market

During the reporting period, the Group’s subsidiary Kingdee Deeking Cloud
Computing Co., Ltd. (“Kingdee Deeking”) undertook the upgrading of the Cloud
services and management software for micro and small-sized enterprises and
explored further integration of Cloud ecosystems. In addition, it enriched products’
attribute dimension, strengthened brand competitiveness and helped micro and
small-sized enterprises to upgrade their businesses through smart technology.
During the reporting period, the product-based business realised a revenue of
RMB525,355,000, representing a year-on-year increase of 6.6%.

“Kingdee Jingdou Cloud” actively explored product upgrades and
revenue grew by 104.9% Y-0-Y

In 2018, “Kingdee Jingdou Cloud” achieved revenue growth of 104.9%. In
response to customer needs, it implemented a product terminal diversification
strategy and achieved preliminary results. It successively launched various WeChat
mini-programs such as Cloud Accounting, Cloud Housekeeper and Invoicing. The
installation volume of “Kingdee Jingdou Cloud” APP was over 100,000 in one year,
with more than 36,000 companies using the APP to handle their businesses every
month. Arising from new product R&D, newly-launched integrated retail solutions
were widely praised by the market. “Kingdee Jingdou Cloud” has successively
established strategic partnerships with Alibaba, China Mobile, China UnionPay and
other companies and jointly launched products that were warmly welcomed by the
market.
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Micro and small-sized enterprises management software enabled
one-stop management services, with revenue from KIS business
growing steadily

During the reporting period, the micro and small-sized enterprises management
software business continued to maintain steady growth, with its revenue increasing
by 5.7% year-on-year. Kingdee KIS helped large, small and micro-sized enterprises
to achieve one-stop management of their finance, supply chain and new retail
operation. At the same time, it helped enterprise customers connect with upstream
and downstream suppliers, and link up with financial institutions for financing
solutions, thereby helping them to reduce costs and increase efficiency. In order
to help small and micro-sized enterprises adopt Cloud services, KIS explored
ways to use its products on the Cloud environment so that enterprises could use
KIS software to get online at any time, which addresses a core need of small and
micro-sized enterprises beyond low expenditures, easy use, low maintenance and
data security.

Orders processed by Guanyi Cloud on the Double Eleven Shopping
Festival accounted for nearly 20% of the entire network, with “zero
misorder, zero undelivered order.”

During the reporting period, the Group’s subsidiary Shanghai Guanyi Cloud
Computing Software Co., Ltd. (“Kingdee Guanyi Cloud”) continued to promote
further integration with Kingdee’s products and to ensure user experiences.
Furthermore, it deepened cooperation with other platforms and provided
professional and efficient E-commerce Cloud services for various famous
enterprises such as Foxconn, CEEC, Yili and Michelin. Smart E-commerce and
warehousing solutions were offered to a number of leading E-commerce enterprises
such as Langsha Group, OPPLE, Beingmate and DEEJ to help them solve
E-commerce management problems. The total order volume handled by the system
for the year exceeded 800 million and the transaction flow was more than RMB140
billion, representing an increase of 27.5% and 19.2%, respectively. During the
Double Eleven Shopping Festival in 2018, “Kingdee Guanyi Cloud” processed
orders worth a total of RMB54.9 billion, accounting for 17.4% of the entire
network; the order volume processed by it was 267 million of the entire network,
accounting for 19.7% of the market. Despite the overwhelming order volumes, the
system remained efficient and stable with zero misorder and a zero undelivered
order experience. It enabled E-commerce operators to carry out personalized
marketing efforts. During the reporting period, Kingdee Guanyi Cloud’s Cloud-ERP
won the “Shanghai High-tech Achievement Transformation Project Certification”.
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(IV) Cloud-Hub drove the intelligent collaboration of businesses for

(V)

medium and large-sized enterprises with its market share ranked the
first for three consecutive years.

During the reporting period, the Group’s associate Shenzhen Cloud-Hub Network
Co., Ltd. (“Cloud-Hub”) served as the “Cloud for intelligent collaboration”,
undertaking important tasks such as internal collaboration, external connectivity
and mobile portal services. Due to its synergies with other Kingdee products, it
helped customers to connect with their upstream and downstream value chains,
promoted the reconstruction of their industrial value chains and accelerated the
development of Industrial Internet. Currently, there are over 7,000 large scale
enterprises subscribed to Cloud-Hub services. During the reporting period, Cloud-
Hub also signed contracts with various large business units, including Anta,
Hunan Salt Industry, the Shenzhen Baoan SASAC, Wens Group, and Guangzhou
Liby Enterprise Group, receiving enthusiastic response from them. According to
IDC, Cloud-Hub has gained the largest market share for large and medium-sized
enterprises for three consecutive years. Looking ahead, Cloud-Hub will be deeply
integrated with Kingdee Cloud Cosmic and will continue to provide comprehensive
solutions for large scale enterprises.

Kingdee Tianyan helped the government deliver its services via a
Cloud environment, as the government stepped up efforts to promote
its “Digital China” policy

During the reporting period, the Group’s subsidiary Shenzhen Kingdee Tianyan
Middleware Co., Ltd. (“Kingdee Tianyan”) undertook the 2018 National Basic
Software Platform Project for Core Electric Devises and led the development of
five national Cloud computing technology standards, including those for the
Cloud Computing Platform as a Service (PaaS) Reference Architecture and the
Information Technology Cloud Computing Platform as a Service (PaaS) Application
Management Requirements. Supported by R&D, Kingdee launched the “Tianyan
Cloud” to capture opportunities arising from the government's vigorous efforts to
promote its “Digital China” policy. This product helps the government to provide
integrated E-government services via a Cloud environment, helping the government
to achieve digital transformation and driving the modernization of the national
governance system and governance capabilities. During the period, Kingdee
Tianyan successfully signed agreements with various customers, including the
Central Commission for Discipline Inspection, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the
Ministry of Science and Technology, the National Meteorological Administration,
the Ministry of Transport, the Fujian Provincial Bureau of Industry and Commerce,
the Hebei Provincial Bureau of Statistics, the Hunan Tobacco Company and the
Shenzhen Municipal Justice Bureau.
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(V1) Automotive Cloud services were further innovated and upgraded,

driving the digital transformation of Cargeer’s service system

During the reporting period, the Group’s associate Kingdee Automotive Network
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Cargeer”) actively pursued product innovation for
automotive Cloud services and optimized user experiences. It also helped car
dealers establish a digital service system based on customer operations. At the
same time, it continued to consolidate its position in the informatization market
of automobile dealers, providing products to more than 4,000 4S (sale, spare
parts, service, survey) stores and further promoted mobile applications. During
the reporting period, the number of customers using its automotive Cloud service
products grew 170.5% year-on-year, with revenue increasing by 101.9% when
compared with last year. Cargeer was highly regarded by the market and it will
continue to help auto dealers and service enterprises accelerate their digital
transformations through Cloud adoption.

(VIl) Financial Service Cloud “Kingdee Effective Loan” was officially

launched

During the reporting period, the Group’s subsidiary Shenzhen Kingdee Internet
Financial Services Co., Ltd. actively responded to the government’s efforts to “serve
the physical economy through financial services” and promote the “development
of microfinance”. It focused on developing the data financial service “Kingdee
Effective Loan”, which provides financial institutions with information regarding
small and micro-sized enterprise financing needs. Different from other loan
matching services, “Kingdee Effective Loan” is authorized by customers to provide
data reports based on Jinwei Cloud’s Big Data technology, hence greatly improving
the efficiency of credit reporting to financial institutions and thereby reducing the
financing costs of small and micro-sized enterprises.

(Vi) Continuing Innovation in Property Cloud to Help Top 100 Enterprises to

30

Implement Digital Transformation.

During the reporting period, the Group’s subsidiary Kingdee My Wojia Cloud
Network Technology Co., Ltd. adhered to its mission to help property enterprises
unleash their asset values, and enhance community life. It provided all-round
Cloud services to property enterprises and owners, such as Cloud charging, Cloud
leasing, Cloud customer services, Cloud property, quality management, intelligent
patrol and living services platform, thereby helping property enterprises achieve
digital transformations, improve service efficiency and quality, and enhance
property owner use experiences. By integrating the resources of their various
businesses, it helped property service enterprises to provide more value-added
services and to innovate and expand their operations. Nearly 1,000 new projects
were added, which spread across 97 cities in China. It signed contracts with
top 100 enterprises from different sectors, including Shum Yip Holdings,
Juhe Property and Financial Street Holdings. The services they offered ranged
from residential properties, commercial properties, industrial properties, hotel
apartments, innovative industrial parks, and cultural and creative communities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EE B RED T

(IX) A number of strategic investments were made in tandem with each

@)

(4)

other, accelerating the incubation of the Group’s business ecosystem

During the reporting period, in view of the government’s favourable policies to
boost “enterprise Cloud adoption”, the Group leveraged its deep insights into
Chinese enterprise management and their digital transformations to participate in a
number of investments in the Cloud sector, thereby further consolidating its leading
position in enterprise Cloud services market and laying a solid foundation for the
Group’s sustainable development. In 2018, the Group made strategic investments
in “FXiaoKe”, “Xinren Xinshi”, jointly established “Xinnong Hulian” with Wens
Group, and invested in CRRC’S subsidiary “GuoChuang Track Company”. Besides,
it became a cornerstone investor of Asialnfo Technologies Limited under the
latter’s initial public offering and raised its investment in Huacai Accounting.
The Company continued to incubate its business ecosystem, with Kingdee Auto
Network receiving A-round financing from Souche Automotive Services Co., Ltd.
These strategic investments are significant in strengthening Kingdee's leading
position in the Cloud service market, facilitating the construction of the Kingdee
Cloud service ecosystem, and accelerating Kingdee’s transformation towards Cloud
Services.

Organization and talent retention

During the reporting period, the Group’s s workforce reached 7,777. It adhered
to the core values of “acting with conscience, integrity and righteousness” and
continued to implement the human resources strategy of “motivating, introducing
and nurturing talents”. Moreover, it strengthened organizational capabilities to
support the implementation of Cloud strategy and recruited more high-caliber
talents for Cloud services. The identification and development of high-potential
talents was listed as a top priority for the management during the year. The Group
increased incentives for deep-link users and increased the selection of semi-annual
micro-innovation at the group level, which effectively supported the Group’s
innovation and implementation of its Cloud strategy. In addition, it provided greater
incentives to talents by issuing restricted shares of the Company. Through the
entrepreneurship and resources sharing programs, the Group forged itself into an
organization of common destiny for its staff rather than an organization of common
interests.

Social responsibility

During the reporting period, Kingdee continued to explore the best management
model for Chinese companies. Upgraded from “China Management Model
Excellence Award”, the “China Management Model 50+ Forum” is committed to
promoting the progress of enterprise management in China. It also continued
concerted efforts to support charity and public welfare activities and projects, and
“giving back” the advantages of Cloud services to society. The Group continued to
donate one-thousandth of revenue from Kingdee Cloud services to the “Teach for
China” public welfare project. In addition, it utilized its technological and resource
strengths in Cloud services to promote basic education and promote educational
balance for areas deprived of educational resources.
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32

Future outlook

The past decade was the age of consumer Internet, and the next 10 years will usher
in the era of Industrial Internet. Digitalization of traditional industries will create
further new opportunities. Building on its successful partnership with 6.8 million
customers, Kingdee will accelerate its transformation toward Cloud services, reach
out to our customers to empower their further successes, and assist customers
refine their value chains in a shared effort to create a community of common
destiny for all enterprises. In doing so, Kingdee will strive as always to be the most
trustworthy enterprise Cloud service platform and to promote the development of
the industrial Internet.
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DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

XU Shao Chun (#2 %), aged 56, founder of the Group, chief executive officer
and Chairman of the Board. Mr. XU has been awarded the Government Special Expert
Allowance by the State Council. Mr. XU graduated from Southeast University in
Computer Science and obtained Master of Accounting from Institute of Ministry of
Finance and the Executive Master of Business Administration (EMBA) from China Europe
International Business School. At present, Mr. XU is a member of the Ninth Central
Committee of China Democratic National Construction Association, Director of China
Siyuan Foundation for Poverty Alleviation, Vice President of China Software Industry
Association and a member of the Accounting and Information Technology Commission of
the Ministry of Finance. By virtue of the profound understanding of the corporate strategy
and operation management, the forward-looking technology sensitivity and keen insight
on the development trend of the global software industry, Mr. XU has been actively
promoting the objective of “Enable the Chinese management model to rise in the world”,
and is committed to leading the Group to become the world leading service provider
of management and IT integrated solutions. Owing to his outstanding achievements
in implementation of this undertaking, Mr. XU was awarded frequently. He has been
awarded “World Indigenous Entrepreneur Award of the United Nations”, “10 Outstanding
Youths of China’s Software”, “10 Qutstanding Entrepreneur Award”, “Outstanding Leader
of China’s Information Industry”, “30 Effective People who Contributed to the Success of
Shenzhen’s 3 Decades of Reform and Opening” and “Shenzhen Science and Technology
Innovation Mayor's Award”.

LIN Bo (#k %), aged 46, an executive Director. Mr. LIN obtained a bachelor’s degree of
Computer Science from University of Xiamen. He is currently the Chief Financial Officer
of the Company. After joining the Company in 1997, Mr. LIN has served as the General
Manager of the Company in Fujian Province Region, the General Manager of Operation
Management Department and the Director of Strategic Development Department of the
Group. Mr. LIN has extensive experience in strategic planning, marketing management
and financial management.

Non-executive Directors

DONG Ming Zhu (ZEBA®k), aged 64, a non-executive Director. Ms. DONG obtained a
Master Degree of Business Administration from Zhongnan University of Economics and
Law. She is now the chairman of the board (“COB") of Zhuhai Gree Group Co. Ltd., the
COB and President of Gree Electric Appliances, Inc. of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (the subsidiary
of Zhuhai Gree Group Corp.) Ms. DONG had been awarded the “National May Day
Labor Prize”, and had been elected as a Member of the 10th and 11th National People’s
Congress, a Member of the Standing Committee of the China National Democratic
Construction Association and a Member of the 10th Executive Committee of All-China
Women's Federation. Ms. DONG has solid experience in marketing and management
of household appliances, and the Regional Sales Model that she developed has been
commended as an “Excellent Achievement of Modernizing Enterprises’ Management of
Guangdong Province”. Ms. DONG has been dedicated to creating local Chinese brands
and was granted the “Innovation Award of CCTV's China’s Economic Figures of the Year
2010".
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SHEN Yuan Ching (EBJTEE), aged 54, a non-executive Director. Mr. SHEN obtained
a Master's Degree in Computer Science from the University of California, Santa Barbara.
Mr. SHEN is the president of JD Cloud. Mr. SHEN formerly held various senior positions
at Microsoft, including chairman of the Microsoft Asia-Pacific Technology Company,
CO0 of the Microsoft Asia-Pacific R&D Group and general manager of Microsoft
Cloud and Enterprise China. Mr. SHEN had been the independent director of Insigma
Technology Co., and the non-executive director of Inspur International Limited.

Independent non-executive Directors

Gary Clark Biddle (B B ), aged 67, an independent non-executive Director.
Mr. Biddle is the Accounting Chair and PCCW Chair Professor at the University of
Hong Kong. He received his MBA and PhD degrees at University of Chicago and has
served as professor at University of Chicago, University of Washington and Dean of
the Faculty of Business and Economics at the University of Hong Kong and Associate
Dean of the School of Business and Management of Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology, where he was a member of the Council, Court, Senate and held the
title of Synergis-Geoffrey Yeh Chair Professor. He has served or is serving as visiting
professor at leading business schools globally, including Columbia University Business
School (USA), London Business School (UK), IMD (Switzerland) and CEIBS (China).
Mr. Biddle is a member of the American Accounting Association, American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong Business and Professionals Federation, Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong Institute of Directors and
he is the past President and co-founding Council Member of the Hong Kong Academic
Accounting Association. He is a leading expert in financial accounting, financial markets,
valuation, value creation, corporate management and performance metrics, including
EVAR. Mr. Biddle is also an independent non-executive director of Shui On Land Limited
(#272), a company listed on the Stock Exchange and a remuneration committee member
at closely-held Chinachem Group.
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CAO Yang Feng (B {9 8%), aged 46, an independent non-executive Director. Mr. CAQ
is the director of Institute of Global Entrepreneurship & Innovation (Hong Kong) and the
management practice Professor of Guanghua School of Management, Peking University.
Mr. CAQ obtained a Doctoral degree in International Entrepreneurship and Strategic
Management from Copenhagen Business School, obtained a Doctoral degree in Human
Resource Management from Renmin University of China. Mr. CAO previously engaged
postdoctoral research in Department of Strategic Management from Guanghua School of
Management, Peking University. Mr. CAQ is the member of Academy of Management, the
member of The Academy of International Business and the member of The International
Association for Chinese Management Research, and Mr. CAO has previously provided
strategy counseling services and training services for some large enterprises. Mr. CAQO
has published many enterprise management articles in the academic field with profound
insight view and won a number of awards.

LIU Chia Yung (BI3R3%E), aged 60, an independent non-executive Director. Mr. LIU
obtained a Master Degree of Business Administration from University of Missouri in the
United States. Mr. LIU joined Trend Micro in 2002, and served as the president of the
Asia Pacific region and then the general manager of global services business group,
being responsible for the overall business operation in Asia Pacific region, R&D and
Trend Micro’s global enterprises cyber security outsourcing service planning. Mr. LIU
joined Green and Associates in 2007 and has served as the general manager, focusing on
strategic human resources consulting since then. Mr. LIU has rich experience in Hi-Tech
marketing, business strategy planning and global corporation management. Mr. LIU
used to act as adjunct professors at Soochow University in Taiwan and Peter F. Drucker
Academy in Beijing.

COMPANY SECRETARY

CHOW Chan Lum (8B#&#k), aged 67, has been a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Scotland since 1979 and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. CHOW is the precedent partner of Wong Brothers &
Co, Certified Public Accountants, and a member of the Foreign Experts Consultative
Committee on China Independent Auditing Standards of the PRC Ministry of Finance.
Mr. CHOW is currently an independent non-executive director of China Electronics
Huada Technology Company Limited (#85) and Maoye International Holdings Limited
(#848), and was an independent non-executive director of China Aerospace International
Holdings Limited (#31) from 2000 to 2012 and Pak Tak International Limited (#2668)
from 2002 to 2014, all of them are companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

XU Shao Chun (&2 %), Chief Executive Officer of the Company — see the paragraph
under “Executive Directors” above.

LIN Bo (#Fi%), Chief Financial Officer of the Company — see the paragraph under
“Executive Directors” above.

SUN Yan Fei (FRHEFE), aged 45, President of Kingdee China. Mr. SUN is mainly
in charge of the management software business in the Company. Mr. SUN graduated
from Macao University of Science and Technology and gained MBA degree of General
Business Management. After joining the Company in 1997, Mr. SUN has been appointed
as General Manager of Nanjing Branch and Southern District of China and played an
important role in the Company’s marketing and sales. Mr. SUN is committed to using
information technology to promote the establishment of modern enterprise management
system. He has a wealth of experience in marketing and management in the field of
Chinese business management software.

LI Guang Xue (ZEFBR), aged 51, President of Kingdee Deeking. He is mainly responsible
for the Company’s cloud services for micro and small-sized enterprises business. Mr. LI
graduated from Ocean University of China. He joined the Group in 1995. He has engaged in
the research and development management, service management, marketing management,
human resources and information management, and has held important positions.

ZHAGN Yong (E55), aged 44, Senior Vice President of Kingdee China. Mr. ZHANG
is in charge of the Company’s business operation and management in Eastern Region
of China. Mr. ZHANG graduated from China Europe International Business School. After
joining the Company in 1995, Mr. ZHANG has been appointed as the General Manager
of Shanghai Branch and Eastern Region of China and played an important role in the
Company’s marketing and sales. He has extensive experience in marketing, sales and
team work management.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EFERE

The Directors are pleased to present to the shareholders their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018.

Principal Activities and Geographical Analysis of Operations

Shares of the Company (www.kingdee.com) are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (Stock Code: 0268) and the
Company is headquartered in Shenzhen, China. Adhering to the core values of “acting in
all conscience, with integrity and righteousness”, the Company is committed to serving
enterprises and strives to provide them with the most trustworthy services platform.
With the continuous exploration of China’s Enterprise Cloud services market, Kingdee
has commanded the largest share in the ERP sector for fast-growing enterprises for 14
consecutive years, and have grasped the biggest share in enterprise-grade SaaS Cloud
services industry for 2 consecutive years. Kingdee's Cloud services and products are
highly recognised in the market. They include Kingdee Cloud — Cosmic (Cloud platform
and Cloud management services for large-sized enterprises), Kingdee Cloud-Galaxy
(growth-type enterprises digital innovation cloud services platform), Kingdee Jingdou
Cloud (one-stop Cloud services platform for micro and small-sized enterprises), Cloud-
Hub (mobile office platform), Guanyi Cloud (Cloud services for E-commerce operators)
and Cargeer (Cloud platform for automotive distribution industry). With its strengths in
management software and Cloud services, Kingdee provides services and products to
more than 6.8 million enterprises, government agencies and other organizations across
the globe.

The revenue and profit attributable to the owners of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2018 were approximately RMB2,808,658,000 and RMB412,106,000,
respectively. Of such revenue, approximately 69.8% was derived from the sales of ERP
business and approximately 30.2% was derived from the Cloud services business. For
details, please refer to the consolidated income statement set out on page 84.

The Group has established three software parks which are located in Shenzhen, Shanghai
and Beijing, respectively. As at 31 December 2018, the Group had nearly 50 branches
mainly engaging in marketing and service and had approximately over 2000 cooperation
partners providing consultation, technical support, implementation services and
distribution of its products and after-sale services to the customers of the Group.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”), including (i)
a discussion of the principal business risks and uncertainties facing the Group; (ii)
an indication of likely future developments of the Group’s business; (iii) key financial
performance indicators of the development, performance and position of the Group’s
business; and (iv) a discussion on the Group’s environmental policies and performance
and the Group’s compliance with the laws and regulations having significant impact
on the Group’s business are provided in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”
sections, respectively on pages 10 to 32 of this annual report and Note 3 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Results and Final Dividends

The performance for the year ended 31 December 2018 is set out in the consolidated
income statement on page 84. The Board recommended the declaration of a final
dividend of RMB1.00 cent (equivalent to approximately HKD1.14 cents) per share for
the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: RMB1.30 cents). Subject to the approval of
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 15 May 2019
(the "AGM"), the final dividend is expected to be paid on or around 25 June 2019 to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on 20
May 2019.

Dividend Policy

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution ratio. The
declaration of future dividend will be subject to the Directors’ decision and will
depend on, among other things, the earnings, financial condition, cash requirements
and availability, and any other factors that the Directors may consider relevant. Any
declaration and payment as well as the amount of the dividends will be subject to any
restrictions under the applicable laws and the Company’s constitutional documents. The
historical dividend distribution record of the Group should not be used as a reference or
basis to determine the level of dividends that may be declared or paid by the Group in
future.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 December 2018, the retained earnings of the Company attributable to
owners of the Company were approximately RMB42,340,000 (2017: approximately
RMB70,236,000).

Closures of Register

The register of members of the Company will be closed from (i) Friday, 10 May 2019
to Wednesday, 15 May 2019 (both days inclusive) and (i) Tuesday, 21 May 2019 to
Thursday, 23 May 2019 (both days inclusive), during which periods no transfer of shares
will be registered. In order to be qualified to (i) attend, participate in and vote at the AGM
and (ii) receive the final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2018, respectively, all
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Room 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on (i) Thursday, 9 May 2019 and (ii)
Monday, 20 May 2019, respectively.
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Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

Details of bank loans and other borrowings for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set
out in Note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018
are set out in the statement of changes in equity on page 86 of the annual report.

Donations

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group made charitable and other
donations amounted to approximately RMB 4,000,000.

Five-Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on page 6 of the annual report.

Fixed Assets

Details of movements in the fixed assets of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018 are set out in Note 7 to the financial statements.

Interests of the Directors in Contracts

Save as disclosed under the heading “Continuing Connected Transactions" and "Related
Party Transactions” in this report, no Director or an entity connected with a Director has
or had a material interest in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
the Group's business for the year ended 31 December 2018 in which the Group was a

party.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions regarding pre-emptive rights under the laws of Cayman Islands
or the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”), which would
oblige the Company to issue new shares to its existing shareholders in proportion to
their existing shareholdings.
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Principal properties
Details of the principal properties held for development and/or sale and for investment
purposes are set out on page 24 of the annual report.

Tax Relief

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to its shareholders by
reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.

Share Capital and Options
e  Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2018 are set out in Note 19 to the financial statements. Shares were
issued during the year as a result of the conversion of the convertible notes and
upon the exercise of share options. Details about the issue of shares are also set
out in Note 19 to the financial statements

e  Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company purchased 34,579,000
shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange for an aggregate consideration of
approximately HKD253,375,000 pursuant to the Company’s Share Award Scheme
(as defined below) as adopted by the Company on 4 December 2015.

Save for the disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries, had
repurchased, sold or redeemed any of its listed securities.

Share Option Schemes

The share option schemes were adopted by the Company to encourage and reward the
contribution of eligible persons to the Company. Eligible persons include employees,
directors, partners, consultants, suppliers and customers of the Group.

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 30 January 2001 (the “2001
Scheme”) and the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 26 April 2002 (the
2002 Scheme”) were terminated by the Company on 30 June 2005. As at 31 December
2018, there was no share option granted under the 2001 Scheme or the 2002 Scheme
that was outstanding.
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Pursuant to the share option scheme adopted by the Company on 11 July 2005 (the
“2005 Scheme”) and the adjustment made due to the bonus issue in 2011, an aggregate
of 529,501,600 share options were granted, of which 291,841,018 share options were
exercised and 161,416,807 share options lapsed since its adoption. During the year
ended 31 December 2018, 42,369,425 share options were exercised and 1,308,500
share options lapsed and as at 31 December 2018, 76,243,775 share options remained
outstanding.

At the annual general meeting of the Company convened on 8 May 2015, the Company
terminated the 2005 Scheme and adopted a new share option scheme (the “2015
Scheme”) with a validity period of ten years. The remaining life of the 2015 Scheme
was around 6 years as at the date of this report. As at 31 December 2018, the Company
had granted 40,000,000 share options since its adoption pursuant to the 2015 Scheme.
As at 31 December 2018, 5,187,500 shares options were exercised, 33,712,500 share
options remained outstanding, and 1,100,000 share options lapsed since its adoption.
According to the scheme mandate limit of the 2015 Scheme, the Company may further
grant 219,264,096 share options (being 259,264,096 share options less the 40,000,000
share options granted), representing approximately 6.64% of the total number of issued
shares of the Company as at the date of this report.

The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise of the share options granted
under the 2015 Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company (including
exercised and outstanding share options) to each eligible participant in any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of grant. Any
further grant of share options in excess of such 1% limit shall be subject to the issue of
a circular by the Company and the shareholders’ approval of the Company at a general
meeting.

The grant of share options to a director, chief executive or substantial shareholder,
or to any of their respective associates, is subject to the approval in advance by
the independent non-executive Directors, excluding the independent non-executive
Director(s) who is/are the grantee(s) of the share options. In addition, the grant of
any share option to a substantial shareholder of the Company or an independent
non-executive Director, or to any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of
the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of grant and with an aggregate value
(based on the closing price of the shares of the Company as at the date of grant) in
excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, is subject to the issue of a circular
by the Company and the shareholders’ approval of the Company in advance at a general
meeting. The grantee, his associates and all core connected persons of the Company
must abstain from voting at such general meeting. The granted options can be exercised
during its respective validity period under the respective share option schemes.
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The exercise price of the share options is determined by the Board, but may not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a trading
day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the shares of the Company.

Details of the grant, exercise and lapse of the share options pursuant to the 2005 Scheme
and the 2015 Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in Note 22 to
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the financial statements and are included in the table as follows: BARBEREF BN A FRANAEREMT2R
RINT&RE
Options Options Options Options Options
Options held granted exercised cancelled lapsed held at
at 31 December during the during the during the during the 31 December
2017 reporting period  reporting period  reporting period  reporting period 2018
AZE-tE HEMR BEHR HEMR BEEN  RIB-0\E
+ZA=+-A e fTER H#E  kNHBE® +ZA=1-H
Name or category of participants M &HSHERR ZIRERE kEnA fRiEnA EkREnE BE  CHREXE
Directors s
Xu Shao Chun (1) % (i) 2,800,000 - 2,800,000 - - 0
Oriental Gold Limited (1) Oriental Gold Limited (Fii%1) 9,900,000 - 4.900,000 - - 5,000,000
LinBo R 1,025,000 - 325,000 - - 700,000
Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddle 700,000 - 650,000 - - 50,000
Wu Cheng (resigned on 13 March 2018) 2% (W=F—)\F
=At=REL) 300,000 - 100,000 - - 200,000
Dong Ming Zhu 05 400,000 - - - - 400,000
Liu Chia Yung A5 200,000 - - - - 200,000
(ther employees in aggregate EftEEEY 143,496,700 - 38,781,925 - 1,308,500 103,406,275
Total ait 158,621,700 - 47556925 - 1.308,500 109,956,275
Note: st

(1) Mr. Xu Shao Chun, an executive Director, the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, holds 100% interests in Easy Key Holdings Limited, which in turn
holds 100% interests in Oriental Gold Limited.

Share Award Scheme

The share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) was adopted by the Company on 4
December 2015 to provide incentives and reward the contributions of certain employees
and directors of the Group. The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing from the adoption date. For details of the Share Award
Scheme, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 18 December 2015.
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company had granted 30,780,000 award
shares pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, of which a total of 6,912,500 awarded
shares granted to the directors were still outstanding, details of which are as follows:

WEE-E-\ET-A=+-AILEE  RERD
S S BIIR B 20 TR0 000 BB - AAAE
£ 075 R R A IR0 269125008 - B BIEEI
mr

As at 31 Granted during Vested during As at 31

December 2017 the reporting period the reporting period December 2018

RIZS—tF RZE-N\FE

Name of Director EEMRE +ZA=+—-H BEHANEH gEHANEE +-R=1+—AH

Xu Shao Chun = 4,000,000 2,000,000 1,250,000 4,750,000

Lin Bo W 1,575,000 1,200,000 612,500 2,162,500
Directors EE

The composition of the Board for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 and up to
the date of this report was as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lin Bo (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Dong Ming Zhu
Mr. Shen Yuan Ching (appointed on 13 March 2018)
Mr. Zhang Chen (resigned on 13 March 2018)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Gary Clark Biddle

Mr. Liu Chia Yung

Mr. Cao Yang Feng (appointed on 13 March 2018)
Mr. Wu Cheng (resigned on 13 March 2018)

According to the Articles of Association, each Director shall retire by rotation at least
once every three years and all the retiring Directors are eligible for re-election at the
AGM in that year. At the AGM, three Directors, namely Mr. Xu Shao Chun, Ms. Dong
Ming Zhu and Mr. Cao Yang Feng shall be retired and be eligible for re-glection.
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None of the Directors who shall be retired and proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not terminable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

The Company received a written confirmation from each independent non-executive
Director of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Company considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests or Short Positions in the
Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SF0")),
which will be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or which will be required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which will be required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:
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Long positions/short positions in shares/underlying shares of the Company FATFHE KR HRBRRZES

Number of shares/
underlying shares

Percentage of
issued share

(where appropriate)  Types of interests capital (approximate)
Bin /MR hEERTRSE
Name of Directors EENE BB (mER) #HaKE #HESk
Xu Shao Chun rbE 775,198,624(L)  Interests of controlled corporation (Note 1)
RER DR R (FiEE)
4,750,000(L)  Beneficiary of a trust (Note 2)
EREX@A (MiE2)
16,004,942(L)  Beneficial owner
ERARA
Aggregate: A 795,953,566 24.12%
Lin Bo R 1,495,609(L)  Beneficial owner (Note 3)
EREAA (33)
2,162,500(L)  Beneficiary of a trust (Note 4)
Eaa S INCIEL)
Aggregate: Bt 3,658,109 0.11%
Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddle 1,180,000(L)  Beneficial owner (Note 3) 0.04%
EnBBA (HE3)
Dong Ming Zhu =M% 400,000(L) ~ Share option (Note 3) 0.01%
BEARHE (PEE3)
Liu Chia Yung 2x%E 200,000(L)  Share option (Note 3) 0.01%
AR E (PiEE3)
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Notes:

The percentage of the total issued shares was calculated by the number of the aforesaid interests
or short positions divided by the total number of issued shares as at 31 December 2018 of
3,300,185,396.

1. Of the 775,198,624 shares, 419,312,000 shares (of which 5,000,000 were share options)
were held through Oriental Gold Limited and 355,886,624 shares were held through Billion
Ocean Limited. Easy Key Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Xu Shao Chun, which
wholly owns Oriental Gold Limited and Billion Ocean Limited. Therefore, Mr. Xu Shao Chun
is deemed to be interested in those 775,198,624 shares.

2. The 4,750,000 shares are the awarded shares granted to Mr. Xu Shao Chun and held by the
trustee to the Share Award Scheme — Bank of Communications Trustee Limited.

3. Details of the share options and the award shares are set out in the section headed “Share
Option Schemes” of this report.

4. The 2,162,500 shares are the awarded shares granted to Mr. Lin Bo and held by the trustee to
the Share Award Scheme — Bank of Communications Trustee Limited.

5. (L) denotes long position and (S) denotes short position.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company had any interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFQ), which will be required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO or which
will be required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which will be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Outstanding Share Options” above, none of the
Directors or their respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) was granted
by the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, any rights or options to acquire shares or
debentures in the Company during the year ended 31 December 2018.

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 31 December 2018, as far as the Directors were aware, the following persons (other
than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had interests and short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO and required to be recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

46 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited  Annual Report 2018

EEARAE B TRRANED L HRBEAAEEFAE
HEEDRBARATR_E-\F+_A=+—AMEH
7487 %1 B 3,300,185, 396 FT =T

1. 11£775,198,6248% AR 17 R - 419,312,0008% A% 15 (K =
5,000,000/ % B8 A% %) ehOriental Gold Limited#s 7 -
355,886,624 A% 17 #aBillion Ocean Limited3% 74 © Easy Key
Holdings Limitedpa iR L B L E2EHE - H2EER
Oriental Gold Limited %Billion Ocean Limited » &5 %& 5%
AR SRR RZTT5,198 624 R B A7 HE A 425 o

2. R TIIDRENEE] - B TPRDEREZ4750,000
KRB B EEREBRITETERRARE

3 ZBRENZBEROOFEANARS [BRES

EK

4 IR [0 SR B ) R FARR 5 4 22,162, 5008 £
BROBEEREARITERERATRE -

5 (WERREFE - MOARTKR

BABRARBENARZN  BE-2-\F+-A=
TRt ARABEEEREHTRARRERE
EH LR ROIEXVEE T RANE A AR KB
RARARBERA (REEF LA IR FEXVEH
EE) 2B RERDREFOES  ZFESR
BESRBBEDIEXVEFRT - $68 - BHGARA
R - RRBE S R RO FB206 R TR
BRNELHATHES  IRBERETURNGAA
A SRS A e He e

ERNMERHRRFHET
BREX[RARITENERE] AREEN  REEZ
T \FTA=Zt—RALFE FRAREMER
ABENALRESRKEBEA (FERRLTAA)
ERTEBARR AR FE 5738 HORERI S -

FERRRETAIREFESRAGHER
Hike

BEERA R-F-\FT-A=t—R UTA
T (ARFEERERTRABRIN RARFBN
FARBR O P A RIBE S LA E EOIEXVE R
FREARBRERREE 5 RS GO E336658
ERRGEZBLMAPLS EEIRR




FARRGHRRSPZEE

Interests in shares/underlying shares of the Company

Number of shares/
underlying shares

Percentage of
issued share

(where appropriate)  Capacity capital (approximate)
B’ /4R HERT
Name BRR B8 H (MER) #IKE BFESL
Easy Key Holdings Limited Easy Key Holdings Limited 775,198,624(L)  Interests of controlled corporation 23.49%
(Note 1) (PZE1) RERD R 2B
Oriental Gold Limited (Note 1) Oriental Gold Limited (Ki7E1) 419,312,000 (L)  Beneficial owner (Note 2) 12.711%
BEmEaA (H32)
Billion Ocean Limited (Note 1) Billion Ocean Limited (Pi&E1) 355,886,624(L)  Beneficial owner 10.78%
ERABA
The Capital Group Companies, Inc.  The Capital Group 302,911,156(L)  Interests of controlled corporation 9.18%
(Note 3) Companies, Inc. (F3E3) RIER AR 2
Capital Research and Management ~ Capital Research and 302,911,156(L)  Investment manager 9.18%
Company Management Company REKE
JPMorgan Chase & Co. (Note 4)  JPMorgan Chase & Co. (i&E4) 18,183,600(L) Interests of controlled corporation
4534,000(5) AR AR Z KR
51,349,000(L)  Investment manager
REKE
138,768,076(L)  Approved lending agent
ZARHREA
SUBTOTAL: Bt 208,300,676(L) 6.31%
4,534,000(S) 0.14%
138,768,076(P) 4.20%
JD Oriental Investment Limited JD Oriental Investment Limited 288,526,000(L)  Investment manager 8.74%
(Note 5) (BIE5) REKE
FMR LLC FMR LLC 209,200,485(L)  Investment manager 6.34%
REKE
Notes: Wizt

The percentage of the total issued shares was calculated by the number of the aforesaid interests
or short positions divided by the total number of issued shares as at 31 December 2018 of
3,300,185,396.

HEARRRA R BTRRANE D L DR ERAEELAE
HEENRIBARRARR _E—\F+_A=t—ANEH
7487 81 B 3,300,185,396FT 3T

1. Of the 775,198,624 shares, (i) 419,312,000 shares (of which 5,000,000 share options) were 1.
held by Oriental Gold Limited, a company wholly owned by Easy Key Holdings Limited; and
(i) 355,886,624 shares were held through Billion Ocean Limited, a company wholly owned
by Easy Key Holdings Limited.

TE775,198,6241% % 7 & + (i) 419,312,0008% A% 15 (K
5,000,0008% ARE M4 ) £5 Oriental Gold Limited (FEasy Key
Holding Limited® & #7A) 576 - (i) 355,886,624A% & 17
dBillion Ocean Limited ( FEasy Key Holdings Limited 2%
e BAE -

2. Details of the share options are set out in the section headed “Share Option Schemes” of this 9.
report.
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According to the disclosure of interest form filed by The Capital Group Companies, Inc. on 3.
13 October 2018, those 302,911,156 shares were held by Capital Research and Management
Company which is wholly owned by The Capital Group Companies, Inc.

According to the disclosure of interest form filed by JPMorgan Chase & Co. on 2 November 4.

JPMorgan Chase & Co. was deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company as

RE=ZF—\F+ A+ = B AThe Capital Group
Companies, Inc.J2 3 M)z 1 & & + %302,911,156AR 1
fCapital Research and Management Company (#3The Capital
Group Companies, Inc. 2 B H ) #7 °

BiE=F— N\F+—F=HHJIPMorgan Chase &
ColRRMERRER -

(@  JPMorgan Chase & CotR & fER I TR H A

follows: i

Name of controlled corporation Name of controlling shareholder % control  Direct interest  Number of shares
e AGIE-E S BERRER BRESL EENG B
J.P-Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A. - Amsterdam Branch J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A. 100.00 Y 586,000(L)
J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A. - Amsterdam Branch J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A. 7

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. - LONDON BRANCH JPMorgan Ghase Bank, National Association 100.00 Y 8,315,204(1)
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. - LONDON BRANCH JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association 3

J.P. Morgan Investment Management Inc. JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. 100.00 Y 482,000(L)
J.P. Morgan Investment Management Inc. JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. 7

JPMorgan Asset Management (Taiwan) Limited JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia) Inc. 100.00 Y 4.842,000(L)
JPMorgan Asset Management (Taiwan) Limited JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia) Inc. T

J.P. Morgan Europe Limited, Oslo Branch J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED 100.00 Y 48,000(L)
J.P. Morgan Europe Limited, Oslo Branch J.P MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED =

JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT (UK) LIMITED JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED 100.00 Y 646,000(L)
JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT (UK) LIMITED JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED 7

J.P. Morgan Europe (UK), Copenhagen Br, filial af J.P. Morgan J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED 100.00 Y 9,936,000(L)

Europe Ltd, Storbritannien
J.P- Morgan Europe (UK), Copenhagen Br, filial af J.P. Morgan J.P MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED I
Europe Ltd, Storbritannien

J.P- Morgan Europe Limited, Helsingin sivuliike J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED 100.00 Y 11,306,000(L)
J.P Morgan Europe Limited, Helsingin sivuliike J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED =z

J.P. Morgan Bank (Ireland) Public Limited Company J.P. Morgan International Finance Limited 100.00 Y 16,000(L)
J.P. Morgan Bank (Ireland) Public Limited Company J.P- Morgan International Finance Limited 7

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. - Sydney Branch JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association 100.00 Y 358,000(L)
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. - Sydney Branch JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association =

J.P. Morgan Europe Limited (UK), Stockholm Bankilial J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED 100.00 Y 622,000(L)
J.P. Morgan Eurape Limited (UK), Stockholm Bankilial J P MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED =

J.P Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A. J.P- Morgan International Finance Limited 100.00 Y 69,848,000(L)
J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A. J.P. Morgan International Finance Limited =

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association JPMorgan Chase & Co. 100.00 Y 30,035,782(L)
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association JPMorgan Chase & Co. =

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. - Hong Kong Branch JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association 100.00 Y 6,186,000(L)
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. - Hong Kong Branch JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association =
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Name of controlled corporation Name of controlling shareholder %control  Direct interest Number of shares
#BHARER BERRER BRESHL HENG i1
JF Asset Management Limited JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia) Inc. 99.99 Y 44,735,000(L)
JF Asset Management Limited JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia) Inc. I
JF International Management Inc. JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia) Inc. 100.00 Y 644,000(L)
JF International Management Inc. JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia) Inc. 3
J.P Morgan (Suisse) SA J.P. Morgan International Finance Limited 100.00 Y 1,511,000()
J.P. Morgan (Suisse) SA J.P. Morgan International Finance Limited =
J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES PLC J.P. MORGAN CAPITAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 100.00 Y 18,183,600(L)
J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES PLC J.P MORGAN CAPITAL HOLDINGS LIMITED T 4,534,000(5)
J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A. J.P. Morgan International Finance Limited 100.00 N 586,000(L)
J.P. Morgan Bank Luxembourg S.A. J.P. Morgan International Finance Limited &
J.P. Morgan International Finance Limited JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association 100.00 N 112,056,600(L)
J.P. Morgan International Finance Limited JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association 4 4.534000(5)
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association JPMorgan Chase & Co. 100.00 N 126,915,894(L)
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association JPMorgan Chase & Co. ) 4534,000(5)
JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. JPMorgan Chase Holdings LLC 100.00 N 51,349,000(L)
JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. JPMorgan Chase Holdings LLC S
JPMorgan Chase Holdings LLC JPMorgan Chase & Co. 100.00 N 51,349,000(L)
JPMorgan Chase Holdings LLC JPMorgan Chase & Co. &
JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia) Inc. JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. 100.00 N 50,221,000(L)
JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia) Inc. JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. i
J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES PLC 100.00 N 21,912,000(L)
J.P. MORGAN EUROPE LIMITED J. P MORGAN SECURITIES PLC &
J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES PLC J.P. MORGAN CAPITAL HOLDINGS LIMITED 100.00 N 21,912,000(L)
J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES PLC J.P MORGAN CAPITAL HOLDINGS LIMITED B
J.P. MORGAN CAPITAL HOLDINGS LIMITED J.P. Morgan International Finance Limited 100.00 N 40,095,600(L)
J.P. MORGAN CAPITAL HOLDINGS LIMITED J.P. Morgan International Finance Limited B 4,534,000(S)
JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 100.00 N 646,000(L)
JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT HOLDINGS (UK) LIMITED JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED &
JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. 100.00 N £46,000(L)
JPMORGAN ASSET MANAGEMENT INTERNATIONAL LIMITED JPMorgan Asset Management Holdings Inc. i
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and

50

(b)  detail of JPAMorgan Chase & Co.'s derivatives interests are as follows:

° Listed derivatives — Cash settled: 1,349,000(S)

o Unlisted derivatives — Cash settled: 700,000(L) and 2,301,000(S)

According to the disclosure of interest forms filed by JD Oriental Investment Limited, Max
Smart Limited, JD.com, Inc., JD.com Investment Limited and Liu Qiangdong Richard on 26
May 2015, Max Smart Limited, JD.com, Inc., JD.com Investment Limited and Liu Qiangdong
Richard were deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company as follows:

UA% (b)  JPMorgan Chase & Co.Z fT4 migZ AT
o FWiTER — HERER1349,00005)

o ErmirEm—fERS A700,000(L)
PA%22,301,000(S)

&, 1R 20155426 8D Oriental Investment Limited - Max

Smart Limited + JD.com, Inc. + JD.com Investment Limited £2
IR BEETRIGIEE > Max Smart Limited + JD.com,
Inc. * JD.com Investment Limited 42255 3R 4% & 4E 7 5% A
A ER W

Name of controlled corporation

Name of controlling shareholder

% control Direct interest  Number of shares

LNGEE BRERERE BRESL EEFIR i3
Max Smart Limited Liu Qiangdong Richard 100.00 N 288,526,000 ()
Max Smart Limited HET S ifa
JD.com, Inc. Max Smart Limited and Fortune Rising Holdings Limited 82.80 N 268,526,000 (L)
JD. com Investment Limited Max Smart Limited and Fortune Rising Holdings Limited B e
JD.com Investment Limited JD.com, Inc. 100.00 N 288,526,000 (L)
JD. com Investment Limited JD.com, Inc. T e
JD Oriental Investment Limited JD.com Investment Limited 100.00 Y 288,526,000 (L)
JD Origntal Investment Limited JD.com Investment Limited = e

(L) denotes long position, (S) denotes short position and (P) denotes lending pool.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEgRE

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float
under the Listing Rules during the reporting period and as at the latest practicable date
prior to the issue of the annual report.

Equity-linked agreement

During the reporting period, the outstanding convertible bonds were fully converted with
details set out below. There was no equity-linked agreement being entered into during
the year or subsisting at the end of the year:

Issue of Guaranteed Convertible Bonds

On 14 April 2014, Crotona Assets Limited (a Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, as
Issuer and the Company, as Guarantor) issued five-year guaranteed convertible bond in
the principal amount of USD175,000,000 which bear interest at a rate of 4% per annum
payable semi-annually (the “Bonds”). On 20 March 2018, Issuer had informed the
trustee and holders of the Bonds of its intent to exercise its right of redemption pursuant
to Condition 8(C) of the Terms of Conditions to redeem all the outstanding Bonds with
the aggregate principal amount of US$175,000,000. All Bonds had been converted as at
24 April 2018. There are no outstanding Bonds in issue following completion of the said
conversion and cancellation of the Bonds. Listing of the Bonds on the Stock Exchange
had been withdrawn with effect upon the close of business on 2 May 2018.

Please also refer to the announcements of the Company dated 8 April 2014, 10 April
2014, 14 April 2014, 15 April 2014, 20 March 2018 and 24 April 2018 for the details of
the Bonds.

Continuing Connected Transactions
(1) Cooperation Framework Agreements

As the 2017 strategic cooperation framework agreement expired on 31 December
2017 and the transactions thereunder would continue to be entered into on a
recurring basis, on 1 January 2018, Kingdee China and Shenzhen Cloud-Hub
entered into:(a) the 2018 strategic cooperation framework agreement: Shenzhen
Cloud-Hub appoints Kingdee China as a distributor (the “Cloud-Hub Products
Distributorship”); and Shenzhen Cloud-Hub agrees to use the strengths of its mobile
office platform to provide sales support, business consultation and other services
for the sale of Kingdee collaborative office software in consideration of a service
fee payable by Kingdee China to Shenzhen Cloud-Hub (the “Kingdee Products
Sales Support Services”). The pricing for the transactions under the Cloud-Hub
Products Distributorship and the Kingdee Products Sales Support Services should
be determined by reference to market prices offered to any independent third party by
Shenzhen Cloud-Hub and/or Kingdee China (as the case may be) for the distribution
of similar products and provision of similar services. The annual cap for the year
ended 31 December 2018 approved by the Board was RMB43,000,000 and the
actual transaction amount was RMB26,664,000; and (b) the 2018 product promotion
cooperation framework agreement: Kingdee China agrees to use its channels
and networks to promote the PublicCloud Products of Shenzhen Cloud-Hub in
consideration for a promotion fee payable by Shenzhen Cloud-Hub to Kingdee China.
The annual cap for the year ended 31 December 2018 approved by the Board was
RMB47,000,000 and the actual transaction amount was RMB10,646,000. The term of
the two agreements was both one year from 1 January 2018.
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(2)

52

As both the 2018 strategic cooperation framework agreement and the 2018 product
promotion cooperation framework agreement expired on 31 December 2018 and
the transactions thereunder shall continue to be entered into on a recurring basis,
on 1 January 2019, Kingdee China and Shenzhen Cloud-Hub entered into the
2019 strategic cooperation framework agreement and the 2019 product promotion
cooperation framework agreement, pursuant to which the parties agreed to continue
the existing cooperation as disclosed above with each other for a term of one
year commencing from 1 January 2019. The annual cap for the year ending 31
December 2019 approved by the Board was (a) RMB60,000,000 under the 2019
strategic cooperation framework agreement; and (b) RMB30,000,000 under the
2019 product promotion cooperation framework agreement.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 10 March 2017, 30 June
2017, 2 January 2018 and 2 January 2019 for further details.

Lease Agreements

Pursuant to a lease agreement dated 1 January 2018 entered into between Kingdee
China (a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) and Shenzhen Suishou
Technology Co., Ltd. ("Suishou Technology"), (a) the parties agreed to terminate
and replace the lease agreement entered into between them on 30 June 2017 which
would expire on 31 December 2018; and (b) Kingdee China agreed to lease to
Suishou Technology the B10 Office for a term commenced from 1 January 2018 to
31 December 2018 (both dates inclusive) and Other Offices for a term commencing
from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020. The annual cap for the continuing
connected transactions approved by the Board is RMB13,420,146 for each of the
years ended/ending 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020, and the actual rental paid
by Suishou Technology to the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 were
RMB13,015,229.

On 1 January 2019, Kingdee China and Suishou Technology also entered into
another lease agreement (together with the lease agreement dated 1 January 2018
above, the “Lease Agreements”) under which Kingdee China agreed to lease an
additional office to Suishou Technology for a term of three years commencing
from 1 January 2019. The aggregate annual caps for the continuing connected
transactions contemplated under the Lease Agreements (being the aggregate of the
annual rentals and charges) are RMB14,327,900 for each of the years ending 31
December 2019, 2020 and 2021 as approved by the Board.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 30 June 2017, 2 January
2018 and 2 January 2019 for further details.
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(3) Loan Extension Agreements

Reference is made to the announcement dated 28 July 2016 in respect of, inter
alia, the loans in the principal amount of RMB61,679,000 and RMB104,979,000,
respectively advanced to Cloud-Hub and Shanghai Jinyi Medical by Kingdee China
(a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), both with a term of three years
from 1 January 2016 to 1 January 2019. On 14 December 2018, Kingdee China
entered into the loan extension agreements (the “Loan Extension Agreements”)
with each of Cloud-Hub and Shanghai Jinyi Medical, respectively, pursuant to
which Kingdee China agreed to extend the maturity date of the outstanding loans of
RMB31,679,000(Cloud-Hub) and RMB104,979,000 (Shanghai Jinyi Medical) to 31
December 2021 at an annual interest rate of 5%.

The aggregate annual cap under the Loan Extension Agreements is
RMB143,490,900 for each of the years ending 31 December 2019, 2020 and
2021(i.e. RMB33,262,950 for Cloud-Hub and RMB110,227,950 for Shanghai Jinyi
Medical).

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 28 July 2016 and 14
December 2018 for further details.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Directors (including the
independent non-executive Directors) considered that the terms of the transactions
and their respective annual caps discussed above have been entered into (i)
according to the agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable,
(ii) on normal commercial terms and in the interests of the Company and
shareholders of the Company as a whole, and (iii) in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Group.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the Company’s
auditor to perform certain agreed-upon procedures in respect of the continuing
connected transactions set out above on a sample basis. The auditor has reported
their factual findings on the selected samples based on the agreed procedures to
the Board and has confirmed that the continuing connected transactions set out
above have complied with the requirements under Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements of Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules in respect of the abovementioned connected transactions. Save
as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2018, there were no other
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company which
require the compliance with any of the reporting, announcement or independent
shareholders' approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(3)
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Related Party Transactions

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual course of business of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in Note 38 to the financial
statements.

Save as otherwise disclosed in “Continuing Connected Transactions” above, the related
party transactions set out in Note 38 to the financial statements did not fall under the
definition of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Competing Interest

None of the Directors or their respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
had an interest in a business, which competes or may compete with the business of the
Group.

Management Contracts

No management contracts concerning the whole or any substantial part of the business
of the Company were entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The percentage of sales and purchases for the year attributable to the Group’s major
customers and suppliers is as follows:

Sales

- the largest customer 0.50%
- five largest customers in aggregate 2.02%
Purchases

- the largest supplier 10.78%
- five largest suppliers in aggregate 30.45%

At no time during the years have the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in the major customers or suppliers set out above.

Indemnity of Directors

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in Section 469 of the Companies Ordinance)
for the benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout this year.

Retirement Scheme

Details of the retirement scheme operated by the Group are set out in Note 30 to the
financial statements.

Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as the external auditor of the Company for the
year of 2018, and there has been no change in the Company’s auditor in any of the
preceding three years. A resolution for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as
the Company’s auditor will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.
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Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere thanks to all our
managements and staff for their dedication during the period. Also, | would like to thank
our shareholders for their continuous support.

By order of the Board

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
Chairman

Xu Shao Chun

Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China, 13 March 2019.

This report, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Corporate Governance Practices

The Group consistently promotes good corporate governance, pursuing the five
principles of ensuring the rights and interests of shareholders, abiding by the directives
of the Board and management, promoting full disclosure and transparency, ensuring the
equal treatment of stakeholders, and strengthening internal controls and supervision. The
Company endeavors to enhance its enterprise value, ensure the Company’s long-term
and stable development and safeguard the interests of its shareholders. The details of the
corporate governance practices of the Company are set out below.

The Company has applied and complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules throughout
the financial year ended 31 December 2018 except for code provision A.2.1. For details
and reasons for the deviation, please refer to the section headed “Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer”.

Board of Directors
I.  The responsibilities of the Board

The Board is the core of corporate governance of the Company. Its major
responsibilities are as follows:

(1) to convene general meetings, report to shareholders and implement the
resolutions of general meetings;

(2) to review and approve the mid- and long-term strategic plans and
management strategies of the Group;

(3) to review and approve critical investment and acquisition projects, the
issuance and repurchase of securities, and other plans for financings,

amalgamation, compensation, recruitment and dismissals;

(4)  to review and approve the Group’s budget plans, profit distribution plans and
loss remedy plans;

(5) to draft amendments to the Articles of Association, and to propose changes
in registered capital;

(6) To approve Directors’ remuneration plans as authorized by shareholders;

(7)  to listen to the working report of the Chief Executive Officer and to review the
work of the Chief Executive Officer; and

(8) to review and approve the Share Award Scheme, the Share Option Scheme
and the Share Incentive Scheme.
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The Board shall empower the senior management of the Group to implement the
decisions of the Board and all members of the senior management of the Group
shall be appointed by the Board. In entrusting management and administrative
functions to the senior management, the Board provides clear instructions
regarding the powers delegated to them, and prior approval of the Board is
required before the senior management makes any key decisions and commitments
on behalf of the Group. The senior management and the Company Secretary will
report to the Board on updates on legal and regulatory developments, business
and market changes and the strategic development of the Group to facilitate the
performance of the Board's duties. The Board has maintained effective supervision
over the Group’s strategic plans and key policies, management and assessment
of risks, and effective controls over business operations. The members of the
Board and senior management have fully committed to their roles, ensured that
the Group’s development strategies are in line with the changes in the economy
and market, and acted in good faith with a view to furthering the Shareholders’
long-term interests.

Composition of the Board

As at 31 December 2018, the Board comprised seven members, including
two executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lin Bo (Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Dong Ming Zhu
Mr. Shen Yuan Ching (appointed on 13 March 2018)
Mr. Zhang Chen (resigned on 13 March 2018)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Gary Clark Biddle

Mr. Liu Chia Yung

Mr. Cao Yang Feng (appointed on 13 March 2018)
Mr. Wu Cheng (resigned on 13 March 2018)
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Throughout the reporting period, the number of independent non-executive
Directors exceeds one-third of the Board. The Directors have professional
background in finance, technology and management, respectively. They have
extensive experience and independent views in their respective areas of expertise
so that they can provide professional advice in respect of the long-term
development of the Company. The biographies of the Directors are set out in the
“Directors and Senior Management” section on page 33 to 35 of this annual report.

The term of appointment of each of the Directors (including non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors) is two years. According to the
Articles of Association, each Director shall retire by rotation at least once every
three years and all the retiring Directors are eligible for re-election at the AGM
in that year. At the AGM, three Directors, namely Mr. Xu Shao Chun, Ms. Dong
Ming Zhu and Mr. Cao Yang Feng shall be retired by rotation and be eligible for

re-glection.

None of the Directors who shall be retired and proposed for re-election has
a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable within one year without payment of compensation (other than

statutory compensation).

As at the date of this annual report, to the best knowledge of the Board, save as
disclosed in this report there is no financial, business or family relationship among

the members of the Board or the chief executives

Il.  Board Meeting/General Meeting

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company convened seven Board
meetings and one AGM. The following table shows the details of Directors’
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attendance: g BHEEZHEFERINT -
Attendance/Number of Meetings
HEER  FERY
Board Meetings AGM
Directors EF EFEER BREFXE
Executive Directors BITESE
Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman and BROERE (ESE2EE M 1n
Chief Executive Officer) RERHITE)
Mr. Lin Bo (Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer) WEEE (BERIBERRELEH) 1 1n
Non-executive Directors FRTEF
Ms. Dong Ming Zhu BERAKLT 1 01
Mr. Shen Yuan Ching (appointed on 13 March 2018) BIELEE (NZE-NF i 01
=Rt=BHEZ#H)
Mr. Zhang Chen (resigned on 13 March 2018) RRAE (RZT-N\F 1 011
—A+=HET)
Independent non-executive Directors BIAERTEE
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddlest 4 1 "l
Mr. Liu Chia Yung BIRERE 1 01
Mr. Cao Yang Feng (appointed on 13 March 2018) EMELE (RZE-N\F 1 0n
=R+t=BEZF)
Mr. Wu Cheng (resigned on 13 March 2018) RELE (RZZE-N\F 17 011

=R+=81)
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Directors were given sufficient notice of Board meetings in accordance with the
Listing Rules and the Articles of Association. Directors were consulted in advance
regarding the agenda of Board meetings. Notices of regular Board meetings were
given to all Directors at least 14 days in advance of the meetings. For all other
Board meetings, reasonable notices were given. The agenda and other relevant,
complete and reliable accompanying materials were sent to the Directors at least
three days before each meeting. Each Director is aware of his/her obligation to
allocate adequate time to deal with the Company'’s affairs.

At the meetings of the Board held during the year ended 31 December 2018,
the matters dealt with by the Directors include but not limited to the following:
formulating the overall development strategy of the Company, considering
and approving the Company’s 2017 annual report and the 2018 interim report,
approving grant of award shares and discussing other major matters. The secretary
of the Board has recorded the proceedings of each Board meeting by keeping
detailed minutes, including all decisions made by the Board together with concerns
raised and dissenting views expressed (if any) by the Directors. All minutes are
kept by the secretariat of the Board and any relevant files including the agenda,
documents and minutes are open for any Directors” inspection.

Continuous professional development of Directors

To fully comply with the requirements of the Code on the continuous professional
development of Directors, the Company has provided all Directors with documents
and information aiming at developing and refreshing their professional knowledge
and skills, together with other information (including monthly updates) on the
development of business, operation, activities and corporate governance of the
Company from time to time to assist them to fulfill their responsibilities. Each
of the Directors has been provided with induction to ensure that they are fully
aware of the business and operation of the Group, and the responsibilities and
obligations of Directors under the Listing Rules and other rules and regulations.
The Company has organized regular trainings for Directors regarding their roles,
functions and duties to assist them in understanding their responsibilities under
the Listing Rules and other related laws and regulations through real case study;
and to ensure the Directors are timely and completely informed of the operations
of the Company. Pursuant to the requirements of the Code, all Directors should
provide their training record to the Company. According to the training record
provided by the Directors, the trainings attended by them during the reporting
period is summarized as follows:
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Corporate Governance,
Regulatory Development
and Trainings on

other relevant topics

LRER EERRR

Director EF H i 48 FA £ RE A

Executive Directors BOTESE

Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman and BROERE (ES2ERR 4

Chief Executive Officer) HEHTE)
Mr. Lin Bo (Senior Vice President and WEEE (RRBBHEFERIBE - 4
Chief Financial Officer) HEUBEE)

Non-executive Directors FHITEE

Ms. Dong Ming Zhu ERRZ T v

Mr. Shen Yuan Ching (appointed on 13 March 2018) RLTELEE (RZE—\E=A+=H v
BAT)

Mr. Zhang Chen (resigned on 13 March 2018) RELE (RZE—-/\F=R+=A v
BHT)

Independent non-executive Directors BUERTESE

Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddlet & 4

Mr. Cao Yang Feng (appointed on 13 March 2018) BEEE (RZE-\F=R+=H v
BT)

Mr. Liu Chia Yung BIRELE 4

Mr. Wu Cheng (resigned on 13 March 2018) RERE (RZE-\F=A+=H v
BHT)

(2)  When Directors are asked to express their views on the Company’s connected
transactions (if any), incentive schemes, internal controls, etc., the Company
retains auditors, financial advisers and/or lawyers and other relevant independent
professionals to provide independent professional advice to assist the Directors in
fulfilling their responsibilities.

(3)  With regard to insurance cover in respect of possible legal actions against the
Directors when performing their duties, the Board had entered into a “Liability
Insurance Gontract of Directors, Supervisors and Officers” with Huatai Property &
Casualty Insurance Co., Ltd. Shenzhen Branch.

Board Committees

The Board has set up four specialized committees, namely the audit committee, the
remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the corporate governance
and strategy committee to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. The
compositions of these committees are set out below. The meeting procedures of the
committees follow the statutory procedures and the respective Terms of Reference and
Modus Operandi.
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Audit Committee

As at 31 December 2018, the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
comprised three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Gary Clark Biddle
(chairman), Mr. Cao Yang Feng and Mr. Liu Chia Yung.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are as follows:

(1)

making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment
and removal of the external auditor, approving the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditors, and any questions of resignation or dismissal
of the auditors, reviewing and monitoring the external auditor's independence, the
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards and acting as key representative body for overseeing the Company’s
relations with the auditor;

developing and implementing policy on engaging an external auditor to supply
non-audit services, and identifying and making recommendations on any matters
where action or improvement is needed;

meeting with the Company’s auditors at least twice a year to review and to monitor
completeness of the Company’s financial statements and annual reports and
accounts, half-year report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and
reviewing significant financial reporting judgements contained in them;

reviewing the management letter to the management issued by the auditor, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management about the accounting
records, financial accounts or systems of control and management’s response, and
ensuring that the Board responds promptly to the matters raised by the external
auditor in the management letter;

considering any significant or unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in the report and accounts;

reviewing the Company’s financial controls, risk management and internal
control systems, the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices, and
discussing the risk management and internal control systems with management to
ensure that management has performed its duty to have effective systems;

considering major investigation findings on risk management and internal control
matters;
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(8) performing the internal audit function by ensuring co-ordination between the
internal and external auditors, and by ensuring that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company, and to
review and monitor its effectiveness;

(9) reporting to the Board on the matters in the provision of the Code; and

(10) reviewing arrangements employees of the Company can use, in confidence, to raise

concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters.

Please refer to the Terms of Reference and Modus Operandi of the Audit Committee
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company for further details on
the roles and functions of the Audit Committee.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee held three
meetings, at which the Audit Committee:

(1) reviewed the Company’s annual financial report and internal control report for the
year 2017, and submitted them to the Board for approval;

(2) discussed the Company’s internal control system and reviewed the Company’'s
interim financial report of 2018, and submitted it to the Board for approval;

(3) communicated with the auditor regarding the 2018 annual audit work and audit
plans; and

(4)  reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control

systems, including financial, operational and compliance controls, with the senior
management and the auditors of the Company.
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Details of attendance at the Audit Committee mestings during year 2018 are set out —\FEERZEESRLFEFEIIIMT
below:

2018
Attendance/
Number of
Meetings
—E-\§
Audit Committee Members BEME HEGERE
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle (Chairman) Gary Clark Biddlesc 4 (£ /%) 33
Mr. Cao Yang Feng (appointed on 13 March 2018) EMEE: (W2 \E=FT=REZH) 3/3
Mr. Liu Chia Yung BRERE 33
Mr. Wu Cheng (resigned on 13 March 2018) REFE (RZE-N\FZA+=HET) 073
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The Audit Committee, having reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems, was satisfied with the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit function.

Remuneration Committee

As at 31 December 2018, the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) comprised two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Liu Chia Yung (Chairman) and Mr. Cao Yang Feng, and one executive Director,
namely Mr. Xu Shao Chun.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(1)

make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure of
remuneration, long-term incentive and performance management of the Directors
and senior management, and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing such policy and structure, and on the principles and
criteria of remuneration and on long-term incentive modes, implement such policy
and review the same periodically;

as authorized by the Board, draw up proposals for and make recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration of directors, and salary of individual executive
directors and senior management;

review and assess the annual performance of directors and senior management,
and review and approve their remuneration, by reference to the corporate goals and
objectives set up by the Board;

draw up and review proposals for remuneration and make recommendations to the
Board on the adjustment of such remuneration from time to time, by reference to
the Company’s development strategies and goals approved by the Board and the
operating strategies as adjusted by the Board from time to time;

consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the group;

review and ensure that the appointment and termination terms for the directors and
senior management are fair;

review and approve compensation arrangements (if any) relating to any loss or
termination of their office or appointment, or dismissal or removal for misconduct
to executive directors and senior management to ensure that they are consistent
with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her
own remuneration, and that the remuneration of a non-executive Director who is a
member of the Remuneration Committee shall be determined by the other members
of the Remuneration Committee.
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Please refer to the Terms of Reference and Modus Operandi of the Remuneration
Committee published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company for further
details on the principal roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2018, the Remuneration Committee held
two meetings to review the remuneration package of Directors and senior management,
discuss the grant of awarded shares pursuant to the Company’s share award scheme, and
submit proposals to the Board.

Details of attendance at the Remuneration Committee meetings during year 2018 are set
out below:
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2018

Attendance/

Number of

Meetings

—E-N\E

Remuneration Committee Members BEAES HEEERY
Mr. Liu Chia Yung (Chairman) BRERE (X7) 22
Mr. Wu Cheng (resigned on 13 March 2018) RELE (RZE-NF=ZAT=HET) 072
Mr. Xu Shao Chun BROERE 212
Mr. Cao Yang Feng (appointed on 13 March 2018) BgiE (RZE-N\F=AT+=HEZHF) 212

Nomination Committee

As at 31 December 2018, the nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) comprised of one executive Director, namely Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman),
and two independent non-executive Directors namely, Mr. Cao Yang Feng and Mr. Liu
Chia Yung.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy ("Board Diversity Policy") since
August 2013. The policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board which
will ‘include and make good use of the differences in skills, experience background
and industry experience, gender, knowledge and other qualities of the members of the
Board. These differences will be considered in determining the optimum composition of
the Board and all Board appointments will be based on merit, having due regard to the
overall effective functioning of the Board as a whole. The Company believes that diversity
can strengthen the performance of the Board, promote effective decision-making and
better corporate governance and monitoring. The Nomination Committee also monitors
the implementation of this policy and reports to the Board on the achievement of the
measurable objectives for achieving diversity under this policy. All Board appointments
are made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board
members. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, experience
(professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made
upon the merits and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy this year and was
satisfied that the diversity of the Board was optimal.

Nomination Policy

The nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) was adopted by the Company on 16
March 2012.

The Company embraces high transparency in the Board member selection process. The
Nomination Policy aims to ensure the Board maintains a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.
The Nomination Committee has been delegated to identify individuals suitably qualified
to become Board members and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships. The Board is ultimately responsible
for selection and appointment of new Directors.
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The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are as follows:

(1)

66

formulate nomination policy for the identification, selection and nomination of
candidates for the role of Directors for the Board's consideration and implement
and review the Nomination Policy;

formulate, review and update, as appropriate, the diversity policy for the Board’s
approval having due regard to the requirements of the Listing Rules, review and
update the objectives that the Board has set for implementing such policy, and
monitor the progress made;

review the structure, size, composition and the balance of skills, knowledge,
experience, length of service and diversity (including as to gender and ethnicity)
of the Board and other factors which may be relevant to its effectiveness at least
annually;

identify individuals suitably qualified to become Directors, and to select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships, having due regard to the Board's diversity policy and composition
profile requirements and ensuring that such individuals will be considered on
merit and against objective criteria and have the time and ability to contribute to
the Board;

make recommendations to the Board with regard to its composition profile
including, where appropriate, preparing a description of the capabilities required
for any particular appointment and on any proposed changes to the Board to
implement the Company’s corporate objectives and strategy;

assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors including any
conflict which a Director may have with the interests of the Group and review the
independent non-executive Directors’ annual confirmations on their independence;
and make disclosure of its review results in the corporate governance report in the
annual report of the Company; and
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review annually the time commitment required from a Director (especially
independent non-executive Director) to perform his or her responsibilities;

give full consideration and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors
and review such plan periodically;

develop the procedures for the performance evaluation of the Board and the
committees of the Board, evaluate the performance of the Nomination Committee
following such procedure and review these terms of reference to ensure that the
Committee is operating at its maximum effectiveness;

recommend candidates to the Board to fill vacancies or new positions on the
committees of the Board as necessary or desirable; and

review the feedback in relation to the role and effectiveness of the committees of
the Board arising from the evaluation of the Board and/or any committees of the
Board and make recommendations of any changes.

Please refer to the Terms of Reference and Modus Operandi of the Nomination Committee
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company for further details on
the roles and functions of the Nomination Committee.

Details of attendance at the Nomination Committee meetings during the year 2018 are set
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out below:
Year 2018
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Number of
Meeting
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Nomination Committee Members [54=1: %1 HESRRY
Mr. Xu Shao Chun (Chairman) BOBEE (X8) 1
Mr. Cao Yang Feng (appointed on 13 March 2018) BMEEE (RS- NF=ZRA+=BEZHF) n
Mr. Liu Chia Yung ARERE 1
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Corporate Governance and Strategy Committee

As at 31 December 2018, the corporate governance and strategy committee of the
Company (the “Strategy Committee”) comprised one executive Director, namely Mr. Xu
Shao Chun (Chairman) and one non-executive Director, namely Ms. Dong Ming Zhu.

The main responsibilities of the Strategy Committee set out in the rules of the Board are
as follows:

(1) considering and formulating the mid- and long-term strategies of the Company;
(2) assessing the effects of the implementation of the Company’s strategies;

(3) making recommendations on critical issues prescribed in the Articles of
Association and other issues requiring approval from the Board, including those
related to investments, financings, etc.; and

(4)  performing the duties in relation to the compliance with code provision D.3.1 of
the Code.

During the year under review, the Strategy Committee had reviewed and performed the
corporate governance duties as mentioned in (1)-(4) above.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During the reporting period, Mr. Xu Shao Chun assumed the roles of both the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company which was deviated from code provision
A.2.1 of the Code that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The Board considers that
Mr. Xu Shao Chun, as one of the main founders of the Group, has abundant knowledge
of the IT industry and unique strategic perspectives. The Board believes that he can lead
the Group to formulate effective strategies and react promptly to market changes. His
continual service in both roles is beneficial to the stable and healthy development of the
Company. However, the Board will review and make appropriate changes when necessary
in order to enhance the level of corporate governance.

Adoption of Code of Conduct Regarding Director’s Securities
Transactions

The Company has adopted a code of conduct (the “Code of Conduct”) regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required standard
set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
of Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). The Company, having made
specific enquiry of all the Directors, confirms that the Directors have complied with the
Code of Conduct and the Model Code throughout the accounting period covered by this
annual report. The Code of Conduct and the Model Code are also applicable to other
specified senior management of the Company.
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The details relating to the securities of the Company held by the Directors are set out in
the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests or Short Positions in the
Shares, Underlying Shares or Debentures” of the “Report of Directors” on pages 44 to 46
of this annual report.

Internal Control and Risk Management

1.

Risk Management and Internal Control Governance Framework

The Company has an internal audit function that is used to safeguard the Group’s
establishment and maintenance of an appropriate and effective system for risk
management and internal control.

The Board reviews the Company’s internal control system annually and will take
necessary and appropriate measures to maintain the internal control system and
control the effect of risk management for the purpose of safeguarding shareholders’
investments and the Company’s assets.

The management has specially established an internal audit department, which is
responsible for supervising and auditing the Company’s risk management, internal
control system and business operation and using internal audit procedures to
conduct independent assessment. At the same time, business organization and
functional operation departments identify, assess and handle the risks in their
charge according to their duties and carry out risk management procedures and
internal control measures within their respective business and functional operation
scope, and the management reports to the Board.

Risk Management
Risk Management Procedure

The Company has designed its major risk management steps, including risk
identification, risk assessment, risk response and risk control and reporting:

e Risk identification: The Audit Committee reviews the effect of the Group’s
internal control each year and will urge all the business units and functional
departments to identify the internal and external risks that may exist in the
course of operation;

e Risk assessment: All the business units and functional departments assess
the possibility of occurrence of identified risks and the extent of their impact
and screen out major risks;

e Risk response: The risk responsibility department properly uses risk
avoidance, reduction, sharing or tolerance to draw up a risk response scheme
according to identified major risks and the Group’s risk tolerance, so that
the Group can reasonably allocate resources for risk response and reduce its
overall risk level to an acceptable level;
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2.2

2.3

70

e  Risk control and reporting: The Group’s risks are controlled and reported
through comprehensive use of risk pre-warning indicators, internal audit and
regular risk summarization reports.

Internal Control

The Company has designed an internal control system according to the Group’s
business management features and has established an internal audit department
that is responsible for internal control, conducts risk-oriented internal control
gvaluation with respect to daily fund management, financial report management,
purchase and asset management, business operation and collection flow on an
annual basis and to follow up the completion of any rectification discovered in
internal control on a regular basis. The management has reviewed and assessed
the effectiveness of the Group’s system for risk management and internal control
and such review includes financial monitoring, operation monitoring, compliance
control and other major monitoring and risk management functions.

Response to Major Risks

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group audited and assessed the
Company’s annual risk according to the enterprise’s risk management framework
and finalized measures for major risk response and control to prevent or appease
the possibility of occurrence of any major risk to the Company.

The Company has steadily developed its operational business in the past year.
Due to the fierce market competition of the industry, the Company’s market
competition in terms of key customers and cloud services may be intensified and
customers may continue to change their preference and have a higher expectation
of cloud services; marketing costs of the Company’s cloud service are high and
the launch of new business is faced with inherent market risks; at the same time,
as the Company’s brand influence is enhanced, its intellectual property rights are
infringed more frequently and infringers conceal or destroy tort evidence so that it
becomes more difficult for the Company to safeguard its intellectual property rights
and a certain financial loss may be caused to the Company.
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In order to respond to possible operational risks and guarantee the healthy and
sustained development of operational business, the Company has formed a cloud
service development framework based on mutually synergetic development by
optimizing and adjusting its strategic organization, has allocated a lot of resources
to research and develop new technologies and enhance product value, has
encouraged its employees to conduct constant product innovation and optimize
customer experience, has improved the ecological chain of customer service and
has committed to creating a very competitive cloud platform. In order to reduce the
marketing risk of new business, the Company has established a major marketing
review procedure to strictly review marketing schemes, reasonably control
promotional costs and budget, conduct internal control over promotional effect and
decrease the operational risk caused by marketing. To strengthen the protection
of its intellectual property rights, the Company has enhanced the entire staff's
consciousness of such protection through legal advocacy and training, has further
reinforced the market monitoring for the protection of intellectual property rights
and has preserved and notarized tort evidence to prevent its intellectual property
rights from being infringed.

Inside Information and connected transaction

With respect to the procedure and internal control measures for handling and
disclosing inside information, the Company understands its liabilities under the
Listing Rules and the SFO and the major principle that any inside information must
be announced on a timely basis. The Company has formed comprehensive and
proper procedures for internal processing and announcement of information and
comprehensive and proper internal control measures according to the Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information as promulgated by the Securities and Futures
Commission, so as to disclose relevant information to its shareholders and the
regulator in a timely, accurate and appropriate manner.

The Company is committed to strengthening the internal promotion and education
of its internal control relating to connected transactions and the development of
proper internal control system. During the reporting period, the Company has
published the Management Requirements for Regulating the Disclosure of the
Information on the Group’s Connected Transactions and has established a standard
management system for the internal control relating to connected transactions
in a multi-level and comprehensive manner through pre-transaction reporting,
information disclosure, sustained monitoring of transactions and regular exchange
meetings as well as mutual cooperation of the Company’s departments.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board, after reviewing the
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control system,
considered that such internal control system was adequate and effective, and the
Company had complied with the code provisions relating to internal control under
the Code and had not discovered any material matter that may affect the Group’s
financial, operational and compliance control and risk management functions.
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Investor Relations

The Company is committed to maintaining good relations with investors. The Company
has set up a specialized department with staff to attend to investor relations affairs. The
Company actively participates in various investor forums physically or via conference
calls, provides investors with the information necessary for them to form their views on
the Company’s performance and reports investors’ feedback to management in a timely
manner in order to improve operations and corporate governance of the Company.
To promote transparency, the Company has announced its operating performance to
shareholders and other stakeholders. These disclosures include: (1) publishing interim
and annual reports; (2) making press releases; (3) meeting regularly with investors; (4)
publishing analysts’ reports on the Company; and (5) conducting market consultations.

The Company firmly believes that increased transparency in the capital market will
improve corporate governance and will be beneficial to the long-term development of
the Company. The Company welcomes suggestions from investors and shareholders in
relation to the development of the Company to the Company’s investor relations team via
email or telephone.

Shareholders’ Rights

The shareholders’ rights are set out in the Articles of Association. Pursuant to Article
72 of the Articles of Association, general meetings shall be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more members of the Company deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of the meetings and signed
by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists hold as at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s)
themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights,
may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in
which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the
requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) in convening
the meeting as a result of the failure of the Board to convene the meeting shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

Any inquiry is welcome to be presented to the Board by shareholders and any proposal
relating to the business, strategy and management of the Company is welcome to be
presented at general meeting for review and discussion. Shareholders’ inquiries and
relevant proposals to the Board can be submitted in written form to the Company
Secretary, and will be dealt with by the Chief Executive Officer or the chairman of the
relevant board committees or other senior management members.
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The contact information of the Company Secretary is as follows:

19/F., China Evergrande Centre, 38 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2861 3757

Email: cclchow@gmail.com

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company held the annual general meeting
on 9 May 2018. All shareholders were given at least 21 days’ (and 20 business days’)
notice for such annual general meeting. The chairman of the Board, executive Directors
and the auditor attended such annual general meeting to communicate with shareholders
and answer questions from shareholders.

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, all resolutions of the general meetings should be voted on
by poll on the basis that one vote is attached to one share (except where the chairman,
in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or
administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands), and the poll results would be
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.kingdee.com).

Amendments to the Articles of Association
During the reporting period, no amendment had been made to the Articles of Association.

External Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as the external auditor of the Company
for the year of 2018, and there has been no change in the Company’s auditor
in any of the preceding three years. During the year ended 31 December 2018
PricewaterhouseCoopers provided only audit services to the Company, the remuneration
paid/payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers was RMB3,100,000 for audit service. A
resolution for re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

The Board is responsible for ensuring the appropriate preparation of accounts, and the
accuracy, fairness and comprehensiveness of the financial statements of the Company.
The statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” section on pages 75 to 81 of this annual report.

Company Secretary

The Company engages an external service provider to provide company secretary
services, and Mr. Chow Chan Lum being the main contact person of the external service
provider, has been appointed as the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary may
contact Ms. Yi Wei, the Board secretary of the Company pursuant to code provision F.1.1
of the Code.
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Improving Corporate Governance

The Company will continue to regularly review its corporate governance measures
and practices to ensure that they are on par with the corporate governance standards
of international corporations and in light of the changing regulatory requirements
and investors’ needs. This will also help in the long term to continuously develop the
Company, and enhance its corporate value.

Appreciation

The Board would like to express its sincere appreciation to its shareholders, customers,
suppliers and bankers for their continued support to the Group. The Board also wishes to
thank the Group’s management and staff for achieving remarkable progress in the Group’s
business and their dedication and commitment to improving the Group’s management.

On behalf of the Board

KINGDEE INTERNATIONAL SOFTWARE GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
Chairman

Xu Shao Chun

Shenzhen, the People’s Republic of China, 13 March 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

KINGDEE INTERNATIONAL SOFTWARE GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Kingdee International Software Group
Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages 82 to 212, which comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018;
e the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended:;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
e the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(“ISAs™). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants” Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

e Recognition of software implementation revenue

e Valuation of the fair value of investment properties
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter AREEHEER EEHPNAEHFEREHEE
Recognition of software implementation revenue RERRRARRER
Refer to Note 4.1(b) and Note 27 to  We have performed the following procedures to 2 B A MM BMEN BT TIATEHER UES
the consolidated financial statements.  address this key audit matter: 41 (b) R BiEE27 SERE A
Revenue from software implementation ~ We have understood, evaluated and tested the — B IEZE-ZT—N\E+ HMER  FEOIS T8 4L
contracts recognised for the year  key controls over revenue and cost recognition of ~ — A =+ — B |t & HARERANKAERRIZS
ended 31 December 2018 amounted to  software implementation contracts. B ESERELR HBEREHRE-
RMB805,667,000 which represented EARBERMEMG
approximately 29% of total revenue. ~ We have selected some contracts, on a sample T E WA BAR®E RAEABETEZERT HHE

basis, to perform the following audit procedures: 805,667,000 * 43154 [ BIELA TERER

U A H29% ©

(i) Examined the terms and conditions of the () BERESREHR &H
Revenue of software implementation contracts and checked the accuracy of M ZEASRBRER ERSEMERMEIARE
contract is recognised over the period contract price and relevant work progress of T EEA R B A REBE®RANT IHE
of the contract by reference to the software implementation contract recorded ERABA > ZxT#E E:
progress of work performed and by management. EREERKENE
acknowledged by the customers. The FPREAREE B
corresponding implementation costs  (il)  Agreed the progress of services provided — F: BEMRERA (i) RUETEERANTIE
are recognised as incurred under cost recorded by management to the position set  FER A IEER A o ERRFPRUNTEEE
of sales. out in the progress reports acknowledged by WREs

the customers.
We focus on this area due to the KMEFrE—FH
significance of software implementation ~ (iii)  Obtained confirmations from selected  FBREATMZE (i) HUTIEEZAETPET
revenue 1o the consolidated financial customers in respect of the progress of the W A% & BB B @& BEE o E R P R R
statements and the significant judgments implementation as stipulated in the contracts ~ BIEBMHIARBETE S TIEEHEERERAN
and estimates made in determining the and compared such to the progress reports ~ ERE L#E@IET & TLEE
progress of work performed. used by the management in estimating the — FNEIEANEEE
progress of work performed. HIETERAEE o
(iv) Checked the arithmetic accuracy of (iv) BEBWAETIHEE T

the calculation of the progress of work
performed and the revenue recognised based
on that.

We found management’s judgments and estimates
were supported by the evidence we obtained.

AR -
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter AREHER EFHPMAEHRRENEE
Valuation of the fair value of investment properties BREREHEN AR BETGE

Refer to Note 4.1(a) and Note 9 to the  We have performed the following procedures to 2 BAGBIBHREN  RIAHIT TIATEHER UEY
consolidated financial statements. address this key audit matter: 4.1 (Q)FPHEE9 © ItERE FIA

The Group's investment properties (i)  We assessed the competence, capabilities — BIEE—Z—N\E+ () FEINFFEAH BT
were measured at fair value of and objectivity of the external valuerengaged — A=+ —H0- - & BEh EBKENRER
RMB1,816,206,000 as at 31 by the Group. SEREURHE B

December 2018, which represented AREBEBRARKE

approximately 24% of total assets.
There was a fair value gain of
RMB94,516,000 recorded in the
consolidated income statement, which
represented approximately 21% of
profit before income tax for the year.

The Group's investment property
portfolio comprised completed
properties in Mainland China.

Fair value of investment properties are
determined by the Group based on the
valuations performed by independent
professional valuer primarily using
the income approach. The relevant
key assumptions include term yields,
reversionary yields and fair market
rents.

All the relevant key assumptions are
influenced by the prevailing market
conditions and the characteristics of
the Group’s properties including but
not limited to location and property
Size.

We focus on this area due to the
significance of investment properties
to the consolidated financial
statements and the relevant key
assumptions applied in the valuation
involving significant judgments and
estimates.

(i)~ We obtained the valuation report of the
investment properties and engaged our in-
house valuation experts to perform the
following procedures:

- assess the appropriateness of the
valuation method applied; and

- assess the reasonableness of the
key assumptions applied in the
valuations, including term yields,
reversionary yields and fair market
rents, by comparing them to our
internally developed benchmarks,
which are based on our recent
experience and market research in the
locations and segments of the Group’s
investment properties.

We found the key assumptions applied in the
valuation were supported by the evidence we
obtained.
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit Committee for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

HtFa
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e (Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

e  (onclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e (Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's
report is Tong Yu Keung.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 13 March 2019
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AR

As at 31 December

®+=RA=+-—H
2018 2017
—Z-)\%§ —T—tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bisx AR®TTR ARETF T
Assets BgE
Non-current assets FREEE
Land use rights THuF R 6 67,545 69,405
Property, plant and equipment THE  IHNRE 7 490,236 510,213
Intangible assets BREE 8 899,668 817,284
Investment properties REEREE 9 1,816,206 1,721,690
Investments in associates B E 10 234,403 31,420
Deferred income tax assets EREmEHEE 24 49 55
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss JA A7 BEtE LS ABENEREE 12 421,456 6,286
Available-for-sale financial assets HNESHEE 16 - 50,053
Loans to related parties BYBEFER 13 464,537 59,160
Loans to third parties BIE=HEX 13 18,940 2910
4,419,040 3,268,476
Current assets mEEE
Inventories FE 14 8,436 14,057
Trade and other receivables JRE U AR 31 R E b R MK 13 286,615 319,557
Loans to related parties BTYBEFER 13 256,976 104,979
Entrusted loans ZHER 13 - 49,600
Loans to third parties BIE=FER 13 88,720 61,020
Contract assets EREE 5 494,662 -
Due from customers on implementation EhREFERARR
contracts 15 - 432,802
Available-for-sale financial assets A ESREE 16 - 396,818
Financial assets at fair value through profit AR EBEFTEBEEHTABEMN
or loss SREE 12 211,430 -
Pledged bank deposits BEHIRTEN 17 152 2254
Short-term bank deposits RERITER 17 359,674 1,095,820
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBEEEY 17 1,452,848 1,056,675
3,159,513 3,533,582
Total assets HEE 1,578,553 6,802,058
Liabilities &
Non-current liabilities FRBAR
Borrowings e 23 - 1,193,503
Deferred income tax liabilities EREFGHAE 24 179,319 160,598
179,319 1,354,101
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PNCETE TIVES

As at 31 December

®R+=R=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+tF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BisE AR®TTR AREFT
Current liabilities mEBAR
Trade and other payables FER BRI b FE 3K 25 580,716 678,120
Contract liabilities BREE 5 846,755 -
Advances from customers on implementation BUERFERERR
contracts 15 - 323,897
Borrowings B3 23 301,125 155,026
Current income tax liabilities EHREHAE 35,890 50,007
Deferred income EIEIA 26 102,081 197 827
1,866,567 1,404,877
Total liabilities HaR 2,045,886 2,758,978
Net assets BEE 5,532,667 4,043,080
Equity Ba
Equity attributable to owners of LFIRBEEES
the Company
Share capital [N 19 79,585 71,599
Share premium A aE 19 2,903,459 1,681,289
Other reserves Hi @ E 20 565,259 694,669
Retained earnings BEWE 21 1,917,757 1,547,784
5,466,060 3,995,341
Non-controlling interests FREFIHES 66,607 47739
Total equity wiEga 5,532,667 4,043,080

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in  ERAHIFRARETERMT—GFHE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

FOEEMANPBRRCHEFEN T NF=At=
Bt TRREZEHZ -

The financial statements on pages 89 to 212 were approved by the Board of
Directors on 13 March 2019 and were signed on its behalf.

Xu Shaochun Lin Bo
#oE Wik
Director Director

EZ EZE
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ULIUF
SOHEER

Year ended 31 December
#FE+-A=1+—HLEE

2018 2017
—Z-)\%F T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bk ARBTT AREFT
Revenue from contracts with customers HE P2 HNE REEMNRA 5,27 2,808,658 2,303,458
Cost of sales SHERAR 28 (514,339) (426,974)
Gross profit £7 2,294,319 1,876,484
Selling and marketing expenses HERKEER 28 (1,491,302) (1,235,882)
Administrative expenses THER 28 (334,342) (320,203)
Net impairment losses on financial assets FOREENMAREERBERE
and contract assets 28 (47,697) -
Research and development costs Mo kAR 28 (405,158) (345,317)
Fair value gains on investment properties REUREMENR BEZBUNE 9 94,516 96,419
Other income and gains — net HEaBARFG — 558 29 342,971 349,258
Operating profit wEmH 453,307 420,759
Finance income e 29,444 40,029
Finance costs HBER (30,481) (67,141)
Finance costs — net HSER - F8 31 (1,037) (27,112)
Share of losses of associates FERERENERNT 10 (4,240) (15,227)
Profit before income tax HEREr SR ATFE 448,030 378,420
Income tax expense FrEHER 32 (38,760) (54,808)
Profit for the year EEFE 409,270 323,612
Profit/(loss) attributable to: RRER:
Owners of the Company AOREMNEEA 412,106 310,004
Non-controlling interests JEim | M2 (2,836) 13,608
409,270 323,612
Earnings per share for profit atiributable to owners FORESKEARGRTN
of the Company (expressed in RMB cents per share)  SREEF (LUSBRAR%ES)
— Basic - 34 13.19 11.04
- Diluted — iz 34 12.45 10.75

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with

the accompanying notes.
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Year ended 31 December
#FE+-A=1+—HLEE

2018 2017
—Z-\%§ Tt E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TTT ARETT
Profit for the year FERH 409,270 323,612
Other comprehensive income: Hitug & :
Items that may not be reclassified to profit or loss: RAETeE B2 BnmEE -
Revaluation gains on properties upon transfer from property, plant and T REFREARE YR 2
equipment and land use rights to investment properties, net of tax ERHANG  MBHIE = 346,500
ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss: BEAE B ESEZEmi) B
Change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets, AHLESRHEENEEED
net of tax MERFE - 267
Reclassify to profit or loss upon disposal of available-for-sale REEAHREESHEEMES
financial assets ZEHER = (1,8%9)
Currency translation differences N E 67,029 11,227
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax FEEMIFSRT  MEBRRE 67,029 356,139
Total comprehensive income for the year FERGERE 476,299 679,751
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to: BEALaIRBER :
Owners of the Company ARREFFAA 479,135 666,143
Non-controlling interests FER MRS (2,836) 13,608
476,299 679,751

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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ULIUF )
BOERSER

Attributable to owners of the Company

FORERREARLN
Non-
Share Share Other  Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserves earnings Total interests equity
k% R¥EE EtRE  SwEE At EEHMER #ua
Notes ~ RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'OO0  RMB'0O0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RME’000
Wi AERTT ARRTR ARRTT ARRTR ABRTRT AERRTR ARRTR
Balance at 31 December 2017 ZE-tE+ZAZT-BER 11599 1681269 694,669 1547784 3995341 4739 4,043,080
Change in zccounting policy - IFRS 9 SHIREE - ARy BRE
BB 22 - - (267) 2%7 - - -
Balance at 1 January 2018 ZE-\E-R-0&R 71,599 1,681,289 694,402 1,548,051 3,995,341 47,739 4,043,080
Profitfor the year EEEA - - - M2106 412,106 (2,836) 409,210
Other comprehensive income/(loss) 4RI/ (BR)
Currency translaion difierences NEREER | - - 67,029 - 67,029 - 67,029
Total comprehensive income fRERA - - 67,020 412,106 479,135 (2,836) 476,209
Transactions with owners RERREANTS
Emplyees share option scheme: BIRHRETE
~ Value of employeg Services received -BIREEE 19 - 5,200 - - 5,200 - 5,200
— Procegds from shares issued - BRER 19 987 95,367 - - 96,354 - 96,354
Share award plan; SUEEEER
—Valug of employee services received - H%}IHW{“E 19 - 81,628 - - 81,628 - 81,628
- Transfer shares to the awardees upon vesting REEEBRNEGLEREA - (29,047) 14,937 - (14,110) - (14,110)
- Shares purchase for share award plan “M&Ej} HERERD ) - - (22,40) - (224,409) - (224,40)
Equity ransactions with non-controlling interests B3I EIEBEHR S 3 - - 13,296 - 13,296 21,704 35,000
Dividend distrbution BHAE 3 - - - (42,4000 (42,400) - (42,400
Conversion of convertble bonds EEESEER 23 6,999 1,068,932 - - 1,075,981 - 1,075,831
Total transactions with owners, recognised  BERHEALEEEADSH
directly in equity MR ANEE 7986 1222170  (196,172)  (42,400) 991,584 21,704 1,013,288
Balance at 31 December 2018 ZE-\E+ZA=t+-BER 79585 2,903,459 565,259 1,917,757 5,466,060 66,607 5,532,667
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in MEpHERBE)RF BRI E—HRE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Attributable to owners of the Company

KArERRA AR
Non-
Share Share Other Retained controlling
captal premium TESeIves gamings Total interests ~ Total equity
kx RARE  HtER  SRME Ai FEHMER SR
Notes RMB000 RMBO00 RMBO00 RMBO00 RMBO0D RMB000 RMBO00
B ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETRT ARETR ARETT ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2017 ZE-tE-A-AER 12552 1,765,324 400,154 1281760 3475810 60,356 3,936,166
Profit for the year EERF - - - 310,004 310004 13,608 303612
Other comprehensive incomey(loss) AttRaRH/(BR)
Revaluation gains on propertes upon transfer from  +30 REFHREARE N E R
roperty, plant and equipment and land use ights 2 BIEFIE - MBE
fo investment properties, net of fax - - 346,500 - 346,500 - 346,500
Change n fair value of available-forsale financial -~ AT ESBHEE AL EEED
assels 16 - - %7 - 2%7 - 2%7
Reclassify to profitor oss upon disposal of REETELELRERD
aveilable-for-sae financial assets S - - (1,895) - (1,895) - (1,855
Currncy ranslaton diferences e EE 2 - - 1.2 - 1.2 - 1
Total comprehensive income HeEE - - 356,139 310004 666,143 13,608 679,751
Transactions with owners RESREANZS
Employess share option scheme: BIRGRETS
~Value of employe services received -BIRBEE 19 - 0482 - - 0482 - 048
-~ Proceeds from shares issued - RRBMER 19 2%5 17,967 - - 1823 - 1823
Share award plan: R 2EEE
~Value of employe services received -BIRBEE 19 - 42391 5204 - 47615 - 47615
- Transfer shares to the awardees upon vesting.—— — REBRERHEBLERR A - (16,056) 1200 - (4,029) - (4,029)
- Shares purchased for share award plan - RA LB EFERD 0 - - (d081) - (d0.841) - (d0,841)
Buy-back of shares EER (A - - (133046) - (133046) - (133046)
Cancellation of shares FERG (1218) (148819 150,037 - - - -
Equity transactions with non-controlling interests  E3EREIEEREHR S % - - (55,029) - (55,029) (26229) (81.250)
Total transactions with owners, recognised  BERHEANEEEADSH
direcly in equity kg Lo ] By B0 e N A I 72 17X 1|
Balance at 31 December 2017 ZE-tE+ZAZT-BER 71599 1681269 694,669 1547784 3995341 41739 4,043,080

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Year ended 31 December

BF+-A=t+-BLEE
2018 2017
—Z-\%F EtE
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
k3 ARBTT ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities BEIDMRLRE
Cash generated from operations excluding net cash outflow in loans to third REEENRS (T8 EEEERLTE=S

parties from the micro-credt business ERMER L) 3 1,009,904 974,993
Net cash outflow in loans to third parties from the micro-Credit business PNEEEEERNE=FERNEFRENN (44,293) (63,930)
Interest paid B8 (25,946) (63,099)
Income tax paid BRFEH (34,150) (24,280)
Net cash inflow from operating activities EETHEL SRS 905,515 823,690
Cash flows from investing activities REZHNRALKE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BETHE  IBRR (34,505) (22,993)
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment HETHE THREXEMER 3 94 2137
Purchases of intangible assets BERVEE (372,217) (355,903)
Payment for acquisition of a subsidiary WETRAAMENREFE (2,688) -
Pledged bank deposits and short-term bank deposits withdrawn/ ERFAEIURERSTER (BN)/

(placed) - net Bt - 3% 738,248 (475,698)
Interest received BUFIE 43,269 39,831
Repayments received from entrusted loans ZiERA2IE 49,600 19,800
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BENLA BB E2EH A BaNER

(2017: available-for-sale financial assels) EE (ZT—+t5 UL ELREER) (3,865,843) (761,173)
Procesds from disposal of financial assets  fair valug through BEULA BEFEFDABENEREE

profit or loss (2017: available-for-sale financial asses) (Z2—+F  IftNESREE) 3,743,450 584,424
Loans provided to related parties BB RN ET (987,374) -
Repayments of loans received from related parties BB R T IREIER 30,000 -
Investments in associates REBLNF (128,668) (1212)
Net cash outflow from investing activities REZHMABRE (385,789) (970,647)
Cash flows from financing activities REZDNRERE
Proceeds from share options exercised ROITERER 19 96,354 18,232
Capital contribution from non-controlling interests FEHIMERNTE 3 35,000 -
Proceeds from borrowings EE Gt 35c) 328,500 -
Repayments of borrowings BEET 35(c) (258,226) (80.324)
Dividend paid DK E 3 (42,358) -
Payments for purchase of shares for share award plan BERMERHERE BRI A7E 19 (224,405) (40.841)
Payments for buy-back of shares ERERA 2 38 19 = (133,046)
Payments for acquisition of non-controlling interests in subsidiaries Ui SYNSE R g 2 (74,530) -
Net cash outflow from financing activities HETHELIHRSE (139,665) (235,979)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEMS (BD)/ B 380,061 (383,136)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents ExgE 2 16,112 (24,958)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year ENRLRELZEY 17 1,056,675 1464,769
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FREGRALEEN 17 1,452,848 1,056,675

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

88 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited  Annual Report 2018

LRAGESREATERNE 0




2.1

General information

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands in 1999 as an exempted company
with limited liability. The address of its place of business is Kingdee
Software Park, 2 Keji 12th Road South, Hi-tech Industrial Park, Nanshan
District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC").

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) business, including development
and sales of software, sales of hardware, provision of implementation
services, software solution consulting services, maintenance services,
upgrade services and other supporting services; and cloud services,
including enterprise cloud, big data cloud, finance cloud and mobile
office cloud.

The Company has its primary listing on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) since 15 February 2001.

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”), unless
otherwise stated.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS”). The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-sale financial
assets and investment properties, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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(a)

90

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of preparation (continued)
New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the
first time for their annual reporting period beginning on 1 January 2018:

e |FRS 9 Financial Instruments

e |FRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

e (lassification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions — Amendments to IFRS 2

e Annual Improvements 2014-2016 cycle (Investment in associates
and joint ventures — Amendments to IAS 28)

e Transfers to Investment Property — Amendments to IAS 40

e Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration

The Group had to change its accounting policies and make certain

adjustments following the adoption of IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 (Details refer

to Note 2.2). Most of the other amendments listed above did not have any

material impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not
expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.
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2.1
(b)

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2 EFOHBREE (K
Basis of preparation (continued) 21 BWREE (&)
New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing (b)) WREMRFZREERRAFAGOFERN BURR
standards which have been issued but not yet effective and BHSmT :
have not been early adopted by the Group are as follows:
Effective for
the financial year
beginning on or after
EUATRERES 2 &
BB TR R AR
IFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019
B % 1 T e 5 2R B 35 165% HE —hE—A—R
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over income tax treatment 1 January 2019
B 1 T e 5 2 B R R S5 235 ARMEEMRTISRE “E-NE—R—H
Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment features with negative compensation 1 January 2019
B M S ERIE % (185T) R RSB )R ATE T —hWE—HA—H
Amendments to IAS 19 Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement 1 January 2019
B & st RIE195 (1BF]) FEEN - HIASEE —hE—A—H
Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures 1 January 2019
Bl @ st ERIE 285, (185]) HEES R ENRGER “E-NE-R—H
Annual improvements 2015-2017 1 January 2019
2015 -2017 4 EURR A1 15 R 5 2 8 —hW—HA—H
FEYEEER
IFRS 3 Definition of business 1 January 2020
B B B R S 2RI 35% E7 00t —ZT-T¥-A—H
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of material 1 January 2020
Bl @t ERIE1R RS8R (1BF]) EZUNES —T_TF-H—H
IFRS 17 Insurance contract 1 January 2021
BB B T SR S AR A B 1757 REEH —4%—A—H
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associates To be determined
or joint ventures
B % 1 T e 5 2R B 35 105% &% REEHHBES R LR HANBELEILE #E

BIFR &5 ERI 285 (B7])

The above new standards and amendments to standards and
interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019 and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated
financial statements. The Group’s assessment of the impact of these new
standards and interpretations is set out below.

BoCEMOF e EMNBEER —T-NF-A—AR
EEN - BBEERBE-ZT-/\FT_A=t—ALH
HEMRRBIRAN B ARBEREFRA L SERM
fRiE o REEY I EERNBROZEFELT -
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2.1
(b)

92

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of preparation (continued)

New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing
standards which have been issued but not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group are as follows:
(continued)

IFRS 16 Leases

Nature of change

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result in almost all leases
being recognised on the statement of financial position by lessees, as the
distinction between operating and finance leases is removed. Under the
new standard, an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial
liability to pay rentals are recognised. The only exceptions are short-term
and low-value leases.

Impact

The Group has set up a project team which has reviewed all of the
Group’s leasing arrangements over the last year in light of the new
lease accounting rules in IFRS 16. The standard will affect primarily the
accounting for the Group’s operating leases.

As at the reporting date, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease
commitments of RMB58,797,000, see Note 37. Of these commitments,
there are no short-term leases or low value leases which will both be
recognised on a straight-line basis as expense in profit or loss.

For the remaining lease commitments, the Group expects to recognise
right-of-use assets of approximately RMB55,000,000 and lease liabilities
of approximately RMB55,000,000 on 1 January 2019.

The Group expects that net profit will decrease by approximately
RMB400,000 for 2019 due to the amortisation of right-of-use assets and
interest recognised on lease liabilities under the new rules.

Operating cash flows will increase and financing cash flows decrease
by approximately RMB2,600,000 in 2019 as repayment of the principal
portion of the lease liabilities will be classified as cash flows used in
financing activities.

The impact of the adoption of this new standard is not significant on

lessor accounting. However, some additional disclosures will be required
from next year.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Basis of preparation (continued)

New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing
standards which have been issued but not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group are as follows:
(continued)

IFRS 16 Leases (continued)

Date of adoption by Group

The Group will apply the standard from its mandatory adoption date of
1 January 2019. The Group intends to apply the simplified transition
approach and will not restate comparative amounts for the year prior to
first adoption. Right-of-use assets for property leases will be measured
on transition as if the new rules had always been applied. All other right-
of-use assets will be measured at the amount of the lease liability on
adoption (adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease expenses).

There are no other standards that are not yet effective and that would be
expected to have a material impact on the Group in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

Changes in accounting policies

This Note explains the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers on the
Group’s financial statements.

2.2.1 Impact on the financial statements

As a result of the changes in the entity’s accounting policies, prior year
financial statements had not been restated. As explained in Note 2.2.2
below, IFRS 9 was adopted without restating comparative information. The
reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the new impairment
rules are therefore not reflected in the restated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2017, but are recognised in the opening
statement of financial position on 1 January 2018.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

2.2.1 Impact on the financial statements (continued)

The following tables show the adjustments recognised for each individual
line item. Line items that were not affected by the changes have not
been included. As a result, the sub-totals and totals disclosed cannot be
recalculated from the numbers provided. The adjustments are explained in

more detail below.

EEEHRREE (1K)
22 EHBFEE (#)
2.2.1 HRERRHLE (§)
TRE2FTHEBERREENAER - T
BEABEEA - Bt - AIREN/ N E EEREN
TH2FNBFEMESGT - MEBRBRERCPRE
BIETTT BB

XY ENRERA

Consolidated statement of financial position ~ EE&ER (M%) 31 Dec 2017 As
(extract) originally presented IFRS 15 IFRS 9 1 Jan 2018
“E-+F BREBHE  ERRERS Z2-\E
+-A=1-8 BRI E15% B B95 —-B-A
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARETT ARBTT AR%TR
Non-current assets FRDEE
Financial assets at fair valug through profit or AAnBE:2AEEYEH
loss (‘FVPL’) ANBHHEREE 6,286 - 50,053 56,339
Available-for-sale financial assets (at fair value through ATt HESREE (AR B
other comprehensive income (“0CI") (“FVOCI’) BFHH AE TS NE) 50,083 - (50,053) -
Current assets nDEE
Trade and other receivables YR T R E R 319,557 - - 319,557
Contract assets BREE - 432,802 - 432,802
Due from customers on implementation contracts ERREERART 432,802 (432.802) - =
Financial assets at FVPL IRAEEFZAREEH
NEGMERERE - 396,818 396,818
Available-for-sale financial assets AHHESREE 396,818 - (396,818) -
Total assets HyE 6,802,058 - - 6,802,058
Current liabilities wBAR
Trade and other payables ENERREMENT 678,120 (185,023) - 493,097
Contract liabilties AAEE - 622,233 - 622,233
Advances from customers on implementation BREPERARR
contracts 323,807 (323,897) - -
Deferred income BIERA 197827 (113,313) - 84,514
Total liabilities HAaR 2,158978 - - 2,758,978
Other reserves HivfE 694,669 - (267) 694,402
Retained earnings Brrls 1547784 - 267 1,548,051
Total equity s 4,043,080 - - 4,043,080
Total equity and liabilities HERRAR 6,802,058 - - 6,802,058
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
2.2.2 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 replaces the provisions of IAS 39 that relate to the recognition,
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities,
derecognition of financial instruments, impairment of financial assets and

hedge accounting.

The adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments from 1 January 2018
resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the
amounts recognised in the financial statements. The new accounting
policies are set out in Note 2.13 and 2.16 below. In accordance with the
transitional provisions in IFRS 9(7.2.15) and (7.2.26), comparative figures

have not been restated.

The total impact on the Group’s retained earnings as at 1 January 2018 is

as follows:

EEEHBRHE (1K)
22 ERBFEE (#)

2.2.2 ERMEREENEIE&MIR

BIRE RS R R BOREAK T BN & 5t 2 R 55395 7
RERMEEMERAENER  HBEGE  2RTA
RILHER - SREENERENSHRENRRRE

Bk IBAERLBET

T

BT N\F—A— BRENERE RS %R 59
HIeBMIA BREHBENESDNHTHREOSE
B o M BRRE N T M2 137FT 52,16 - RIEE
PREA RS IR I 998 (572158 MET7.2.268) KB

RZF-\F—A—-0 BRASHASENTIERE

2018
g0\
Notes RMB’000
BisE N &
Closing retained earnings 31 December — 1AS 39 T A=+ BHRBTREHE -
IREBR @RI E 305k & 1,547,784
Transfer from the fair value reserve of available-for-sale financial ~— HAIEHEREENEE AL EBEHER
assets now measured at FVPL HEs)H A8 () 267
Adjustment to retained earnings from adoption of IFRS 9 on EEZZ-N\F—A— AN BRI KRS
1 January 2018 28] BIRABMD T 267
Opening retained earnings 1 January — IFRS 9 —B— BB T REHE - BB
WEEREIRITE 1,548,051
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
2.2.2 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

96

Adjustments made to line items in the consolidated income statement and
the consolidated statement of other comprehensive income for the 2017
reporting period relate to:

2 EEEHBREE (8)

22 WHBFEE (#)

2.2.2 ERMBHEEANEIR(&MIR I(])
T FREHARBRR A MEA RERERH
B

2017

Tt

Notes RMB’000

Pt aE ARETT

Decrease of administrative expenses ERBRARD . (38,277)

Increase of net impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets &R EEEAREEMNFETRAERE 38,277

Adjustments of operating profit RERTIRE -

Adjustments of income tax expense Ty i Eik -
Adjustments of profit and total comprehensive income FAKGRE

for the year

* Reclassification of impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets
required as a result of consequential changes made to IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements.

Classification and measurement

On 1 January 2018 (the date of initial application of IFRS 9), the Group’s
management has assessed which business models apply to the financial
assets held by the Group and has classified its financial instruments into
the appropriate IFRS 9 categories. The main effects resulting from this
reclassification are as follows:

REFFHZT - BRETHERS  CHEREE
HARBENAEFRRIFLENENNE -

() PDEMFE
RZE-NF—A—R (ARMBRELEREIRER
MRIERAS) AEBERENG T EANAEES
BERMBENBERN  URESRTARBERNE
BREENFIRBENE - ZENENTIBFENT

Financial assets - 1 January 2018 RZE-\E—F—H- &H&E

FVOCI (Available-for-sale 2017) FVPL
ARRESBHARMES ARRELD
Wi (ZB—tF : MHIHE) HARS

Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
MizE AREFTT AREFTL
Closing halance 31 December 2017 - IAS 39* “E-LENRRE - REERGHE
HIMER 446,871 6,286
Reclassify investments from available-for-sale to FVPL Al HEMREEFTHEANL L BEFEAES
B \BEMEREE (i) (446,871) 446,871
Opening halance 1 January 2018 - IFRS 9 “E-\ERVBE - RRERMBEEER
L - 453,157

* The closing balances as at 31 December 2017 represented available-for-sale
financial assets under FVOCI. These reclassifications have no impact on the
measurement categories.

W =E—tF+ A=+ -HNERBERARAEE
STERHEPH ARG RENEREE THOTHRE
EERAE - WBHNDBYHERIEYE -
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
2.2.2 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
(a) Classification and measurement (continued)
The impact of these changes on the Group’s equity is as follows:

2 EEEHBRNE (8)

22 ERBFEE (#)

2.2.2 BRMBEREEANTIE@MIR ()

() DEMHE (B)
ZERYHARENERTENT -

Effect on retained

Effect on AFS reserves earnings
HUEHESMEE
4 foh 7 HEFRRNKE
Notes RMB000 RMB'000
fizE ARETR ARBTT
Closing balance 31 December 2017 - 1AS 39* ZE—+tF+ A=+ REFRGE -
REE R ERSEMAH 27 -
Transfer of the fair value reserve of available-for-  # R HENREEH DB ANL AL BEFE
sale financial assets now measured at FVPL BEES I ABRNLREE (i (267) 27
Opening balance - IFRS 9 HMBHE - REERMEREE
ELL g - 267

(i) Reclassification from available-for-sale to FVPL

Investments in wealth management products were reclassified from
available-for-sale to financial assets at FVPL (RMB446,871,000 as at 1
January 2018). They do not meet the IFRS 9 criteria for classification at
amortised cost, because their cash flows do not represent solely payments
of principal and interest.

Related fair value gains of RMB267,000 were transferred from the
available-for-sale financial assets reserve to retained earnings on 1
January 2018.

() ARG EEREEL LS BB E ARZE AR
BHERRARTRHNESREEENEENRAEE
AERARYHARENEREE (R /\F— A
—H - AR¥446871,00070) - MR ARB L REL 3
ERRHASMMENZN - EMATTEERRBRS
ERFIRDBRIUNE R BHORE -

HBEARBENGARKL00THAIRLECRERE
REEA—Z-N\F-A-BNEBFNE -
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
2.2.2 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

EEEHRREE (1K)
22 WHBFEE (#)
2.2.2 ERMBHEEANEIR(&MIR I(])

(a) Classification and measurement (continued) (@) PDEMEE (&)
(i) Reclassifications of financial instruments on adoption of IFRS 9 (i) BREREG S F R EEREIRNENE
Measurement category Carrying amount
HEHR RE&HE
Original (IAS 39) New (IFRS 9) Original New Difference*
REER (BREEER  HEN (BRPHHEER
SB395%) ELL ) [REER HaER b3
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETL ARETL ARETR
Non-current financial assets
FmEEE
Equity investment in certain preferred shares ~ FVPL FVPL 6,286 6,286 -
BERLRNRERE NAnBEFEEHES UAREEFNEEEEY
FAER FTABER
Wealth management products Available for sale FVPL 50,053 50,053 -
B ERD AHEE WAREBEAEEEES
FABR
Loans to related parties Amortised cost Amortised cost 59,160 59,160 -
BYHE A ER BRER BARCR
Loans to third parties Amortised cost Amortised cost 2,910 2,910 -
BYE=RER BRI BARECR
Current financial assets
mERE
Trade and other receivables Amortised cost Amortised cost 319,557 319,557 -
JE AR R I EL A AT 5K BARR BARECR
Loans to related parties Amortised cost Amortised cost 104,979 104,979 -
YR ET BARR BARR
Entrusted loans Amortised cost Amortised cost 49,600 49,600 -
ZEX BREAR BRR
Loans to third parties Amortised cost Amortised cost 61,020 61,020 -
BTE=HER BREAR BARR
Wealth management products Available for sale FVPL 396,818 396,818 -
BYEm AfHE DAREBEFTEEEEY
AR
Pledged bank deposits Amortised cost Amortised cost
ERRITER BREAK BRKA 2,254 2,254 -
Short-term bank deposits Amortised cost Amortised cost 1,095,820 1,095,820 -
REBRITER BREAR BRI
Cash and cash equivalents Amortised cost Amortised cost 1,056,675 1,056,675 -
RekBReEED BRMAR BRI
* The differences noted in this column, if any, are the result of applying * DEMERNES SRR TESERRLAERNHE
the new expected credit loss model. The reclassifications of the financial S8 BB RS ERERN ARG SR TAS
instruments on adoption of IFRS 9 did not result in any changes to DEEREE T EMER ERRE o
measurements.
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2.2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Changes in accounting policies (continued)

2.2.2 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

(b)

(i)

(1)

(iii)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has four types of financial assets that are subject to IFRS 9's
new expected credit 1oss model:

e  Trade receivables

e (ontract assets

e Loan to third parties and

e Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group was required to revise its impairment methodology under
IFRS 9 for each of these classes of assets. The impact of the change
in impairment methodology on the Group’s retained earnings was not
material.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected
credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables and contract assets. This resulted in immaterial increase of
the loss allowance on 1 January 2018 for trade receivables and contract
assets. Note 3.1(b) provides for details about the calculation of the
allowance.

The loss allowance increased by a further RMB11,187,000 to
RMB128,599,000 for trade receivables. As at 31 December 2018, the loss
allowance provision for contract assets was not material.

Loan to third parties

The Group’s loan to third parties at amortised cost, was considered to
have low credit risk, and the loss allowance recognised during the year
was therefore limited to 12 months expected losses. Applying the expected
credit risk model resulted in the recognition of a loss allowance of
approximately RMBG646,000 on 1 January 2018 (previous loss allowance
was approximately to RMB646,000).

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, pledged bank
deposits, short-term bank deposits, other receivables, entrusted loans and
loans to related parties also subject to the impairment requirements of
IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was immaterial.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
2.2.3 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
from 1 January 2018 which resulted in changes in accounting policies
and adjustments to the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
In accordance with the transition provisions in IFRS 15, the Group
elected a modified retrospective approach for the adoption. In summary,
the following adjustments were made to the amounts recognised in the
statement of financial position at the date of initial application (1 January

EEREHBERE ()

22 EHBFEE (#)
223 REERMEREENSIGR BEFZANEREE

B A |

AEEE T \F—H—BRENERI RS &R
FOREFEPZANARELNKA] BHEFHRK
KEETMEHBERROBE - REDRHBERELE]
FIROBEENR - AEEBWEA THER - ERE
@ AEEREARMA (CE-\F-A—R) HE
ERBRMEAENT :

2018):

IAS 18 carrying IFRS 15 cartying

amount 31 Dec amount 1 Jan

2017 Reclassification ~ Remeasurements 2018

BRERME

RER e HEEn

F18%51 57 B0 FIERA

REEE FERE

e ZE-\§

+ZA=1-H ENE EifirE -A-H

Notes RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB’000

fizE ARBTT AREFL ARBTT ABBTT

Due from customers on implementation contracts EUREFEEHART 432,802 (432,802) - -
Contract assets ARAE - 432,802 - 432,802
Trade and other payables EAER R LR 678,120 (185,023) - 493,007
Advances from customers on implementation contracts B EFEMA R 323,897 (323,897) - -
Deferred income BT 197,827 (113,313) - 84,514
Contract liabilities ARBE - 622,233 - 622,233
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There was no impact on the Group’s retained earnings as at 1 January
2018.

The Group’s revenue includes, separately or in combination, revenues
from ERP business (including sales of software, sales of hardware,
provision of implementation services, software solution consulting
services, maintenance services, upgrade services, and other supporting
services) and cloud services (including enterprise cloud, big data cloud,
finance cloud and mobile office cloud). Sales of standard software,
hardware and related products are recognised at a point in time while
sales of services are recognised over time in the period the services are
provided.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

2.2.3 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (continued)

Contract assets are recognised when the the Group transfers control
of products or services to a customer before the customer pays
consideration and has not yet got unconditional right to consideration for
its performance.

Contract liabilities are recognised when the payment is made or the
payment is due (whichever is earlier), if customers pay consideration, or
have a right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before
the Group transfers products or services to the customer.

As a result, other than certain reclassifications mentioned above, the
adoption of IFRS 15 did not result in any material impact on the financial
statements as the timing of revenue recognition on sales of products and
services is not changed.

Presentation of assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers

The Group has also changed the presentation of certain amounts in the
statement of financial position to reflect the terminology of IFRS 15:

e  (ontract assets recognised in relation to implementation contracts
were previously presented as due from customers on implementation
contracts (RMB432,802,000 as at 1 January 2018).

e (ontract liabilities in relation to software implementation and cloud
services contracts were previously included in deferred income
(RMB113,313,000 as at 1 January 2018).

e  Contract liabilities in relation to implementation contracts
were previously presented as advances from customers on
implementation contracts (RMB323,897,000 as at 1 January 2018).

e (ontract liabilities in relation to advances from customers were
previously included in trade and other payables (RMB185,023,000
as at 1 January 2018).
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2.3
2.3.1

102

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Subsidiaries
Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business
combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at
their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests in the
acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are measured at either fair value or the present ownership
interests’ proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by IFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date
carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or
losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value
of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability
is recognised in accordance with IAS 39 in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.3.1 Consolidation (continued)

(a)

Business combinations (continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and
previously held interest measured is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the consolidated income statement
(Note 2.10).

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of
control are accounted for as equity transactions — that is, as transactions
with the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The
difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant
share acquired of the carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary
is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity
is re-measured to its fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting
for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. It means that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable IFRS.
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2
2.3

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Subsidiaries (continued)

2.3.2 Separate financial statements

2.4

104 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost also includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving dividends from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend
is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence
but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted
for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the
investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the profit or
loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The Group’s investment
in associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the
acquisition of the ownership interest in an associate, any difference
between the cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for
as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in
the consolidated income statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying
amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an
associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate.

2
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2.5

2.6
(a)

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Associates (continued)

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any
objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired.
If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as
the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to “share of losses of
associates” in the consolidated income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions
between the Group and its associate are recognised in the Group’s
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s interests in
the associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are recognised
in the consolidated income statement.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal
reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as
the executive directors of the Company that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities
are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.
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2.6
(b)

106 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Foreign currency translation (continued)
Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash
and cash equivalents are presented in the consolidated income statement
within “Finance income or costs”. Foreign gains and losses that relate
to monetary items forming part of net investment in a foreign operation
are presented in consolidated statement of comprehensive income within
OCI. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated income statement within “Other gains — net”.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities
such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
in profit or loss as part of the fair value gains or losses. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assets, such as equities classified
as available for sale, are included in OCI.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which
has the currency of a hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that
statement of financial position;

(ii) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated
at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly offices. Property, plant and equipment is stated
at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged in the consolidated income statement during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
costs to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

- Buildings 15-40 years
- Computer and related equipment 5 years
- Office equipment 5 years
- Motor vehicles 5 years

the shorter of the lease term
or the useful life

- Leasehold improvements

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.12).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds
with the carrying amount and are recognised within “Other gains — net” in
the consolidated income statement.
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2.9

108 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Investment properties

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold land and buildings,
is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and
that is not occupied by the Group. It also includes properties that are
being constructed or developed for future use as investment properties.
Land held under operating leases are accounted for as investment
properties when the rest of the definition of an investment property is
met. In such cases, the operating leases concerned are accounted for as
if they were finance leases. Investment property is initially measured at
cost, including related transaction costs and where applicable borrowing
costs. After initial recognition, investment properties are carried at fair
value, representing open market value determined at each reporting date
by external valuers. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted,
if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of
the specific asset. If the information is not available, the Group uses
alternative valuation methods such as recent prices on less active markets
or discounted cash flow projections. Changes in fair values are recorded
in the consolidated income statement as part of a valuation gain or loss in
“fair value gains on investment properties”.

If an item of owner-occupied property becomes an investment property
because its use has changed, any difference resulting between the carrying
amount and the fair value of this item at the date of transfer is treated in
the same way as a revaluation under IAS 16. Any resulting increase in
the carrying amount of the property is recognised in profit or loss to the
extent that it reverses a previous impairment loss, with any remaining
increase recognised in other comprehensive income and increase directly
to equity in revaluation surplus within equity. Any resulting decrease
in the carrying amount of the property is initially charged in other
comprehensive income against any previously recognised revaluation
surplus, with any remaining decrease charged to profit or loss.

Land-use rights

Land-use rights represent lease payments paid or payable for the land use
rights less accumulated amortisation and are recognised as an expense in
the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease
period of the land use rights.

2.9
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.10 Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
the identifiable net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs"),
or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill
is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is
monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which
is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal.
Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.

Research and development expenditure and web site
development costs

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs
incurred on development projects (relating to the design and testing of
new and improved products) or expenditures incurred in the development
of a web site related to the application and infrastructure development are
recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

— it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it
will be available for use;

— management intends to complete the software product and use or
sell it;

— there is an ability to use or sell the software product;

— it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate
probable future economic benefits;
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.10 Intangible assets (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

110 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Research and development expenditure and web site
development costs (continued)

— adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the software product are available;
and

— the expenditure attributable to the software product during its
development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised include the software
development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant
overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are
recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs previously
recognised as an expense is not recognised as an asset in a subsequent
period.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and
amortised from when the asset is ready for use on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives not exceeding 5 years.

Acquired trademarks, licenses and copyrights

Separately acquired trademarks, licenses and copyrights are shown
at historical cost. Trademarks, licenses and copyrights acquired in a
business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Trademarks, licenses and copyrights have a finite useful life and are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of Trademarks, licenses
and copyrights over their estimated useful lives not exceeding 5 years.

Computer software for own use

Computer software licenses for own use are capitalised on the basis of
the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. These
costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives not exceeding 5
years.

Acquired customer relationship

Customer relationship acquired in a business combination are recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. Customer relationship is carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation, amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost of customer relationship over 5
years.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.11 Shares held for share award plan

The consideration paid by the share award plan (Note 22(b)) for
purchasing the Company’s shares from the market, including any directly
attributable incremental cost, is recorded in “Reserves” and the amount is
presented as a deduction from total equity.

2.12 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or
intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and
are tested annually for impairment. Assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.13 Financial assets
2.13.1 Classification

From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through OCI
or through profit or loss), and

e those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing
the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded
in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity instruments that are
not held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for
the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business
model for managing those assets changes.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.13 Financial assets (continued)
2.13.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

2.13.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value
plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss
(FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety
when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal
and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics
of the asset. There are two measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

e Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented
in ‘Other gains — net’ together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate ling item in the
income statement.

e  FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or
FVOC! are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or
loss and presented net within ‘Other gains — net” in the period in
which it arises.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.13 Financial assets (continued)

2.13.3 Measurement (continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value.
Where the Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in
other gains/(losses) in the income statement as applicable. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair
value.

2.13.4 Impairment

From 1 January 2018, the Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to
be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see Note 3.1(b)
for further details.

For other financial assets at amortised cost, the loss allowance provision
as at 31 December 2018 was assessed immaterial, please refer to Note
3.1(b) for further details.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.13 Financial assets (continued)

2.13.5 Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017

114 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

The Group has applied IFRS 9 retrospectively, but has elected not to
restate comparative information. As a result, the comparative information
provided continues to be accounted for in accordance with the Group’s
previous accounting policy.

Until 31 December 2017 the Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories:

e financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
e |oans and receivables, and
e available-for-sale financial assets.

The classification determined is based on the purpose for which the
investments were acquired. Management determined the classification of
its investments at initial recognition and, in the case of assets classified
as held-to-maturity, re-evaluated this designation at the end of each
reporting period.

Reclassification

The Group could choose to reclassify a non-derivative trading financial
asset out of the held for trading category if the financial asset was no
longer held for the purpose of selling it in the near term. Financial assets
other than loans and receivables were permitted to be reclassified out
of the held for trading category only in rare circumstances arising from
a single event that was unusual and highly unlikely to recur in the near
term. In addition, the Group could choose to reclassify financial assets
that would meet the definition of loans and receivables out of the held
for trading or available-for-sale categories if the Group had the intention
and ability to hold these financial assets for the foreseeable future or until
maturity at the date of reclassification.

Reclassifications were made at fair value as of the reclassification date.
Fair value became the new cost or amortised cost as applicable, and no
reversals of fair value gains or losses recorded before reclassification
date were subsequently made. Effective interest rates for financial assets
reclassified to loans and receivables and held-to-maturity categories were
determined at the reclassification date. Further increases in estimates of
cash flows adjusted effective interest rates prospectively.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.13 Financial assets (continued)

2.13.5Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017

(b)

(continued)
Subsequent measurement

The measurement at initial recognition did not change on adoption of
IFRS 9, see description above.

Subsequent to the initial, recognition loans and receivables and held-to-
maturity investments were subsequently carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at FVPL were
subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in
the fair value are recognised as follows:

e for ‘financial assets at FVPL — in profit or loss within other gains/
(losses)

e for available-for-sale financial assets that are monetary securities
denominated in a foreign currency — translation differences related
to changes in the amortised cost of the security were recognised
in profit or loss and other changes in the carrying amount were
recognised in other comprehensive income

e for other monetary and non-monetary securities classified as
available-for-sale — in other comprehensive income.

Details on how the fair value of financial instruments is determined are
disclosed in Note 3.3.

When securities classified as available-for-sale were sold, the
accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in other comprehensive
income were reclassified to profit or loss as other gains/(losses) from
investment securities.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.13 Financial assets (continued)
2.13.5Accounting policies applied until 31 December 2017

(c)

116 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

(continued)
Impairment

The Group assessed at the end of each reporting period whether there was
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets was
impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets was impaired
and impairment losses were incurred only if there was objective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or
gvents) had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or group of financial assets that could be reliably estimated. In the
case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost was
considered an indicator that the assets are impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost

For loans and receivables, the amount of the loss was measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that had not
been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate. The carrying amount of the asset was reduced and the amount of
the loss was recognised in profit or loss. If a loan or held-to-maturity
investment had a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring
any impairment loss was the current effective interest rate determined
under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group could measure
impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable
market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreased
and the decrease could be related objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss
was recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment testing of trade receivables is described in Note 3.1(b).

Assets classified as available-for-sale

If there was objective evidence of impairment for available-for-sale
financial assets, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss — was
removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses on equity instruments that were recognised in profit or
were not reversed through profit or loss in a subsequent period.

If the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale
increased in a subsequent period and the increase could be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in
profit or loss, the impairment loss was reversed through profit or loss.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.14 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in
the statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the counterparty.

2.15 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on weighted average basis. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and applicable variable selling expenses.

2.16 Trade and other receivahles

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for software sold
or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection
of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for impairment.

2.17 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months
or less, and bank overdrafts, but excludes pledged bank deposits. In the
consolidated statement of financial position, bank overdrafts are shown
within borrowings in current liabilities.

2.18 Share capital and shares held for employee share scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s share capital
(treasury shares), for example as the result of a share buy-back or
a share-based payment plan, the consideration paid, including any
directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted
from equity attributable to the Company’s owners until the shares are
cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently reissued,
any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental
transaction costs and the related income tax effects, if any, is included in
equity attributable to the Company’s owners.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.19 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for products or services that have
been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade
payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.20 Borrowings

118 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any
differences between proceeds (net of transaction cost) and the redemption
value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

The fair value of the liability portion of a convertible bond is determined
using a market interest rate for an equivalent non-convertible bond.
This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until
extinguished on conversion or maturity of the bond. The remainder of the
proceeds is allocated to the conversion option. This is recognised and
included in shareholders’ equity, net of income tax effects.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement of financial
position when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a
financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party
and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income or
finance costs.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and the entity
issues equity instruments to a creditor to extinguish all or part of the
liability (debt for equity swap), a gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss, which is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability and the fair value of the equity instruments issued.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.20 Borrowings (continued)

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting period.

2.21 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

2.22 Compound financial instruments

Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise
convertible bond that can be converted to share capital at the option of the
holder, and the number of shares to be issued does not vary with changes
in their fair value.

The liability component of a compound financial instrument is recognised
initially at the fair value of a similar liability that does not have an equity
conversion option. The equity component is recognised initially at the
difference between the fair value of the compound financial instrument as
a whole and the fair value of the liability component, which is included in
shareholders’ equity in other reserves. Any directly attributable transaction
costs are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to
their initial carrying amounts.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound
financial instrument is measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The equity component of a compound financial
instrument is not re-measured subsequent to initial recognition except on
CONVErSion Or expiry.

The liability component of a convertible instrument is classified as current
unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.23 Current and deferred income tax

(a)

(b)

120 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is
recognised in the consolidated income statement, except to the extent that
it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax
Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of
the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or 10ss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised
or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment property that is
measured at fair value is determined assuming the property will be
recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.23 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b)

(c)

Deferred income tax (continued)
Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary
differences arising from investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Generally the Group is unable to control the reversal of the temporary
difference for associates. Only where there is an agreement in place
that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal of the temporary
difference in the foreseeable future, deferred tax liability in relation to
taxable temporary difference arising from the associate’s undistributed
profits is not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible temporary
differences arising from investments in subsidiaries and associates only
to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference will reverse in
the future and there is sufficient taxable profit available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when the deferred income taxed assets and liabilities relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances
on a net basis.

2.24 Employee benefits
(a) Retirement benefits

The Group provides defined contribution retirement plans based on local
laws and regulations. The plans cover full-time employees and provide
for contributions at certain percentage of salary as determined by the
respective local government authorities. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions
are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid
contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund
or a reduction in the future payments is available.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.24 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

122 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by
the Group before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a)
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and
(b) when the entity recognises costs for a restructuring that is within the
scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment of termination benefits. In the
case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination
benefits are measured based on the number of employees expected to
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of
the reporting period are discounted to their present value.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-
sharing, based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit
attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The
Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there
is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date. Employee
entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.25 Share-based payment

(a) Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation
(including share option schemes and share award plans), under which
the entity receives services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (including share option and awarded shares) of the Group.
The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant
of the options is recognised as an expense over the vesting period.

For grant of share options, the total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the fair value of the options granted, which includes any
market performance conditions (for example, the Company’s share price);
but excludes the impact of any service and non-market performance
vesting conditions (for example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a specified time period); and
includes the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the
requirement for employees to hold shares for a specified period of time).
For grant of award shares, the total amount to be expensed is determined
by reference to the market price of the Company’s shares at the grant
date. The Group also adopts valuation technique to assess the fair value
of other equity instruments of the Group granted under the share-based
compensation plans as appropriate.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the
number of shares under options and awarded shares that are expected to
vest based on the non-marketing performance and service conditions. It
recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the
income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services
in advance of the grant date and therefore the grant date fair value is
estimated for the purposes of recognising the expense during the period
between service commencement period and grant date.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The
proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited to share capital and share premium.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.25 Share-based payment (continued)

(b)

(c)

Cash-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group granted certain shares to the eligible employees during the
year (see Note 22(c) for details), which are to be settled in cash based
on the share price of the Company's shares. The Group measures the
employee services received and the liability to pay at the grant date at the
fair value of the liability. The fair value of the employee services received
is recognised as an expense over the vesting period. Until the liability
is settled, the fair value of the liability is remeasured at the end of each
reporting period and at the settlement date, with any changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss for the period.

Share-based payment transactions among group entities

The grant by the Company of its equity instruments to the employees of
subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital contribution.
The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the
grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase
to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity in the parent entity accounts.

2.26 Provisions

124 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.27 Revenue recognition

The Group derives revenue separately or in combination, from ERP
business (including sales of software, sales of hardware, provision
of implementation services, software solution consulting services,
maintenance services, upgrade services, and other supporting services)
and cloud services (including enterprise cloud, big data cloud, finance
cloud and mobile office cloud).

Softwares mainly include Kingdee EAS, Kingdee K-3 wise and KIS, which
are sold either through distributors or to the end customers directly.
Cloud services mainly include Kingdee Cloud, Guanyi Cloud and Jingdou
Cloud, which are sold to the end customers directly.

Under IAS 18

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable for the sale of products (including license and hardware)
and services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is
presented net of value-added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after
elimination of sales made within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the
entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities.
The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until
all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. The Group bases
its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of
customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Under IFRS 15

The Group enters into contracts with end customers that can include
combination of standard software, hardware and services which are
accounted for as separate performance obligations because they are
capable of being distinct and generally there is no significant modification
or integration and they are not highly dependent with each other. The
Group only sells standard software to distributors. Both distributors
and end customers are regarded as direct customers of the Group as
distributors can control the software and further resell it or sell combined
with other product and related services to end customers.
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2.27

(a)

126

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Under IFRS 15 (continued)

The transaction price is the price after discount and is a fixed amount
upon signing the contract. The products cannot be returned unless
significant problems found, which rarely happens. The transaction price
in an arrangement is allocated to each separate performance obligation
based on the relative standalone selling prices of the products or services
being provided to the customer.

The Group recognises revenue when control of the promised products
or service is transferred to the customer. The customer obtains control
of a product or service if it has the ability to direct the use of and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits from that product or service.

Sales of standard software and hardware

Standard software is a right to use license because the software has
standalone functionality and the customer can use the software as it is
available at a point in time. Licenses are typically delivered by providing
the customer an activation code with access to download the software.
The Group recognises revenue for such licenses at a point in time when
the customer has received licenses or the activation code and thus has
control over the software and the Group has present right to payment.
In case there is an update of the standard software, end customers or
distributors are required to pay additional consideration to buy upgraded
version.

Sale of hardware and related products are recognised at a point in time

when the products are delivered and the end customers have physical
possession, that is control over the hardware and related products.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.27 Revenue recognition (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Software implementation contracts

Sometimes, customers will request customisation of software based on
customers’ demands and business operations.

Revenue of software implementation contract is recognised over the
period of the contract by reference to the progress of work performed,
which is established according to the value of efforts put in each task
over total value of efforts of the implementation project with support by
progress reports acknowledged by the customers. The corresponding
implementation costs are recognised as incurred under cost of sales.

Variations in implementation work and incentive payments are included
in transaction price to the extent that would have been agreed with the
customer.

The Group recognises receivables for performance obligations
satisfied over time gradually as the performance obligation is satisfied.
Judgement is required in determining whether a right to consideration is
unconditional and thus qualifies as a receivable. When the performance
obligation satisfied over time while a right to consideration is conditional,
contract asset is recognised. Contract liabilities primarily reflect invoices
due or payments received in advance of revenue recognition. They are
recognised as revenue upon transfer of control to the customers of the
promised license, products and services.

Cloud and other services

Cloud services, software solution consulting, maintenance, upgrading,
training and other supporting services are provided mainly in the form of
fixed-price contracts. Revenue related to these services are recognised
ratably over the service contract period.

Rebates to distributors

The Group offers rebates to distributors based on the respective purchase
volume of distributors. The rebate is not in the form of cash, but as a
coupon to be used on future purchase order, thus it is regarded as a
customer option that provides material right and be treated as a separate
performance obligation. The contract price allocated to the rebates is
recognised as a contract liability which is then transferred to revenue
when the coupons are used or expired after 12 months from grant date.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.27 Revenue recognition (continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period
between the transfer of the promised software products to the customer
and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the
Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of
money.

Incremental costs of obtaining customer contract

Incremental costs of obtaining customer contract primarily consist of sales
commissions are capitalised as an asset. The Group amortises assets
recognised from capitalising costs to obtain a contract on a systematic
basis to profit or loss, consistent with the pattern of revenue recognition
to which the asset relates. As a practical expedient, the Group recognise
the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred
if the amortisation period of the asset that the Group otherwise would
have recognised is one year or less.

Micro-credit business

The Group's micro-credit business revenue derives from interest income.
The Group generates interest income from providing micro-credit loans
to borrowers. Interest income is recognised and accrued based on the
effective interest rate agreed with each borrower over the loan period.

2.28 Earnings per share

(a)

(b)

128 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable
to owners of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other
than ordinary shares by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in
ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of
basic earnings per share to take into account:

e the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs
associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

e the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that
would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.29 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL calculated using the
effective interest method is recognised in the income statement as realised
gains on financial assets at FVPL within “other gains”.

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned from
financial assets that are held for cash management purposes, see Note 31
below. Any other interest income is included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial assets that
subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

2.30 Leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating lease (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis
over the period of the lease.

The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment. Leases of
property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance
leases are capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair
value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease
payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges.
The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included
in other long-term payables. The interest element of the finance cost is
charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance
leases is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the
lease term.

Rental income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is
recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term (Note
9). The respective leased assets are included in the statement of financial
position based on their nature.
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2.31

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there
is a reasonable assurance that the grants will be received and the Group
will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the
consolidated income statement over the period necessary to match them
with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included
in non-current liabilities as deferred government grants and are credited
to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the
expected lives of the related assets.

2.32 Dividend distribution

(a)

130

Dividends distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised
as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or board of directors, where appropriate.

Financial risk management
Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk
(including foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The directors
review and agree policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised as follows:

Market risk
Foreign exchange risk

The functional currency of the Company and its major subsidiaries
is RMB. The majority of the revenues of the Group are derived from
operations in the PRC.

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. Fluctuations in exchange rates between RMB
and other currencies in which the Group conducts business may affect
its financial position and results of operations. The foreign exchange
risk facing the Group mainly comes from movements in the US dollars
(“USD”)/RMB and Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”)/RMB exchange rates.

Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
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3.1
(a)

Financial risk management (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

At 31 December 2018, if the RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5%
against the HKD with all other variables held constant, profit before tax
for the year would have been higher/lower by RMB4,723,000 (2017:
RMB1,833,000), mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on
translation of HKD denominated cash at bank and in hand.

At 31 December 2018, if the RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5%
against the USD with all other variables held constant, profit before tax
for the year would have been higher/lower by RMB7,058,000 (2017:
RMB37,698,000 lower/higher), mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses on translation of USD denominated borrowing and cash at
bank and in hand.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from short-term and long-term
borrowings. Except for the borrowings and bank deposits, fluctuation of
market rates does not have significant impact on the Group’s cash flows.

Borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk which is partially offset by cash held at variable rates.
Details of the Group’s borrowings carried at variable rates are detailed in
Note 23. There is no other written policy on managing the interest rate
risk and management will take appropriate steps to minimize its impact on
the income statement.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, if interest rates on borrowings had
been 1% higher/lower with all other variables held constant, profit before
tax for the year would have been decreased/increased by RMB2,211,000
(2017: RMB2,309,000) respectively, as a result of higher/lower interest
expenses on borrowings at variable rates.
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Financial risk management (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, contractual cash flows
of debt instruments carried at amortised cost, at fair value through profit
or loss (FVPL) and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well
as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables.

Risk management

The management manages the credit risk of cash and cash equivalents,
pledged and short-term bank deposits and wealth management products
(classified as financial assets at FVPL) by transacting with state-owned
financial institutions and reputable commercial banks which are all high-
credit-quality financial institutions in the PRC and Hong Kong.

In relation to trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has two
kinds of distribution channels, one is sales to distributors and the other is
sales to end customers.

For distributors, the Group has assessed the credit quality of the
distributors, taking into account their financial position, past experience
and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal
or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. The
compliance with credit limits by distributors is regularly monitored by line
management.

For sales to end customers, the Group has no significant concentration
of credit risk in trade receivables since the balance of trade receivables is
composed of numerous individual small items and the exposure spreads
over a large number of customers.

The Group’s investments in debt instruments, including loans to third
parties, loans to related parties and entrusted loans, are considered to be
low risk investments. The credit ratings of the investments are monitored
for credit deterioration.

For other receivables, management makes periodic collective assessment
as well as individual assessment on the recoverability of the receivables
based on historical settlement record and past experience. The directors
of the Company believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in the
Group’s outstanding balances of other receivables.

3.1
(b)
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Financial risk management (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has four types of financial assets that are subject to the
expected credit loss model:

e Trade receivables

e Contract assets

e [oans to third parties, and

e Other financial assets at amortised cost

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected
credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables and contract assets.

For contract assets, the loss allowance provision for contract assets as at
31 December 2018 was assessed immaterial.

For trade receivables, it is grouped by aging to measure the expected
loss rates, and the expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles
of sales over a period of 36 months before 31 December 2018 or 1
January 2018 respectively and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
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3  Financial risk management (continued) 3 MBERREE (R
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 HMBRKRER (H)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) ISEEEPS (#)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued) (i) SRMEEREE)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued) JERIRT A FEE (&)
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2017, 1 January Bt BEZET—tF+A=+—-RH T \F—
2018 (on adoption of IFRS 9) and 31 December 2018 was determined as A—B (RRBEBRMBREERENR) N_F-N\F+
follows for trade receivables: ZA=T—H - ERERHELEE  ABOT
31 December 2017 —Z2—t¥+ZA=1+—H 0-1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years Over 3 years Total
—FHR —ERFE ®WE=F Z=fFltr &
Expected loss rate EHERBLE 4.02% 26.04% 71.44% 100.00% -
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) AR - AR
(AR®FT) 116,041 15,175 11,763 100,396 243,375
Loss allowance (RMB'000) BAEE (ARBTI) 4,660 3,952 8,404 100,396 17,412
1 January 2018 —Z—-)\§f—H—H 0-1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years Over 3 years Total
—FPR —ERE HBE=F Z=FML &
Expected loss rate BHZABAR 4.02% 26.04% 71.44% 100.00% -
Gross carrying amount(RMB'000) REEE - EUER
(AREFT) 116,041 15,175 11,763 100,396 243,375
Loss allowance (RMB'000) BAEE (ARBTT) 4,660 3,952 8,404 100,396 117,412
31 December 2018 —Z-\f+ZR=+—H 0-1 year 1-2 years 2-3 years Over 3 years Total
—FlA —ERE BE=F Z=FUL &
Expected loss rate FEHIZABAR 4.12% 42.99% 87.36% 100.00% -
Gross carrying amount(RMB'000) AR - BT
(ARETT) 125,482 12,744 1,467 110,673 256,366
Loss allowance (RMB'000) BAEE (ARETT) 5,924 5,479 6,523 110,673 128,599
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Financial risk management (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)
The closing loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets as at
31 December 2018 reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows:

3 MERREE (H)

31 MERRER (#)

(b) fEREMBR (&)

(i) =REERE(E)
BREFHEFEE (&)
FEEREUEFIMEREER T \F+=-A=1
—HRMHRBRBEREZRNBRRE  ABOT

Contract assets Trade receivables
AREE RS
2018 017 2018 07
22—\ Tt —Z2-)\ 2t
RMB’000 RMB1000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TRT ARETL AR®TR ARETR
31 December - calculated under IAS 39 +ZA=+-H-
RERRSHENERHE = N 17,412 111,156
Amounts restated through opening retained earnings BRENETNEELNEE = - = -
Opening provision for impairment as at —R—BHRERE -
1 January 2018 - calculated under IFRS 9 REBRIBREEN SR HE - - 117,412 111,156
Increase in loss allowance recognised in profit REEABRMETEL
or loss during the year BB - - 41,800 38207
Receivables written off during the year as REERENESRD MK
uncollectible - - (30,613) (32,021)
At 31 December +-A=+-H = - 128,599 17412

Trade receivables and contract assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor
to engage in a repayment plan with the group, and a failure to make
contractual payments for a period of greater than 3 years past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets are presented
as net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item.

BARE A RBATWE M FIRE - RIS ARERNE KR
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BREEBABZRAEENAEEFE  WRAHBA=F
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Financial risk management (continued)
Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Previous accounting policy for impairment of trade receivables

In the prior year, the impairment of trade receivables was assessed based
on the incurred loss model. Individual receivables which were known to
be uncollectible were written off by reducing the carrying amount directly.
The other receivables were assessed collectively to determine whether
there was objective evidence that an impairment had been incurred but
not yet been identified. For these receivables the estimated impairment
losses were recognised in a separate provision for impairment. The group
considered that there was evidence of impairment if any of the following
indicators were present:

e significant financial difficulties of the debtor

e probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganisation, and

e default or late payments (more than 90 days overdue).

Receivables for which an impairment provision was recognised were
written off against the provision when there was no expectation of
recovering additional cash.

Loans to third parties

For loans to third parties, in order to minimise the credit risk, the Group
has established policies and systems for monitoring and control of credit
risk. The management has delegated different divisions responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
processes to ensure that follow up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, management reviews the recoverable amounts of loan
and interest collectively at each reporting date to ensure that adequate
allowance for impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets include cash and cash equivalents, pledged bank
deposits, short-term bank deposits, other receivables, entrusted loans and
loans to related parties also subject to the impairment requirements of
IFRS 9, the identified impairment loss was insignificant.
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3.1
(c)

Financial risk management (continued) 3 MBERREE (R
Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 MBERBRER (&)
Liquidity risk (c) mENEERBE
The Group exercises prudent liquidity risk management by reviewing AEERREETERHERASHRE - ULHTBEN
forecast cash balances on a quarterly basis to maintain sufficient cash REBELEERE  #REANREERERABNE
levels and the availability of an adequate amount of committed credit EEENRRENASTRARHERBEBELPEM
facilities to ensure the availability of sufficient cash flows to meet any BEERANNEANRLER - ARELES AR
unexpected and material cash requirements in the course of ordinary [ o
business. The Group has no significant exposure to liquidity risk.
The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities that will be TRITASERARAIMS R A EZRBABNE HA
settled on a gross basis into relevant maturity groupings based on the Al BREBEREEBZESOZHBORIBRARETHN -
remaining period at the statement of financial position to the contractual HRABBENSEAGNEREROBRERE - 78
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual BRAFETK U ETZEAREBNERESHAE
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their fREME -
carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.
Less than Between 1 Between 2
1 year and 2 year and 5 year  Over 5 years
—EUR —EmF MELF AFEHE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETR
At 31 December 2018 RIE-N\E+ZHA=+—-H
Borrowings (including interests) ER (EENFE) 307,607 = = =
Trade and other payables (excluding VAT and  JEABRFR SR EL b FE 38 (R
other tax payable and salary and staff EERLEMHES J?Eﬁ
welfare payables) e RETIREA) 307,616 - - -
615,223 - - -
At 31 December 2017 R-Z2—tE+-HA=1+—H
Borrowings (including interests) B (SEMFIE) 211,342 1,210,118 - -
Trade and other payables (excluding advances &/ BR 3¢ 2 ELfth FE AT 3% (71
from customers, VAT and other tax payable ZERE - ig@m&ﬁ@
and salary and staff welfare payables) He ENESRETERN) 269,114 - - -
480,456 1,210,118 - -
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Financial risk management (continued)
Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns
for owners and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the amount of dividends paid to owners, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the
basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by
total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including “current
and non-current borrowings” as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is
calculated as “equity” as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

MERBEE (§)

RemRER

FEENESEERR  RRESELSEEE  UA
BRI H RN S E AN B AR GN S - FES#S
RENEAEBAREESKA -

RTERIBRESER  ARETREHEIN TR
ROBFEE  ARREEER  BITHBRIHEEE
SARE BT

BERNAMAR K ARENREFAELRERL
B o R RREBFERAEERTE - EHFE
REER (BRERAHMBRARMIN R RERD
BR]) RERENREFEY - BELR [H#5] (0
AGETBRRRA)) MERFE -

E-Z—\ER-E—+E+-A=+—0 £E£EH
BEAGBLEMT :

2018 2017

—E-\E§ “E—+F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®FT ARET T

Total borrowings (Note 23) @ (fE23) 301,125 1,348,529
Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 17) B BERBEEEY (ME17) (1,452,848) (1,056,675)
Net (cash)/debt REBH (1,151,723) 291,854
Total equity aps 5,532,667 4,043,080
Total capital agE 4,380,944 4,334,934
Gearing ratio BFARLE N/A 7%
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Financial risk management (continued) 3 MEBRREE (&)
Fair value estimation 3.3 ALnEEHEH
The table below analyses the Group's financial instruments carried at TEBEETE A BENGHERIFMERTMEA
fair value as at 31 December 2018 by level of the inputs to valuation BER  AHASER-_Z-N\F+_A=+—HE&ELD
techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised into NEEARNERIA - EEHARBOLBEERS
three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows: BRNTZE:
—  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or - HRAEEXEBEHEGEMBHERE CREFHE)
liabilities (level 1). (1) -
— Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are - BRIFIEMAENREN  ZEEMEBENT
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) BEMEMBA - TAEE AfIMER) KfE
or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2). & (REER) (828)
— Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable - EEMAEVFKETERTSERNEA (B
market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3). FABEGA) (F3E) »
At 31 December 2018 R-Z—-N\fE+ZBA=+—H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E1E E2E k] et
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETRT ARETRT ARETR
Financial assets at fair value through profit DA BEFEEEZETA
or loss BRfemEE
— Investment designated at fair value through ~ — fEEAU AL BETEEEE
profit or loss B ABGNRENSREE 66,480 572,406 638,886
At 31 December 2017 R-Z—tF£+-B=+—H Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1E FE FIE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETT ARETT AR%®TR
Financial assets at fair value through profit AR EGETEBEEHA
or loss BamepEE
— Investment designated at fair value through ~ — EEAUR A BEFEEE
profit or l0ss BERAERNEE - 6,286 6,286
Available-for-sale financial assets AHNESREE - 446,871 446,871
- 453,157 453,157
—T-\EFH eBERSEEEERAT 139
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Financial risk management (continued)
Fair value estimation (continued)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximize the use of
observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value
an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market
data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:
— Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.
—  Discounted cash flow analysis.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the
year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

MERREE (8)

AREEME (8)

REEERMSEENESRIA (PIGHMTATR)
WAABENBBERNEE - GERNEENAIE
EmHER () FELKBIBNBEML -0
AE-ERTIANAABERBNAEERBARTE
AR MZERTAIIAFLE -

M—BRZRERGALFRETBERTHEM - Al
RTAFIAEIE -

FANEESRTANSEMHERIRE

- FBERTANTSHREXRIHRE -

- HMEBR2ERAN -

TRERNBE-_Z— \FEN-_E—+E+-F=1—8
IHFEFEESHTENES -

Financial assets Available-

at fair value for-sale

through profit financial
or loss assets Total

BaREERE
BHBEEHA

Bamn At E
eREE eMEE st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT ARETTT
At 31 December 2017 R-Z2—t¥—H—H 6,286 446,871 453,157

Change in accounting policy - IFRS 9 CHBEREE - ARV HRS
R 95 446,871 (446,871) -
At 1 January 2018 R-E-N\E—B—H 453,157 - 453,157
Additions 0 3,816,244 - 3,816,244
Disposals RE (3,708,947) - (3,708,947)
Gains recognised in profit or loss TERRZERNFIGREBLX 11,952 = 11,952
At 31 December 2018 R-E-N\F+ZB=+—-H 572,406 - 572,406
Changes in unrealised gains or losses for BartBRRANEERERF
the year included in profit or loss at the BkiBRHE

end of the year 11,952 - 11,952
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Financial risk management (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

4.1

3 MERREE (H)

3.3

ARE\EMGE (8)

Profit guarantee
Financial assets Available-  arrangement
at fair value for-sale in a business
through profit financial ~ combination
or loss assets (Note 37) Total
DaimEEdtE
BESEHA LEAHN
Ran AHE ERRE
SMEE SMEE (W5x3r) Mgt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETT  ARETR ARETT
At 1 January 2017 R-8—t&—-A—-H 6,466 269,855 16,707 293,028
Additions = - 761,173 - 761,173
Disposals RE - (584,424) (16,707)  (601131)
Gains and losses recognised in profit or loss EREEANFEHEL (180) - - (180)
Net unrealised gains recognised in other TEBEMGA RN
comprehensive income during the year FAEBNE - 267 - 267
At 31 December 2017 A_E—tE+ZA=1+-H 6,286 446,871 - 453 157
Changes in unrealised gains or losses for the year BRRTEINTERER
included in profit or loss at the end of the year FGsBRNES (180) - - (180)
There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year. FRNEIE  FUEREEIE 2T B -

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

4  RRBEHEHR A
fEstMA B e &R YRRARERNABER
ETHE  BREABBATREERAREMANAER

Al e

41

MR RER

REEE AR AR MRR -
% ROGAEAE

FriSMEEHERH AT
PREERMR « RAHKESGHTER K

FRMEENMABOREEFLENABOMGINERR

BECEUING
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Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued)
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (continued)
Fair value of investment properties

The fair value of investment properties is determined by using valuation
technique. Details of the judgments and assumptions have been disclosed
in Note 9.

Recognition of software implementation revenue

Revenue from software implementation contract is recognised over the
period of the contract by reference to the progress of work performed and
acknowledged by the customers. For the year ended 31 December 2018,
revenue of RMB805,667,000 is generated from software implementation
contracts (2017: RMB562,897,000). The Group has to estimate the value
of services performed to date as a proportion of the value of total services
to be performed. If the progress of services performed were to differ by
10% from management’s estimates (for example, 33% instead of 30%),
the amount of revenue recognised in 2018 would have been higher/lower
by approximately RMB80,567,000 (2017: RMB56,290,000).

Estimated useful lives of capitalised development costs

The useful lives of capitalised development costs are estimated based on
historical experience, which include actual useful lives of similar assets
and changes in technology. If the estimated useful lives of capitalised
development costs were to shorter or longer by 10% from management’s
estimates, the amortisation charge for 2018 would have been higher
by approximately RMB31,566,000 (2017 RMB32,610,000) or lower by
approximately RMB25,827,000 (2017: RMB26,681,000).

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment
in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.10. The
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units (“CGU”) have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations. Details of the impairment
test are set out in Note 8.

4
4.1

()

(b)

(d)
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4.1
(e)

4.2
(a)

(b)

Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued)
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (continued)
Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions. Significant
judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated
tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current and deferred tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.

Certain subsidiaries of the Group were each entitled to a preferential
enterprise income tax rate for a specified period subject to certain
conditions. Management generally applies the applicable preferential tax
rate to calculate current income tax and deferred income tax (Note 32) on
the assumption that the subsidiaries will continue to meet the conditions
and qualify for the preferential treatment as evidenced by past records.
The consequence of any failure to meet the conditions and any change
in the applicable tax rate is adjusted in the year in which the information
becomes known.

Critical judgment in applying the entity’s accounting policies
Capitalisation of development costs incurred on upgrading
of existing software products and developing new software
products

Costs incurred in upgrading existing software products (primarily relating
to upgrade of the existing features or additions of new features/modules)
and developing new software products are capitalised as intangible
assets when recognition criteria as detailed in Note 2.10(b) are fulfilled.
Management has applied its professional judgement in determining
whether these software products could generate probable future economic
benefits to the Group based on the historical experience of the existing
products and the prospects of the markets. Any severe change in market
performance or technology advancement will have an impact on the
development costs capitalised.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax liabilities of RMB59,846,000 (2017:
RMB110,006,000) had not been recognised for the withholding tax
that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of RMB598,459,000
(2017: RMB1,100,056,000) of certain subsidiaries in the PRC as the
these earnings are expected to be retained by the PRC subsidiaries
for reinvestment purposes and would not be remitted to their overseas
holding companies in the foreseeable future based on management's
estimation of on the Group’s overseas funding requirements.

4
41

(e)

4.2
(a)

(b)

WEBEHERRAEG (&)
WEEH S RER (8)
R
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FHEEHMERNETHAER (H532) - E/AMR
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R A SR EE it B R BRI
ARRARHERELEZRRRFEFL

BEITAMT2I0 O)PRERRE  AREHERE
EZRA (FEERARRARAIEMHER) BEX
CRBVEE - EREBENRBEMRTSHRZESL
K5 BBERHEDATELEMNERTBREAT AR
AIRRAREEN S © EFRHERRRMBEERN
EARHNEYERENAZER L -

BIEFTEH
AEBYARETFRANRERMNBARE
59,846,0007T (= & — £ F = A K #110,006,0007T) 8
FTXNNBERASHERECAEHEBEBOARE
598,459,000 (= Z —+ % = A K %1,100,056,0007T) °
REEEBHARERIBERLNEN B EAR
BRAR  PEFARKREELUEANERE T
TEEFERIMERAT -
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Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued)
Critical judgment in applying the entity’s accounting policies
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on assumptions about
risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions
as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.
Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the tables
in Note 3.1(b).

Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as executive
directors of the Company. The executive directors review the Group’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources.
Management has determined the operating segments based on these
reports.

The executive directors consider the business from product perspective.

The Group has identified the following operating segments:

ERP business — Sales and implementation of enterprise management
software, provision of other related services, sales of
hardware related to enterprise management Software
arrangements and sales of middleware software
business

Provision of online services related to cloud
service, provision of E-commerce and other online
management services

Cloud services business -

Investment properties
operating business

—Operation of investment properties

The chief operating decision-maker assesses the performance of the
operating segments based on the profit for the year of each segment.
Substantially all of the businesses of the Group are carried out in the
PRC.

(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AU B R

5

Segment information (continued)

The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2018 is as

follows:

5 SEBRAGE)

HE - \F+_A=T—RILFENHERDT :

Investment
properties
Cloud services operating The Group
ERP business business business Total
LERF REN
CTENERE EREEE RHEEE KEAH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTI ARETR
Revenue (from external customers) WA (REINEFEF) 1,959,402 849,256 - 2,808,658
— Products transferred at a point in time - EREE-BREER 936,620 - - 936,620
— Services transferred over time — IR EREREEY 1,022,782 849,256 - 1,872,038
Operating profit EERF(BR) 435,052 (149,202) 167,457 453,307
Finance costs HMBER (30,179) (302) - (30,481)
Finance income gt 28,081 1,363 - 29,444
Finance (costs)/income — net MEER - B8 (2,098) 1,061 - (1,087
Share of losses of associates ZEBERENBBENE (4,240) - - (4,240
Profit/(loss) before income tax MEFRSREHE(ER) 428,714 (148,141) 167,457 448,030
Income tax (expense)/credit FisH (BA),/ e (45,887) 23,873 (16,746) (38,760)
Segment results PEBER 382,827 (124,268) 150,711 409,270
Segment assets ABEE 5,473,094 289,253 1,816,206 7,578,553
Segment liahilities AWMER 1,717,526 208,392 119,968 2,045,886
Investments in associates HE A e hERE 234,403 = = 234,403
Additions to non-current assets (other than MEERDEE (TEE:
financial instruments and deferred tax assets) B0 T B REIEFIEEE) 365,832 50,828 - 416,660
Depreciation and amortisation mER#EH 324,744 29,143 - 353,887
Net impairment losses on financial assets and ~ RIZERETE
contract assets 47,255 442 - 47,697
Fair value gains on investment properties REUFHENLAEBE
S - - 94,516 94,516
Share-based payments AR 19 BB S 1+ 90,474 1,028 - 91,502
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Segment information (continued)

The segment information for the year ended 31 December 2017

follows:

is as

5 SBRRA (E)
BEZ—tF+-A=t—RILFELFERNOT :

[nvestment
properties
Cloud service operating The Group
ERP business business business Total
TEER BEN
EWHEXLE EREER  FHEFES EEAF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREBTIT ARETRH
Revenue (from external customers) WA GREINBER) 1,735,265 568,193 - 2,303,458
QOperating profit BERF /(B8B) 392,204 (136,100) 164,655 420,759
Finance costs S ER (66,874) (267) - (67,141)
Finance income B 39,287 742 - 40,029
Finance (costs)/income - net MBEH - B8 (27,587) 475 - (27,112)
Share of losses of associates FEBARANBIBNE (15,227) - - (15,227)
Profit/(loss) before income tax MEFRBRATE(ER) 349,390 (135,625) 164,655 378,420
Income tax (expense)/credit Frisk: (BF),/ e (60,329) 21,987 (16,466) (54,808)
Segment results DURER 289,061 (113,638) 148,189 323,612
Segment assets PHEE 4,901,398 178,970 1,721,690 6,802,058
Segment liabilities ABAE 2,496,632 153,724 108,622 2,758,978
Investments in associates HBE RS ERE 31,420 - - 31,420
Additions to non-current assets (other than TS EE (TRES
financial instruments and deferred tax assets) B¢ T A REEFIBEE) 411,139 10,662 - 421,801
Depreciation and amortisation TEREH 359,353 2,409 - 361,762
Provision for doubtful trade and other RIEZERHR
receivables 38,923 - - 38,923
Fair value gains on investment properties REHFHENAAEE
FEz - - 96,419 96,419
Share-based payments VAR BERESZ T 62,873 5,224 - 68,097
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5 Segment information (continued) 5 SBEM (&)
(a) Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers (a) HEFEAAMHREMNAR
At 31 December 2018
RZE—N\E+ZA
=+—H
RMB'000
ARETFT
Current contract assets relating to software implementation HpEEEERAEEE N HEERARBEEY
contracts under ERP business MEEREE 494,662
Loss allowance BREE -
Total contract assets BAEREE 494,662
Contract liabilities — ERP business AREE-PEEREEHEES 548,738
Contract liabilities — Cloud services business EREE - ERBES 298,017
Total contract liabilities BeEAEE 846,755
(i) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities () ReEwARARSERHKA
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in the Tﬁ’g’fgﬁ”iﬁ%ﬁqmaﬁ@%mw}\#ﬁ%géﬁgﬁ
current reporting period relates to carried-forward contract liabilities. L
Year ended 31
December 2018
BE_Z-\&
+=ZA=+—-H
RMB'000
ARBTT
ERP business PRERERNEER 367,338
Cloud services business ZRBEES 186,406
553,744
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Segment information (continued)

Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers
(continued)

Unsatisfied long-term cloud services contracts

The following table shows unsatisfied performance obligations resulting
from long-term fixed-price cloud services contracts.

(a)

(ii)

SR ()
HEFEAAMHRENAR ()

XETHRAERBER

TRERTREEEERNERBEARTRETNED
£

At 31 December 2018

AZB—)\F
+ZA=+—-H
RMB’000
AREBFT
Aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated RTZA=+—BoEEHH K
to long-term cloud services contracts that are 2HRBITHRAZRBES R
partially or fully unsatisfied as at 31 December BRI SER 85,543

As permitted under the transitional provisions in IFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to (partially) unsatisfied performance obligations as of 31
December 2017 is not disclosed.

Management expects that approximately 46% of the transaction price
allocated to the unsatisfied contracts as of 31 December 2018 will be
recognised as revenue during the next reporting period (RMB39,224,000).
The remaining approximately 54% (RMB46,319,000) will be recognised
in the 2020 financial year. The amount disclosed above does not include
variable consideration which is constrained.

All other cloud services and ERP business contracts are for periods of
one year or less or are billed based on time incurred. As permitted under
IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is
not disclosed.
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Segment information (continued)

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands while the Group
mainly operates its business in the PRC. Revenue from external
customers from the PRC and other locations is RMB2,787,912,000 (2017:
RMB2,288,423,000) and RMB20,746,000 (2017: RMB15,035,000),
respectively for the year ended 31 December 2018.

There is no single customer that contributed to over 10% of the Group’s
revenue for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

Additional segment information

In addition to the above-mentioned segment information, the chief
operating decision-maker has started to review the Group’s operating
results according to the internal organisation structure, which is mainly
based on the business models and customer bases of each business line.
Management has determined the following three main business lines:

Project and - Sales and implementation of customer-specific
consultancy-based software products, and provision of related services.
business These products and services are mainly targeted for

medium and large-sized enterprises and organisations

Product-based business - Sales of standardised and general Software products or
services with a simple delivery process, and provision
of related services. These products and services are
mainly targeted for micro and small-sized enterprises
and organisations

Innovation business - Operation of innovation business, which are
strategically synergetic to the Group’s core traditional
ERP business, mainly including infrastructure
software, internet financing, asset management and
online payment business

The operating results of the above three main business lines that the
chief operating decision-maker assesses are revenue and operating profit.
Assets and liabilities information are not included in this additional
segment information. The additional segment information for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

AEBEM (#8)

ARRBENRESHEREETTERETE - HE=
T-N\F+-A=+—HLEE  KEFEHEANI
BEEMEIRA B ARE27879120007T (Z 22—+ 4 :
AR#2,288,423,00070) © K EBINIIBEERAABA
FR#20,746,0007C (ZZ—+4% : AR¥15035,0007T) °

BE - \FN_Z—tHFT_A=t—HILFEL
EREE-RFHEENRABEEBI0% -

M B AR

B AR - BREERRERRRRAA
BABEHEENEE  ELASABREIEENE
REBGNIBHERARTPHE - EEERETUT
“HEIENEBR:

HERERS - FTHCRERHMGMEER
TEXH i EHAEBRHENRE
e BLEMRRENER
EPEIERTPREELAR
EmTEEY - BERBRCEEELMNM

HEHEMERINBIE  HAE
RIS - BEE®R KR
BWEREPEER/AG
ES&iE

BIFET - BEERLERLEERY
HEBEBBRBRERN
BFTEBMEE TERR
hREMG BRESHE K
MER £

BRERERREDEN =BT 2EBRCERRIENE
RPEARELEN - BERABERTREELDHE
Ao BEE- \FRETAFT-_A=1t—HH
EZHWABFHENT »
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5 Segment information (continued) ]

For the year ended 31 December 2018:

SEEM ()
BE_Z-\FT-A=t—RILFELFERNT :

Project and
consultancy- Product-
hased based Innovation The Group
husiness husiness business  Elimination Total
HRR
J5ES ER
TEEE  IEEE 0 AWEE  AfEH  fEAH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL ARETT ARBTT AREFL ARETRL
Revenue (from external customers) WA CREINEEER) 2,185,700 525,355 97,603 - 2,808,658
Operating profit/(loss) BERT /(ER) 237,008 245,445 (40,166) 11,020 453,307
Finance costs — net HEER - 58 (1,037)
Share of losses of associates SEBARBNERNE (4,240)
Profit before income tax nBmERAHE 448,030
Income tax expense FIEHER (38,760)
Profit for the year FEFE 409,270
Depreciation and amortisation EREH 272,057 56,870 24,960 - 353,887
Net impairment losses on financial assets and & REENAREERERX
contract assets 46,894 160 643 - 47,697
Fair value gains on investment properties BREUEHENDRER
FHha 94,516 - - - 94,516
Share-based payments PR BERR S 81,404 10,000 98 - 91,502
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5 Segment information (continued) 5 SBEM (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2017: BE_Z—tF+A=T—RILFEHHEHNT :
Project and
consultancy- Product-
based based Innovation The Group
business business business  Elimination Total
HAER

ElEEN Em
TEEE  IBER AMER  AMEE  £EAS
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARBTT ARETE ARETT ARETR

Revenue (from external customers) WA RENEER) 1,750,263 493,048 60,147 - 2303458
Operating profit/(loss) E2RH(FR) 457,097 244,400 (18,176) (262,562) 420,759
Finance costs — net MEER - 38 (27,112)
Share of losses of associates FEBRERENEENE (15,227)
Profit before income tax MR EREFE 378,420
Income tax expense Frisfi & A (4,808)
Profit for the year FEFHE 323,612
Depreciation and amortisation I8 R 294171 34,925 32,666 - 361,762
Provision for doubtful trade and other FIZERFTHR
receivables 38,277 - 646 N 38,923
Fair value gains on investment properties & MREMEN AR EE
2Eha 96,419 - - - 96,419
Share-based payments VAR BETER T 58,059 3,605 6,433 - 68,097
6 Land use rights 6 TiERE
The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid operating lease AEEEHE TR PP ARNERERNEEHEE
payments and their net book value are analysed as follows: FoREEERFESWEOT
2018 2017
—Z-N\E —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT
At 1 January ®—A—H 69,405 125,405
Transfer to investment properties (Note 9) HEAKEMREE (H9) = (62,639)
Amortisation charge #HBR (1,860) (3,361)
At 31 December ®+=-B=+—H 67,545 69,405

The land use rights are located in the PRC and held on leases of between =& RRAEH) T B NP E - H 6 R E £335)44
33 to 44 years, and for self-use. FH - UHEER -
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7  Property, plant and equipment 7 TBE- -IRRRE
Computer
and related Office Motor Leasehold
Buildings ~ equipment  equipment vehicles improvements Total
EER i
 Ed R N | E# MEEE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT  ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2017 A-E—-t%—-F-H
Cost AR 841124 100,082 22045 24669 47978 1,035,898
Accumulated depreciation BiHTE (122.504) (58,585) (16,110) (15.254) Q7158 (23961)
Net book amount BEBE 718,620 41497 5,935 9,415 20820 796,287
Year ended 31 BE-Z-tF
December 2017 +ZB=t-HLEE
Opening net book amount HERFE 718,620 41497 5,935 9415 20,820 796,287
Additions b 36,913 15,344 4628 8,004 1,009 65,898
Disposals RE (26) (1,451) (338) (586) - (2,401
Transfer to investment properties (Note 9) BAKZZMEE (H39) (305,012) - - - - (305,012)
Depreciation charge & (23129) (9.913) (1,301) (4.242) (5,974) (44.559)
Closing net hook amount HREmPE 427 366 5477 8924 12591 15,855 510213
At 31 December 2017 R-B—t&+-A=1+-8
Cost R 534,507 105,067 25,596 21935 48,987 742,092
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (107141) (59,590 (16672) (15,344) (33.132) (231879)
Net hook amount FESE 427,366 4417 8,924 12,591 15,855 510,213
Year ended 31 BE-2-0\F
December 2018 +ZA=+-HLEE
Opening net book amount HNERFE 421,366 45,471 8,924 12,591 15,855 510,213
Additions B 992 17,364 2,501 2,766 6,317 29,940
Disposals EE (17) (1,552) (543) (114) £ (2,226)
Depreciation charge g (24,023) (11,598) (2,064) (3,117) (6,889) (47,691)
Closing net hook amount HRIEERE 404,318 49,691 8,818 12,126 15,283 490,236
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E+ZA=+-H
Cost AR 521,288 102,355 24,587 29,564 55,304 739,098
Accumulated depreciation 2ifiE (122,070)  (52,664)  (15769)  (17.438)  (40,021)  (248,862)
Net book amount RERE 404,318 49,691 8,818 12,126 15,283 490,236

Depreciation of approximately RMB13,915,000 (2017: RMB12,950,000),
RMB5,994,000 (2017: RMB5,847,000) and RMB27,782,000 (2017:
RMB25,762,000) has been charged to selling and marketing expenses,
development costs and administrative expenses, respectively.

AERB139150007T (ZF—+ 4« ARE12,950,0007T) &947
EERM AHERERER  ARM59%4000 (ZF—t
0 ARE5847,0007) BT EB B ARBRAARARK
27,782,0007C (=B —+%F - ARWK25,762,0007T) BV EER
SATTRER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SO MR
Property, plant and equipment (continued) 7T THE- -IRRRE (&)
As at 31 December 2018, none of the property, plant and equipment was BE-Z-\E+-A=1—RLEUTHE ITHKK
used as security for bank borrowings (2017: nil). FEERERNETER (S —tF: &) -
Intangible assets 8 J|ERE
Trademarks, Computer Acquired
Development licenses and  software for customer
Goodwill costs copyrights ownuse relationship Total
i N BH
[} MBERF BEEEE BRR#H EFRE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERETT  ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARET:R
At 1 January 2017 R=B—-tE—-f-H
Cost AR 181,245 2,005,122 185,169 35,132 26,149 2,483 417
Accumulated amortisation 2iHE - (1,522.39) (157,301) (24.179) (4359)  (1.708,19)
Net book amount BERE 181,245 532,167 27,868 11,503 2,790 175,223
Year ended 31 December 2017 §E-Z-tF§
+ZA=+-HLEE
Opening net book amount HOREFE 181,245 532,767 27,868 11,553 21,790 175,223
Additions R - 354,837 - 1,066 - 355,903
Amortisation charge B - (296,457) (6,688) (5,467) (5,230) (313.842)
Closing net hook amount BREDPE 181,245 591,147 21,180 7152 16,560 817,284
At 31 December 2017 RZE-t&+ZA=1+-H
Cost AR 181245 2,409,959 185,169 36,798 26,149 2,839,320
Accumulated amortisation 2:HE - (1618812) (163,989) (29,646) (9.589)  (2022036)
Net book amount RESE 181,245 591,147 21,180 7,152 16,560 817,284
Year ended 31 December 2018 HE-Z-)\§F
+ZB=t+-HLEE
Opening net book amount HNREFE 181,245 591,147 21,180 7,152 16,560 817,284
Additions =R - 379,237 1,703 5,780 - 386,720
Amortisaion charge B - (284,004) (6,915) (8,097) (5,230)  (304,336)
Closing net hook amount HREESE 181,245 666,290 15,968 4,835 11,330 899,668
At 31 December 2018 AZE-N\E+ZA=1+-H
Cost AR 181,245 2,789,196 186,872 42,578 26,149 3,226,040
Accumulated amortisaion ERE - (2102906 (170904 (37,743)  (14,819)  (2,326,372)
Net book amount RERE 181,245 686,290 15,968 4,835 11,330 899,668
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Intangible assets (continued)

Amortisation charge of RMB20,242,000 (2017: RMB17,385,000)
and RMB284,094,000 (2017: RMB296,457,000) has been charged to
administrative expenses and research and development costs, respectively.

Impairment of goodwill

Goodwill arises from the Group’s acquisition of Shanghai Guanyi
Cloudcomputing Software Co., Ltd. (“Guanyi”) and was determined at the
date of acquisition on 29 February 2016, being the difference between
the purchase considerations and the fair value of net identifiable assets of
Guanyi. Goodwill has been primarily allocated to the CGU of Guanyi for
impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-
use calculations. These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period. Management determined a projection period of five years based
on expected development trend of Guanyi and industry experience. Cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated
terminal growth rate stated below. The growth rate does not exceed the
long-term average growth rate for the enterprise management cloud
services business in which the CGU operates. The discount rate used is
pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the relevant industry.

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations for 2018 are as
follows:

BELRE (W)

AR20,242,0007T (ZZT—+5F : ARH17,385,0007T)
WEHEREFATHER - ARK284,094,0007T (=
T+ 5F: ARH296457,0007) HEHERBAE
BERMAERFAELA

AR E

BERARAREY LEESEAERNBRARNR
B AEZZ-A"F-A-TABNBRRER - Z8E
REFEARRFEELABEENHENER - ¥
EHAHELNBECDCRBRSELETETTRE

B

REeELETN RS BREEREERNE - FES
AFMBRARERERR - KEEEEMZOT TN
BB - ERERANIFREHREREE FNRK
RRBEARTERBMET - BARDFHNRER
ERMUATHROMEF O EEREELEE - ZER
ETRBRCELETLENCXEREMBEROR
HFOERE - IRACBRARHAMGEE - BRE
BRTRMARER -

—E-\EREEMEEANIBREMT

2018 2017

—E2-N\f e

Average revenue growth rate during the projection period T8I 3 FH9 g A\ 2 & & 27% 21%
Average EBITDA rate during the projection period BRSBTS SR ER AR EE 24% 25%
Terminal growth rate KB R R 3% 3%
Pre-tax discount rate TRTALER & 21% 20%

EBITDA rate equals to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and ~ SR EHHEAUEERRIEEFE  HE  HEREH
amortisation divided by total revenue. R FFIER A S5 -
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(a)

Investment properties 9 REHEME

2018 2017
—2-\%§ S
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETTT
At fair value [REE
At 1 January »—A—H 1,721,690 882,620
Transfer from property, plant and equipment and land mETEEMTHFEREEA
use rights (Note 6 and Note 7) (HFE6RIMTFET) = 357,651
Revaluation gains upon transfer recognised in BB E
other comprehensive income - 385,000
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss DREERAENFNE 94,516 96,419
At 31 December ®+=B=+—H 1,816,206 1,721,690
Amounts recognised in profit and loss for investment properties (a) REXREHMECERSARROBE:
2018 2017
—Z-N\E Tt
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETFT
Rental income i ON 74,838 70,004
Direct operating expenses from property that EERSWANKEEEHENERESE
generates rental income &R (1,897) (1,768)
72,941 68,236
An independent valuation of the Group’s investment properties was ZE-N\F+ZA=1+—H  rEEMREEFEIHESR
performed by the valuer, Avista Valuation Advisory Limited, to determine B zEmMAsRT R BRER AR (ZE—+5 : By
the fair value of the investment properties based on highest and best ZEMAstE B AERAR) BITBMEE  WETE
use as at 31 December 2018. The Group’s investment properties, which HAREE - PEBRRABEANEBREEFbE -
comprised office buildings in the PRC, were carried at fair value and BREANUERGA (FIE) BT \FHN=-Z
measured using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as at 31 —tFFZ A= —HMAREE

December 2018 and 2017.
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Investment properties (continued)
Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s finance department includes a team that reviews the
valuations performed by the independent valuers for financial reporting
purposes. This team reports directly to the chief financial officer (CFO).
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held among the CFO,
the valuation team and the valuers at least once every six months, in line
with the Group’s interim and annual reporting dates.

At the end of each reporting period the finance department:
—  Verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report;

— Assesses property valuations movements when compared to the
prior year valuation report;

— Holds discussions with the independent valuer.

As part of this discussion, the team presents a report that explains the
reasons for the fair value movements.

Annual Report 2018

REMEHE (W)
sREMEERE

AEBMBHRE—ENE  FERABRERNY
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REREMREER -
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Investment properties (continued)

Valuation techniques

For completed office buildings, the valuation was determined using

9 RABELE (F)
EER
BERABMAREBNBENRAREE  REATIEES

income approach based on significant unobservable inputs. These inputs AEE - GEHABE
include:
Relationship of
Unobservable unobservable
inputs Description Range of unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
FAEARGA fiiih FAERBANEER FUHRRBAHAAEENRE
Term yields Based on yields extracting from terms of ~ 4.5-5% (2017: 5-5.5%) The higher the term yields rate, the lower
current leases the fair value
MHE A= REEMEETNEESOBT - 455% (ZF—1F : 5-55%) MEAkEEE AR EEYE

Reversionary yields

GERBI G

Fair market rents

mizlE

FTREJEERA st K

Based on expected yields after expiry of
any current lease

BEENDZTORESOBR
TR E BRI R 2

Based on the actual location, type and
quality of the properties and supported
by the terms of any existing lease,
other contracts and external evidence
such as current market rents for similar
properties

BREMEFNEREY  BRNER
Wi FARFRENGR -

5-5.5% (2017: 5-5.5%)
5-55% (ZF—+%F : 5-5.5%)
RMB47- RMB128 per month per square

meter (2017: RMB46 — RMB120 per
month per square meter)

SEHREAARBIT — 187
(225 SFHAEA

ARMINFER (PIBLMES  ARK46T —1207T)

ERImBMEE) s

The higher the reversionary yields,
the lower the fair value

MEMEEESR - DB
BHIE

The higher the rental value, the higher
the fair value

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year.

FRBERNLEZE -
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10 Investments in associates

10 HERR

2018 2017
—Z-\E§ e o3
RMB’000 RMB'000
AB%TR ARETR
At 1 January »—HA—H 31,420 25,793
Interests in associates (a) S N EER () 185,191 1,272
Conversion from a subsidiary to an associate (b) feFREREEA(D) 16,000 -
Dilution gain (b) HREFIF®D) 714 25,130
Revaluation gain upon losing of control (b) RREEHRER UKD 5,318 -
Recognition of share of prior year loss recognised EANBEE T ERN AN EEEE
against loan to an associate - (5,548)
Share of losses of associates ZEBERENEBNE (4,240) (15,227)
At 31 December ®»+=-A=+—-H 234,403 31,420
(@) It mainly included the following investments in associates during 2018: (a) FEEENVFHEOBSEAWT
Principle Investment  Equity interest
activities and amount acquired by  Measurement
Name of associate place of operation (RMB’000) the Group  method
FEEXBR RESH BEH
BELATEF ERHE (AE®TR) FAEEER HEE
Qijiayoudao Network Technology (Beijing) Limited Provision of software 142,911 22.6%  Equity method
services in the PRC
CREBERE R (ER) BRAR TE BR U RS BR%E
Beijing Huacai Accounting Co., Ltd. Provision of financial 19,478 9.6%  Equity method
services in the PRC
IEREFEHRHERAR e BUAR BT T AR5 BRE
Shenzhen Zhongxing New Cloud Services Co., Ltd. Provision of management 16,053 5.0%  Equity method
consultancy and software
services in the PRC
AT ENERE AR AR TR HE R Bk
EREGE

(b) On 28 December 2018, Qingdao Xinrun Real Estate Limited (“Qingdao
Xinrun”), a then subsidiary of the Group, received RMB17,111,000 of
capital injection from certain third parties and as a result, the Group’s
interest in Qingdao Xinrun diluted from 80% to 45%, resulting in a
dilution gain of RMB714,000; in addition, the Group lost control over
Qingdao Xinrun upon the dilution and the investment has been accounted
for as an associate since then. The Group’s interest in Qingdao Xinrun
after the dilution was remeasured to fair value upon losing of control and
a revaluation gain of RMB5,318,000 was recognised accordingly.
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(h) =T /\F+-A=-+/\B KEERETATEESE
BEXERLR UATHE 588 #E=HES
FEANTIN0TARE  AEEESEHENER
F80% A E45% « BB A REET4,0007T ¢ 1t
I BRERBESASBEALTHESSRHOEE -

B U ZIARE N

o
PN

AERETRE - AEEERE

BERRAZHEERENAEZNRORE - ZBRE
BWARA BEETER - RILHER 75318000 AR

MEfHE
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10
(c)

(d)

Investments in associates (continued) 10

Individually immaterial associates (c)
In the opinion of the directors, none of the associates is material to the
Group. Summarised aggregate financial information of the individually
immaterial associates that are accounted for using the equity method are

as following:

BERR (|

FEXHERR

FEEEFAR AREEEANBLRE - FRAES
ERENFEAMERANGHERESMT -

2018 2017

—Z-N\EF Tt F

RMB’000 RMB'000

N o AREFT

Aggregate carrying amounts of individually immaterial associates ~ FEEABE LR A A HEREA(EE 234,403 31,420
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of: AEEMEROEE -

Loss for the year AEEBR (4,240) (15,227)

Other comprehensive income Hisra W = -

Total comprehensive loss GakEeHE (4,240) (15,227)

All the associates of the Group are unlisted and operate in (d)
Mainland China.

FRAMAMELFYRLT  HRPEXEEE -
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11 Financial instruments by category 11 RENHSHEMIR

The Group holds the following financial instruments: AEERANTERMIA :
2018 2017
—E-N\E —ET—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR AREFT
Financial assets SHEE
Financial assets at amortised cost DERBFHENEMNEE
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments and MR L EMERE (TETarEH
VAT recoverable) (Note 13) RIE 2 BEM) (HIFE13) 194,678 215,660
Entrusted loans ZER - 49,600
Loans to third parties BTIE=FER 107,660 63,930
Loans to related parties KYBETER 721,513 164,139
Pledged bank deposits BRRITTR 152 2,254
Short-term bank deposits RERRITE 359,674 1,095,820
Cash and cash equivalents ReREZEY 1,452,848 1,056,675
2,836,525 2,648,078
Financial assets at fair value DORBEMHENSRMEE
Financial assets at FVPL AR A BESE B8 ABRE
PREE 638,886 6,286
Available-for-sale financial assets AHHESREE - 446,871
3,475,411 3,101,235
Financial liabilities SRR
Liabilities at amortised cost DERBFHENEMAR
Trade and other payables (excluding advances from ENERLEMENR (TEEP
customers, VAT and other taxes payables and salary and Be  HEVRAMLHS
staff welfare payables) ENESRETER) 307,616 269,114
Borrowings &% 301,125 1,348,529
608,741 1,617,643
The Group's exposure to various risks associated with the financial AEEERFIO)FHR T HeRTARENSER
instruments is discussed in Note 3.1(b). The maximum exposure to credit B EHRTEEERBOSGAMO A LN EEH
risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class BEMREER -

of financial assets mentioned above.
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12 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 12 UAREEMELEEBHAREGHENEE
(a) Classification of financial assets at fair value through profit or (a) LAAEEHEEESHHABSHNSMEIESS
loss
For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group classifies the following RZZ—\E+fA=1+—8 ~&EEEUTLREE
financial assets at FVPL: P RUAREEAEEHEEDFAERNEREE -
e Debt investments that do not qualify for measurement at either o THEERMAXALBEEZDHAEMESR
amortised cost or FVOC! wil EEENEBRE
e Equity investments that are held for trading, and o ARFMEEMRERE - UK
e Equity investments for which the entity has not elected to recognise o AEBEERBEBBARAEBEEYH AL MEKS
fair value gains and losses through OCI. W EMRIERE.
Financial assets measured at FVPL include the following: WARBEAZEEDITABRNSREESEUTA

2018 2017
—E-\f —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT

Investments designated at fair value through profit or loss ¥EEARBEEHEAELMHEE
Wealth management products (i) BEEEEM() 288,347 -
Preferred shares (i) B B (ii) 253,456 6,286
Listed stock FTRE 66,480 -
Unlisted equity investment FEEMIRERE 24,000 -
Unlisted convertible bonds MM ERES 6,603 -
638,886 6,286
Less: non-current portion B IERB R (427,456) (6,286)
211,430 -

(i)  This represented the Group’s investments in various wealth (i)
management products issued by commercial banks. These products
have a term ranging from 3 months to 36 months. They have an
expected return rate ranging from 3% to 5%. No single wealth
management product investment accounted for over 5% of the
Group’s total assets. The fair values of these investments were
determined based on the statements provided by the counterparties.

HAAEERENABERTRTNSREES
BEM AFEHMENREATE - LEE
EEERNBHEREAENDNH  RE —
BEEERERREGEEAEEN DAL - B
UEEBEERNAABEREERERAENE
e LEER -
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12

(a)

(b)

(c)
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 12 BARREAEREAREDHAREHEMNEE

(continued) (#)

Classification of financial assets at fair value through profitor (2) BAAREHBAREBHARINEMAESN

loss (continued) (#)

(i) It mainly represented the Group’s investment of 535,643,887 (i) HAREERENIRIDOZHZBRELEA
Series E Preferred Shares issued by Facishare Co., Ltd., which is A(FERSREGDHERROCERREEMM
mainly engaged in the business of social network working platform RAE T & ¥75) B17H0535,643,8870%E%% (B
for precise interactive marketing and enterprise collaborative KMk o WRENAR BERRETHEETH
management. The fair value of the investment is determined based
on market approach.

See Note 2.2 for explanations regarding the change in accounting RRBRMEREEREUEE - FERERT
policy and the reclassification of certain investments from available- HEESEHBESMEENRER FLINEFH
for-sale to financial assets at FVPL following the adoption of IFRS 9, RO - HAEB st IRERT213 -

and Note 2.13 for the remaining relevant accounting policies.

Amounts recognised in profit or loss (h) WREREHLHE

During the year, the following gains/(losses) were recognised in profit or THEBRAFRNERRAER

loss:

2018

—E-N\F

RMB’000

ARBTT
Fair value gains (losses) on equity investments at FVPL recognised AR EEFEEZH T ABRENERRER
in other gains/(losses) (Note 29) DRABENEG /(BX) Bt AZLFE

(%) (PzE29) 44,334

Previous accounting policy: Classification of financial assets at  (c) RMEFHBE: DAAREHEARSDHAASHE

fair value through profit or loss

In 2017, the Group classified financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss if they were acquired principally for the purpose of selling in
the short term, i.e. are held for trading. They were presented as current
assets if they are expected to be sold within 12 months after the end of
the reporting period; otherwise they were presented as non-current assets.
See Note 2.13 for the Group’s other accounting policies for financial
assets.
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13 Trade and other receivables, entrusted loans and loans 13

ERERRAMELR  SXERRETRES

to third and related parties HR
2018 2017
ZE-\f§ i
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARET T
Trade receivables (a) FEUER R () 256,366 243,375
Less: allowance for impairment of trade receivables (b) A TEUGEURE (D) (128,599) (117,412)
Trade receivables — net FEUER R — 55 127,767 125,963
Notes receivable eSS 21,643 24,751
Advances to employees (c) AEEREFERS(C) 4,945 12,001
Prepayments SENE 42,104 62,305
VAT recoverable AR 7 IB(ER 49,833 41592
Interest receivables TEYFIE 21,473 35,298
Receivables from related parties (d) (Note 38) MR 7 A (d) (FI3E38) 9,193 6,449
Other receivables H R 9,657 11,198
286,615 319,557
Less: non-current portion WA EmBEAR = -
Current portion nEE D 286,615 319,557
Loans to related parties (e) (Note 38) BT ERE) (F5E38)
— Current portion — REER 256,976 104,979
~ Non-current portion — BB 464,537 59,160
721,513 164,139
Entrusted loans (f) ZREERO
— Current portion — REEMH = 49,600
- 49,600
Loans to third parties (g) BYE=HER)
— Current portion — a1 88,720 61,020
— Non-current portion — R M 18,940 2,910
107,660 63,930
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(a)

(b)

(c)
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N T LS

Trade and other receivables, entrusted loans and loans 13 BREREARMBELR  FXRKRETHES
to third and related parties (continued) B (#)
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate their fair [EMERT R E BN REBESEIESENAR
value. The Group's trade and other receivables are mainly denominated in BE - AEBERKERRAMEKREZAARK
RMB. I
Sales are generally made without prescribed credit terms in the sales  (a) AKRBEEHESRTHEWRFNEREEHRE  BFF
contracts but customers usually take 1 to 3 months to settle the BEE-—E=EAAXMNFE - REBH =R K L&
receivables. At 31 December 2018 and 2017, the aging analysis of trade [ENIERE Z BARRELERE - —T—FRZT-N
receivables based on invoice date were as follows: F+ZA=T—BREEFOERSTOT -
2018 2017
—Z-N\E S
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT
0-90 days 0—90K 75,353 78,675
91 - 180 days 91 — 180K 11,153 13,315
181 - 360 days 181 — 360K 38,976 24,051
Over 360 days HBiB360K 130,884 127,334
256,366 243,375
Movement on the Group’s allowance for impairment of trade receivables is (b)) AEEEKIEZTREEFEOESH T -
as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\fE S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AER®TT ARETT
At 1 January »—A—H8 (117,412) (111,156)
Provision for impairment EEERR (41,800) (38,277)
Written off as uncollectible AR U 0 Y B IR 3R 30,613 32,021
At 31 December ®+=-BR=+—H (128,599) (117,412)
Advances to employees (c) MEEREHEAS

The amounts advanced to employees were restricted for business purpose
only, such as advances for selling expenses. Such advances were interest
free, unsecured and repayable on demand. During the years ended on
31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group did not advance any cash to the
directors for use on business activities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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13

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Trade and other receivables, entrusted loans and loans
to third and related parties (continued)

Receivables from related parties were unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand and denominated in RMB.

For details of the loans to related parties, please refer to Note 38 (e).

Entrusted loans

13 BEREREARBELR  SXRRRGCTHES
HR (|

() BUEEIFALEERLENS REEXERSR
& AARWEHE -

(e) HHBEHERFEF RIS )

() JEER

2018 2017
—Z-N\E —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR AREFT
Current portion: mEER R
Entrusted loans (i) ZEER() - 49,600

The entrusted loans represented loan extended to a third party through a
financial institute.

Loans to third parties

HERERRERBASRBBAS =T RRNEN

(1) WTHZFHHER

2018 2017

—E2-N\f e

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT AREFT

Loans to third parties BYE=FNER 108,747 64,576
Less: Provision for collective impairment assessment B BRUREERE

of the loans (1,087) (646)

Loans to third parties, net of provision BTE=FMER - FE 107,660 63,930

Less: non-current portion B IEREE R (18,940) (2.910)

Current portion mEE D 88,720 61,020

The loans to third parties represented loans made under the micro-credit ~ BFE=FNERANEEEEBELNER  EHAEE

business, they are unsecured, bear interest at 4.28% to 18.00% (2017:
6.48% to 14.40%) per annum and are repayable with fixed terms agreed
with the customers, and all denominated in RMB.

The fair values of the loans to third parties approximated their carrying
amounts and the fair value hierarchy is level 2. The interest accrued was
due within 12 months and presented in interest receivables.

REF - EFRFHEAEL28%H18.00% (ZF—+5 - 6.48%32]
1440%) 2 YHERZPAENETHRAAEE - ABUA
REEFE -

ZRTE=ZNEFNDABELERAEERD  AAEE

BRRELUE - REFENEBLFEHET—EARIE - 15
BRI YA B e o
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13

(9)

14

166 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Trade and other receivables, entrusted loans and loans
to third and related parties (continued)

Loans to third parties (continued)

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of
asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on
an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To assess whether
there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group compares the risk
of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition.

As at 31 December 2018, due to no loans was defaulted and borrowers
are considered having strong capabilities to meet contractual cash flows,
the loans advanced to third parties are considered to have low credit risk,
and the loss allowance recognised during the year was therefore limited to
12 months expected losses (where the expected lifetime of an asset is less
than 12 months, expected losses are measured at its expected lifetime).
Over the terms of the loans, the Group accounts for its credit risk by
appropriately providing for expected credit losses on a timely basis, and
a general provision of 1% of the principal was provided against the loan
principals.

Inventories

13

(9)

14

ERERRAMELR  SRERRETRES
& (8)

RPE=HMER (1K)

FEEERHEERERARFLRBOMTMRENE UK
EREREHHEERREDHERZEM - BT HE
ERERRGRESEN AREREEERS AHEE
BHMERENINER B AR ERONERETLE -

BE-Z-/\F+-A=+—RH hNEEENERA
ERALRRREBRANENRERARAALR - 4
FEZDNEFRARERARRE - Rt BXRHIE
REANEREX (—EEENBSSH/ ) NM2EA -
BHRAROEEBRHSD) KEFRMRA - AKE
HEERRRETRE  BEMATRHNEERANT
B HEFR1%EVRERE -

-3

2018 2017

-0\ —E—t+F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%TR ARETT

Software products and related parts REm ARG 8,436 14,057

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in
“cost of sales” amounted to approximately RMB105,393,000 (2017:
RMB88,897,000) (Note 28).

FERATERRBRLIIA [HERK] HEBHADAR
#105,393,0007C (=T —+4F : AR%88,897,0007T) (P7128) -
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16

Implementation contracts 15 EiEAR
2017
“E—+F
RMB'000
AREFTT
Contract costs incurred BEREZARKAK 166,939
Contract profit recognised ERRERME 467,871
Less: progress billings B BHERE (525,905)
Net balance sheet position for ongoing contracts AELER — FRE 108,905
Represented by: SR A
Due from customers on implementation contracts EWEFPERERR 432,802
Advances from customers on implementation contracts BREFERERR (323,897)
108,905

For the year ended 31 December 2018, due from customers on
implementation contracts is presented as contract assets, advances from
customers on implementation contracts is presented as contract liabilities,
please refer to Note 5.

BE-T-\F+-A=+-RALNFE BREFE
BARFIIBREREE  BREFERAFRZFIRA
AFAME  FRMES -

Available-for-sale financial assets 16 FAHHESHEE
2018 2017
ZE-)\f§ “E—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER®TT ARET T
Wealth management products EEEEERD = 446,871
Less: non-current portion A ERBEH = (50,003)
Current portion mEE - 396,818

This represented the Group’s investments in various wealth management ~ AHHEEeREERFAEEBRENGHERTETNSEE
products issued by commercial banks. These products had a term ranging ~ EEREmR - EFERAEWBEATE - GLEEEREMR
from 3 months to 36 months. They had an expected return rate ranging ~ MTEHIEISREIEI%ES% < - RE—BEEERERIREN
from 3% to 5%. No single wealth management product investment — SEAEEMS%NL - FELEEEREROALBERLE
accounted for over 5% of the Group’s total assets. The fair values of these ~ mEAEZHER FEER -

investments were determined based on the statements provided by the
counterparties.
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16 Available-for-sale financial assets (continued)

16 THHELMEE (K)

2018 2017

—E2-N\E —E—tF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETTT

Balance at 31 Dec 2017 ZE2—tE+ZA=+—A#R 446,871 269,855
Reclassification on adoption of IFRS 9 HRABR Y EREENERNED S (446,871) -
At 1 January »—B—AH - 269,855
Additions i = 761,173
Disposals BRE - (584,424)
Net gains recorded in equity HEZERITIE - 267
At 31 December »+=B=+—H - 446,871

From 1 January 2018, available-for-sale financial assets were reclassified
to financial assets at FVPL, please refer to Note 2.2 and Note 12.

17 Cash and cash equivalents

B-ZF-/\$-A-HE JRIESREERENHR
RULRBEHEAZYFARENEREE - FRM

FF2.2MPHEE12 o

17 ReRALERY

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—+F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

Cash at bank and in hand (a) PIIREFRE(@) 1,812,674 2,154,749

Less: Short-term bank deposits (b) B RBRITER®D) (359,674) (1,095,820)

Pledged bank deposits (c) BRITER(C) (152) (2,254)

Cash and cash equivalents ReMReZSEY 1,452,848 1,056,675
(a) Cash at bank and in hand was denominated in the following currencies: () HAOREFREUTIIEEE

2018 2017

—Z-N\E —T—+F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT AEETFT

RMB AR 1,642,095 1,752,977

usD ET 141,152 363,708

HKD T 27,988 36,660

Others Hid 1,439 1,404

1,812,674 2,154,749

168 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
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17
(b)

(c)

18

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

The effective interest rate on short-term bank deposits was 3.52% (2017:
2.55%) with terms ranging from 3 months to 12 months.

The bank deposits were pledged to banks as required in certain projects
the Group was tendering. Such pledged deposits will be released upon the
closure of the tendering.

Subsidiaries
The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2018:

17
(b)

(c)

18

ReRASFRY (K)

3EAZ12EAMERRITERNERAER352% (=
T— 45 :255%) ¢

BAREEREBREIEMIMNESHER - LERE
ERENRRERERERINEA NI BRBRER -

FoT
WFAR-F-\F+=A=+-AXETAF:

Place of incorporation ~ Principal activities
Name and kind of legal entity  and place of operation

EREIMER FERE

Proportion of Proportion of

ordinary  Proportion of ordinary

shares ordinary shares

Particulars directly shares  held by non-
of issued held by held by controlling

share capital parent (%)  the Group (%) interests (%)
HBLARER HEEE mERmLER
BRTRE BEOBER HKEOEER BEORER

an EEERER REEME B L (%) (%) L (%)
Kingdee Software (China) Co. Lid The PRC, limited liability Development, manufacturing  RMB530,000,000 100 100 -
(*Kingdee China") company and selling of software and
hardware products and

provision of software-related

services in the PRC

SHEEH (RE) BRAF HE - EBEALT R REREERE  ARE530,000,000 100 100 -
(I&%wE ) REHER  DRIEHS
U RERIRE -
HE
Kingdee International Software Group Hong Kong, limited liability  Sales of software products 1SD1,000,000 100 100 -
(HK.) Co., Lid. company in Hong Kong
SRERRNER (BF) EBAR  BF AREALR  BHELHE B8 711,000,000 100 100 -
Carterton Group Limited BVI, limited liability company  Investment holding in (SD1,000,000 80 80 0
the BVI
Carterton Group Limited RBEREE RERR  REERER 301,000,000 80 80 2
BREMLH
Kingdee International Software Group Singapore, limited liability ~ Sales of software products 56D100,000 100 100 -
(Singapore) Pt Lid. company in Singapore
SREREM G BRAA M BRECAR  BHELEE FINE  ATINEE100000 100 100 -

“T-\FER SREBBRAEEERAT 169




18 Subsidiaries (continued) 18 FoF (#)
Proportion of Proportion of
ordinary  Proportion of ordinary
shares ordinary shares
Particulars directly shares  held by non-
Place of incorporation  Principal activities of issued held by held by controlling
Name and kind of legal entity  and place of operation share capital parent (%)  the Group (%) interests (%)
HEBAREE HEEE mEmNER
B IMEER TEEE BRTRE HEOBER RKEOLER BEOEER
£1 ] EEERER RIEEME 3 LB (%) L (%) LEA(%)
Crotona Assets Limited BVI, limited liability company  Marketing and promation of USD50,000 100 100 -
software products in the BV
Crotona Assets Limited EBERHS RUERTHHEE - 750,000 100 100 -
BREARTA ARARES
Shenzhen Kingdee Tianyan Middleware Corp., ~ The PRC, limited liability Sales of software products RNMB40,000,000 - 40 60
Lid. (*Kingdee Tianyan Middleware’) corporation in the PRC
(Note (a))
M EREPREBRAF HE - RHERAA RHEREE - TE AR 40,000,000 - 40 60
Mi&(a)
Kingdee Technology Holding Limited BV, limited liability company ~ Sales of software products USD1 100 100
in Hong Kong
Kingdee Technology Holding Limited KEERMS RHERHE BE E 100 100 -
BREAAF
Shanghai Kingdee Deeking Cloudcomputing ~ The PRC, limited liability Sales of software products RMB20,000,000 - 100 -
Co., Ltd company in the PRC
LB BREEHEARAT E - EREALR  BHEREE - PE  ARE0000000 - 100 -
Xiamen Kingdee Software Co., Ltd. The PRC, limited liability Sales of software products RMB10,000,000 - 100 -
company in the PRC
BRI REHBRAR TE - AREALR BHELHE ® 10,000,000 - 100 -
Shanghai Kingdee Software Technology The PRC, limited liability Sales of software products RMB10,000,000 - 90 10
Co., Lid. company in the PRC
FERREARBERAT E - BREARR  BHEREE 4 ARH10,000,000 - % 10
Kingdee E-commerce Technology (Shenzhen)  The PRC, limited liability Provision of online financial RMB30,000,000 - 80 20
Co, Lid. company services in the PRC
SHTFEBRG OB ERAR B BREALT  GLHBRE B AR30,000000 - 80 0
Guangdong Kingdee Software Co., Ltd. The PRC, limited liability Sales of software products RMB30,000,000 - 100 -
company in the PRC
BREGHHARAR hE BREALRR  BHEREE pE ARE30000000 - 100 -

170 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited
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18 Subsidiaries (continued)

18 F27 (&)

Proportion of Proportion of
ordinary  Proportion of ordinary
shares ordinary shares

Particulars directly shares  held by non-
Place of incorporation  Principal activities of issued held by held by controlling
Name and kind of legal entity  and place of operation share capital parent (%)  the Group (%) interests (%)
HBLARER HEEE mERmLER
B IMEER TEEE BRITRE BEOBER RKEOLER BEOTER
1] EEERER REEHE B L (%) (%) L (%)
Taiwan Kingdee Software Co., Ltd. Taiwan, limited liability Sales of software products TWD10,000,000 - 100 -
company in Taiwan
EESREMARAR hHEEL FRECAT RHERHEE PEEZ 210000000 - 100 -
Yiyang Kingdee Software Co., Lid. The PRC, limited liability Sales of software products RMB10,000,000 - 100 -
company in the PRC
ahe RRHARAT hE - BREANF  BAEREE - E ARE0000000 - 100 -
Hunan Kingdee Software Technology Co., Ltd. ~ The PRC, limited liability Sales of software products RMB20,000,000 - 100 -
company in the PRC
M GRHBRBRAR hE BREMRA  BHEREE E ARE0000000 - 100 -
Kingdee Deeking Cloudcomputing Co., Ltd  The PRC, limited liability Sales of software products RMB50,000,000 - 100 -
("Kingdee Degking") (2016: Shenzhen company in the PRC
Kingdee Qisi Technology Co., Ltd.)
SRESEHEBRAT ((2B%2)) 1E BREALR  BHELHE @ ARES0000000 - 100 -
(Z2—"EF - NeRER
RHEBRAR)
Kingdee Vehicle Network Technology Co., Ltd. ~ The PRC, limited liability Development of internet RMB100,000,000 - 5 4
("Kingdee Vehicle") company technology in the PRC
SRAEBERBEERAA hE - BREMAAR  ERERGRZ - RE  ARY100000000 - 56 i
(re%AE])
Guanyi The PRC, limited liability Sales of software products RMB10,000,000 - 91 9
company inthe PRC
g% HE - EREAAF HHEREE - TE AR 10,000,000 - 91 9
Guangzhou Deeking Small-Loan Co., Ltd The PRC, limited liability Provision of online financial ~ RMB100,000,000 - 100 -
company services in the PRC
BMm%e \EERERAA EEREALA  SEBEBRE-RE  ARE00000000 - 100 -
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Subsidiaries (continued)

18 F2F (#)

Name

4]

Place of incorporation
and kind of legal entity

ERE MR
EEERAH

Principal activities
and place of operation

FERE
REEME

Shenzhen Kingdee Jingdou Cloud Internet
Technology Co., Ltd. (formerly known as
Shenzhen Kingdee E-commerce Service Co.,
Ltd.) (Note (b))

AT ERFAZBRMEERAT
(ZRAAMImEERA
STABRBEARRAR) W)

Beijing Kingdee Government and Public
Software Co., Ltd. (Note (b))
R & REBE A ERATMED)

Kingdee Credit Co., Lid. (Note (b))
SREEBRDANE®)
Shenzhen Kingdee Pay Technology Co., Lid.

(Nate ()
AT & T HREER RN ED)

The PRC, limited liability
company

TE - BRELAT

The PRC, limited liability
company
HE - BREFLH

The PRC, limited liability
company
HE - EREMAF

The PRC, limited liability
company
PE - BREARA

Sales of software products
in the PRC

FHERHE  +H

Sales of software products
in the PRC
PHERRE  TE

Development and service of

software in the PRC

HRMmAL 8

Development of online pay

technology in the PRC

BEXMERBAHERME  ARE100000,000

GRS

Proportion of Proportion of

ordinary  Proportion of ordinary

shares ordinary shares

Particulars directly shares  held by non-

of issued held by held by controlling

share capital parent (%)  the Group (%) interests (%)
HEBAREE HEEE mEmNER

BRTRE HEOBER RKEOLER BEOEER
1 L (%) L (%) LEA(%)
RMB12,000,000 - - -
AR 12,000,000 - - -
RMB50,500,000 - - -
AR 50,500,000 - - -
RMB50,000,000 - - -
AR 50,000,000 - - -
MB100,000,000 - - -

The directors of the Company considered that the non-controlling
interests in respect of the subsidiaries are not material to the Group, and
therefore, no summarised financial information of the relevant subsidiaries

is presented separately.

RAEERRAKETRANFEH RS HEEN S LA
BX - At HEFARNPBERE L REBTIR -
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18 Subsidiaries (continued)
Note:

(a)

Although the Group owns less than half of the equity interests in
Kingdee Tianyan Middleware, it is able to gain power over more than
one half of the voting rights by virtue of an agreement. Consequently, the
Group consolidates Kingdee Tianyan Middleware and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Beijing Kingdee Middleware Software System Co., Ltd. and
Shanghai Kingdee Middleware Software Systems Co., Ltd.

The Group does not have legal ownership in the equity of these operating
companies. The Group has entered into several contractual arrangements
with them and their equity holders since their incorporation. These
contractual arrangements are irrevocable and enable the Group to:

— exercise effective financial and operational control over these
operating companies;

— exercise more than one half of the equity holders voting rights of
these operating companies;

—  receive substantially all of the economic interest returns generated by
these operating companies in consideration for the business support;

— obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase the entire equity
interest in these operating companies from the equity holders;

— obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of these operating
companies from their equity holders as collateral for all the payments
due to the Group and as security for performance of obligations under
the contractual arrangements.

As a result of such contractual arrangements, the Group has rights to
variable returns from its involvement with them and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over these operating companies (“VIES")
and is considered to control them. Consequently, the Group regards them as
controlled structured entities in the consolidated financial statements.

Nevertheless, the contractual arrangements may not be as effective as direct
legal ownership in providing the Group with direct control over these VIEs
and uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system could impede the
Group’s beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities of these VIEs.
The Group believes that these contractual arrangements are in compliance
with relevant PRC laws and regulations and are legally binding and
enforceable.

18 F2F (#)
GEE
@ BASRERASERACHESNEROES B4

SERZEHEMBREENGE B IREBAYH
REE - At AEBERSGERERES  URENE
BF AR RS BARPRAGHGEZRERAR - L8
SRRBETEMHRERAERDTDAANBEREASNHE
.

SEHLIELERYELEMAE FHEELER
BEERILARETHRARRITLETHE  Z5HTE
TAHHEAESEE

- HERERATRANOME LR ENE

- HELEBAUTRBEYEALNRRE

- HEREBENEBNEUMRGEELELN
2EEENE

- YELEROREASTUHENERERE:

- RERRESEZERNBEFEAGE TEMNS
EIFARER -

REELBENOE  AREFHTELH - AEHRSD
EREHELELER (ABLIR]) NENTEER
LB MERES - Fil - AEEAHHBHRESE
MR AEH AR TR -

ZRGHEZRIINAREBBEEMARERERE
LEBCIREN PREZRERNTHRELEYE
AREHEBCIBNEERR EE AEDKRE
1 ARERAZBEERTATERRERERLA
BIERNN -
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Share capital and share premium

19 BRFEHEFER

Number of Share Share
shares capital premium Total
BEHE BRGEEE BERE &t
(thousands) RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
T ARETT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2017 —E—tF5—F—HER 2,947 840 72,552 1,765,324 1,837,876
Employee share option scheme BIBkETE
— Value of employee services received -BIRGEE - - 20,482 20,482
— Exercise of share options (Note 22) — TR iEhRE (F13E22) 12,279 265 17,967 18,232
Share award plan B tn B2t E
— Value of services received - REEE - - 42,391 42,391
— Transfer shares to the awardees upon - REBREROEBRERDA
vesting - - (16,056) (16,056)
Cancellation of shares 3Ll e (55,566) (1218) (148,819) (150,037)
At 31 December 2017 ZE2—tF+ZA=+—HER 2,904,553 71,599 1,681,289 1,752,888
At 1 January 2018 —E—-\§—F—H#& 2,904,553 71,599 1,681,289 1,752,888
Employee share option scheme BIERESE
— Value of employee services received -BIRBKEE - - 5,290 5,290
~ Exercise of share options (Note 22) — FTIE B (P3E22) 47,557 987 95,367 96,354
Share award plan R SEEET =
— Value of services received - RIGEE - - 81,628 81,628
— Transfer shares to the awardees upon -REBRERNHEREEREA
vesting - - (20,047) (29,047
Conversion of convertible bonds (Note 23)  FTEEME#EAL (Fizk23) 348,075 6,999 1,068,932 1,075,931
At 31 December 2018 —E-\E+ZH=+—HER 3,300,185 79,585 2,903,459 2,983,044

(@)  The total authorised number of ordinary shares as at 31 December
2018 was 4,000,000,000 (2017: 4,000,000,000) shares with a par
value of HKD0.025 (2017: HKD0.025) per share. All issued shares

were fully paid.

() BE_Z-N\FtZA=1+—-0 LERNZEZTHEL
£ 734,000,000,0008% (= —-% : 4,000,000,0004%) -
IREERB0.0257 (ZT—+5 - BREEEK0.025
L) e ARAETHAERNEGEL2BER -
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20 Other reserves 20 HtE
Statutory Shares
surplus Financial held
Merger Capital reserve Property  Conversion  asselsal for share Other
reserve reserve fund  revaluation option FVOCI  award plan  Translation reserves Total
KiR%E
EERE it HERE

afEl WELR  LFf Eff WHARS HERR i fi5 R et
RIB000 RMB00 RIB000 RB000 RIB000 RB000 RIB000 RB000 RB 000 RB000

ARETL ARETRL ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTRL ARBTR ARETR

Note (2) Note b) Note (c) Note d)
B HE() B () s (]
At 31 December 2017 28—t
+ZA=+-8
i 6,570 253488 136,762 476,049 86% 2%7 (162,012) (913) (26,238) 694,669
Reclassification on adoption  StF R BB iR
RSO (Moie222)  EEIRMENE
(B£222) - - - - - 087) - . - 81)
At1 January 2018 ZE-0\E
-B-R&R 6,570 253,488 138,762 476,049 8,696 - (162,012) (913) (26,238) 694,402
Curency ranslation SRR
differences - - - - - - - 67,028 - 67,029
Transactons vith SRR
non-contolling nterests 255 (Ff%6)
(Note 36) - - - - - - - - 13,296 13,296
Tansfersharesto e HEEBERL
awardess wpon vesting  EBHAERBA = - - - - - 14,937 - - 14,987
Shares purchased for ik e i
share award plan el - - - - - - (24405 B - ()
Conversion of convertble A (EEERR
bonds - - = = (8,696) - - - 8,6% -
At 31 December 2018 —B—\E
+ZA=+-8
14 6,570 253,488 138,762 476,049 - - (371,480) 66,116 (4,246) 565,259
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20 Other reserves (continued)

20 HEftifEim (#)

Statutory Available-  Shares held
Merger ~ Capital  surplus  Property Conversion  for-sale  forshare  Buy-back Other
reserve  reserve reserve fund revaluation option investment awardplan  of shares Translation  reserves Total
RiR5R
tERE Ml HERS
AHGE HALER  ORe Eff WERRS HERE ki EEER #if  RMEE ait
RMBOOO ~ RMBOOD  RAMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  AMBOOO  RMBOOD  AMBOOO  RMBIOD
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETL ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETL ARETR
Note(a) ~ Note(b)  Note(c) Note (d)
i WO KR fiTEH(0)
At 1 January 2017 —E-t%5-5-A
#i 6570 23488 138762 129549 8,69 185 (18422)  (16%91)  (12440) 28767 400154
Change in far value ArEEg - - - - - %7 - - - - il
Rechssify toprofitand loss ~ RERENRERS
Upon disposal - - - - - (1.8%) - - - - (1.85)
Revaluation gaing upon transfer,  EHBRERIE -
et of ta i - - - 36500 - - - - - - 36500
Currency tnslation diferences ~ 9MESTEZE - - - - - - - -1 -
Transactions wih B3R ER
non-controlling interests %5 - - - - - - - - - (0% (502
Valug of employee senvices B IRHER
received - - - - - - 524 - - - 524
Transfer shares to the awardees RSBk BIRHED
pon vesting LEEBA - - - - - - 12007 - - - 12001
Shares purchased for share TR BB BB
anard plan &t - - - - - - (ogn) - - - (dga)
Buy-back of shares Rk - - - - - - - (133046) - - (133046)
Gancellation of shares B0 - - - - - - - 1007 - - 15008
At 31 December 2017 ZE-tf
+ZB=+-0&® 6570 203488 138762 476049 8,6% %7 (162012) - (913 (%6238 694,669
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21

Other reserves (continued) 20 HfnGais (#&)
The merger reserve represented the difference between the carrying (@) AHFEERMNBELARIRARAKEE ANEASRER
amounts of the capital of the subsidiaries at the date on which they were NRAIRUREEITHRNEENES -
acquired by the Company and the nominal amounts of the Company’s
shares issued as consideration for the acquisitions.
The capital reserve arose mainly from the reinvestment of dividends into () EARABEEEHPEFAFRRNBENEREMDH
the PRC subsidiaries and capitalisation of reserves of certain subsidiaries. FRERRBEER -
The Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to follow the laws  (c) ~ ARFEHEME A FAKEDEER LA E RIEE
and regulations of the PRC and their articles of association. These MAREREA - tEHFERBARAREFERFF
subsidiaries are required to allocate at least 10% of their net profits to REAOMI0BBAREES  EERREESERS
the reserve fund until the balance of such fund has reached 50% of their REZMERDNN% - BEECETCEHEERIREK
registered capital. The reserve fund can only be used, upon approval by SRR AERR R BRREMER -
the shareholders’ meeting or similar authorities, to offset accumulated
losses or increase capital.
During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group purchased () BE-T-NFT-A=+—-ALMBEHN  ~%
34,579,000 (2017: 13,216,000) ordinary shares in the Company for a B G RREEE T (P FE22 (b)) BAJE #253,375,000
total consideration of HKD253,375,000, equivalent to approximately T B AR B244050000) (ZF —EF: B
RMB224,405,000 (2017: HKD48,082,000, equivalent to approximately 48,082,0007C + #1 4 AR #40,841,0007T) AR (B E
RMB40,841,000) under the share award plan (Note 22(b)). The carrying 34,579,000% 22 71 F @ik (ZZ —+ 4 : 13216,0008%) °
amount of the shares held as at the year end was presented as a deduction FRFERNNEAEBEDEREERINR -
against equity.
Retained earnings 21 HELS
RMB’000

AEBBTT
At 1 January 2017 R-ZE—t%¥—HF—AH 1,237,780
Profit for the year REFH 310,004
At 31 December 2017 RZZ2—tF+ZA=+—H 1,547,784
Balance at 31 Dec 2017 —E—tE+-A=+—H%&R 1,547,784
Reclassification on adoption of IFRS 9 (Note 2.2.2) FRA BRI HRREERSESFNEDE (H5F22.2) 267
At 1 January 2018 R-ZE-N\F—-HF—H 1,548,051
Profit for the year FEFE 412,106
Dividend distribution A 5 B (42,400)
At 31 December 2018 N _ZE—\E+ZB=+—H 1,917,757
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22 Employee share-based arrangements 22 RAIRKRH
(a) Share option scheme (a) FEBRHEERE
The Company adopted a share option scheme on 11 July 2005 (the “2005 EZTTRFLA+—H - RNRRERM T —IBERET
Option Scheme”). At the general meeting of the Company convened on 8 (=22 nFE)) E=Z—AFRA/\BER
May 2015, the Company terminated the 2005 Option Scheme and adopted FBREAE L ARRERE-ZSTREHEWHERT
a new share option scheme (the “2015 Option Scheme”) with the validity —EFMERESE ((Z2-R5:E))  BREHA
period of ten years, under which the directors may, at their discretion, 10F - Bt - E2AHBEREAEERL2HEERDER
grant options to any qualifying participants to subscribe for shares in the B URBARARRD - EAXBRZFTEIMNET R
Company, subject to the terms and conditions stipulated therein. Tt o
The vesting period of the share options granted is 4 years and the vesting REMNBERENSBERANST - BB E AR P
schedule is 25% after 12 months from the grant date, 25% after 24 51218 A 1%25% » %1 B B ST241E A 1%25% - K B
months from the grant date, 25% after 36 months from the grant date, and HARET 3618 A 1£.25% K 1% i B B 54818 A 1£25% -
25% after 48 months from the grant date.
(i) Movements in share options (i) MERESD
Movements in the number of shares under the options outstanding and EARTTEMERERE REABMINETTEENE
their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: BT
2005 Option Scheme 2015 Option Scheme
20058 1 = 20158k g =
No. of No. of Total no.
Average shares Average shares of shares
exercise under the exercise under the under the
price options price options options
BETFY BRET BETFY BRET BRET
TR g o TR HE®  HR®AH
HKD HKD
per share thousands per share thousands thousands
el Fit ok Fit Tt
At 1 January 2017 A _Z—+tEF—H—H 2.10 144,948 460 40,000 184,948
Exercised (Note 19) BT (HiE19) 169 (12,279) - - (12,279)
Lapsed/Forfeited BEX /BRI 211 (12,747) 4,60 (1,100) (13,847)
At 31 December 2017 R-E—t%
+=B=+—H 2.14 119,922 4.60 38,900 158,822
Currently exercisable as at A _ZE—tF+ZA
31 December 2017 =t+—B7{TE 2.12 115,498 4.60 18,900 134,398
At 1 January 2018 A_Z—)\F—HA—H 2.14 119,922 4.60 38,900 158,822
Exercised (Note 19) B4 (M3E19) 2.18 (42,369) 4.60 (5,188)  (47,557)
Lapsed/Forfeited BRM/ BRI 3.4 (1,309) - - (1,309)
At 31 December 2018 R-Z2-N\E+ZA
=+—8H 2.10 16,244 4.60 33,712 109,956
Currently exercisable as at A _Z—)\F+ZA
31 December 2018 =+—HW{TE 2.10 16,244 4.60 23,988 100,232
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22 Employee share-based arrangements (continued) 22 RIRfMARH ()

(a) Share option scheme (continued) (a) FEBRMERE (W)

(i) Movements in share options (continued) (i) MWERESH (8
During the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no share option was RZE-\EF+ZA=+—BERZZE—tF+=A=+
granted to directors of the Company. —B  REREEET -
As at 31 December 2018, the expected retention rate was assessed to be RZE-N\F+-A=+—H BFEIREER/0%
70% (2017: 80%). (ZZ—+1F 1 80%)

(ii) Outstanding share options (i) FITERERE
Details of the expiry dates, exercise prices and the respective number of RZE—\G+_A=t-BR-Z—+tF+-A=F
shares under the options which remained outstanding as at 31 December —B ' BATENBRENTSHE TFERSENY
2018 and 31 December 2017 are as follows: BEBNT :

Number of shares under options

RE R T e B B
Expiry date within Range of exercise price 2018 2017
bl B fTEEEE —E-N\E —E—+F
HKD per share thousands thousands
B/ ik Fit Fit
2018 0.95-1.75 - 2,332
2019 1.15-1.87 22,501 36,780
2020 3.11-4.25 10,978 17813
2021 3.75-4.28 10,626 17,683
2023 1.31-1.34 17,840 26,120
2024 2.66 14,299 19,194
2025 4.60 33,712 38,900
109,956 158,822
Weighted average remaining R A ARITENRERES
contractual life of options MEFLIFIAE FHR
outstanding at end of period 4.33 5.02
(iii) Fair value of options (i) MERESHLREE
There was no option granted during the year ended 31 December 2018 BEZZ-\FT A=+ HLENREHERNEERD
and 2017. HERRAE -
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22 Employee share-based arrangements (continued)

(b) Share award plan

22 RAIRMRH ()

(b) EfpsEmEtE

The board of directors adopted a share award plan (“2009 Plan”)
on 25 March 2009 for the purpose of recognising the rewarding the
contributions of the eligible persons. The Group adopted a new share
award plan on 4 December 2015 (“2015 Plan”) and the shares under 2009
Plan were transferred to 2015 Plan. The share award plan is valid and
effective for a period of 10 years commencing from the adoption date.

AAREFER_TRNF=A-_TRBRERBEN
REHE ((HE_FTTN))  ZROHEEERYE
RBARBTELNAR - £ER_F— £¢+‘H@
ARGFEOABHE (HE-_F—0)) #FE=
EANRHEEEAE S0 - B2 BEE - &%
DREFERNFARREABUM -

No. of shares
held for the share

No. of awarded

award plan shares Balance
B in e EEtE B ipsEmEtE

BREE BYyE #xt

thousands thousands thousands

Far Fir Fit

At 1 January 2017 —E2—t&—H—H 59,290 (28,248) 31,042

Purchased and held EEURE 13,216 - 13,216

Awarded BT - (26,660) (26,660)

Lapsed B&K - 146 146

At 31 December 2017 —E—t&+ZA=+—H 72,506 (54,762) 17,744
Weighted average remaining contractual life  EBSR i K17 80 AR 10 22 B &Y

of the awarded shares outstanding at end METSRIHE RER

of period 1.57

At 1 January 2018 —Z-\¥—A-H 72,506 (54,762) 17,744

Purchased and held EEURE 34,579 = 34,579

Awarded BT = (30,780) (30,780)

Lapsed B - 2,416 2,416

At 31 December 2018 —Z-)\f+ZH=+—H 107,085 (83,126) 23,959
Weighted average remaining contractual life HAR A R TR RO IR 1) HR B

of the awarded shares outstanding at end TS E 4 RIER
of period 1.46
During the year ended 31 December 2018, 30,780,000 shares (2017: BUE—Z—\F+ZA=+—0 AEENSREE

26,660,000 shares) were awarded to directors and senior management of

the Company.

As at 31 December 2018, the expected retention rate was assessed to be

100% (2017: 100%).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AU B R

22
(b)

(c)

Employee share-based arrangements (continued)

Share award plan (continued)

The fair value of the awarded shares was calculated based on the market
price of the Company’s shares at the respective grant date. The expected

dividends during the vesting period have been taken into account when
assessing the fair value of these awarded shares.

The weighted average fair value of shares awarded during the year 31
December 2018 was HKD4.81 per share (equivalent to approximately

RMB3.88 per share).

Details of the awarded shares awarded during 2018

22
(b)

REIRMREE (])

B iR SRRt & (%)

ZERINO AL BENSTERARERNNTISEE
AHE - EHERBRONAA BEREZRITESEFH
HOTREICE. °

E-Z-\FOREHAZBNRMIMETH AL EE
RERERLST (HREBRARKILT)

B \FRiFREBM

Number of
awarded shares Average fair
Date of award awarded value per share Vesting period
B atE BREY
M B o h [REE THESH
(thousands) (HK$)
Fit W
14 January 2018 315 4.63 30 April 2018
—Z-)\F—HR+HmA —Z-)\f¥MAB=+AH
9 February 2018 21,265 4.48 30 April 2019 - 30 April 2022
—ZE-NFZANH —E-AFMA=+RE-E__FMA=+AH
4 April 2018 3,200 7.59 30 April 2019 - 30 April 2022
—E-N\FHAMA —EZ-hFMA=+HE-E__FMA=+1H
Cash-settled share award plan (c) BeBEMRHRMTE

The board of directors adopted a cash-settled share award plan on 8
August 2018 (being the 25th anniversary of the Group) to recognise the
contributions of the eligible employees. Pursuant to the plan, the Group
granted 7,104,000 cash-settled share awards to the eligible employees.
These awards will be vested to whom remains hired by the Group as at
31 December 2020. RMB5,654,000 were recognised in employee benefit
expenses for the year ended 31 December 2018 under the above plan.

As at 31 December 2018, the expected retention rate was assessed to be
80%.

ADEZEFER_T—NFNANE (REAEER 2
BEZE) REFNRE A EIRTZEEHE  URYAE
BRETIAENEE - BEZGTE  AEEBR-S=
TFE+ AT HNEAEBEANAERETEN
TA4000RREFEERZRE - BLRBEERTR_F
ZEF+ A=+ -BINEAKEEANET - REL
T \F+A=+-BEE  RLAGHEEHEIA
5,654,000 TRFIFY

R-ZE-N\F+-RA=+—H BFEIREXAR
80% °
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23 Borrowings

23 fEw

2018 2017
—2-\%F —T—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR AREFT
Non-current FEE
Non-current portion long-term bank borrowings, RERTET > 2EH
unsecured - 23,625
Non-current portion long-term bank borrowings, RERTRES - EF
secured - 52,200
Convertible bond (b) AEHRER () - 1,117,678
Current e - 1,193,503
Short-term borrowings’ unsecured RERITER - |EA 272,500
Short-term borrowings’ secured (a) RHEIRITIER - () 5,000
Current portion of long-term borrowings, unsecured RERTESPERN - BER 23,625 148,501
Current portion of long-term borrowings, secured RERITENPERS - E7 - 6,525
301,125 155,026
301,125 1,348,529
At 31 December 2018, the Group’s borrowings were repayable as follows: ZE-N\EF+ZA=T—0  AEEEFOESHNT :
2018 2017
—E-)\§ —T—+tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AREFT
Within 1 year 1FER 301,125 155,026
Between 1and 2 years 122F - 1,193,503
301,125 1,348,529
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23 Borrowings (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies:

23 fE% (8
AEERERNRASEA TS REN

2018 2017

—E2-\f —E—+tfF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AEBTT AREFTT

RMB ARE 301,125 230,851
USb EM - 1,117,678
301,125 1,348,529

The Group’s bank borrowings bear average interest rate of 4.78% (2017:
4.61%) per annum.

Except for the convertible bonds mentioned in Note (b) below, borrowings
are at floating rates and the exposure of the Group’s borrowings to
interest-rate changes and the contractual repricing dates at the end of
reporting period are within 1 year (2017: within 1 year).

The carrying amount of the current borrowings approximate their fair
value, as the impact of discounting using a current borrowing rate is not
significant.

Note:

(a)

As at 31 December 2018, Guangzhou Deeking Small-Loan Co., Ltd. had a
short-term borrowing of RMB5,000,000, which was secured by pledge of the
wealth management products held by Kingdee Credit Co., Ltd., a subsidiary
of the Group.

The Group issued US$175,000,000 4.0% convertible bond on 14 April
2014. The bond matured in five years from the issue date. The bond could
be converted into the Company’s ordinary shares, at the holder's option at
any time on or after 25 May 2014 up to the close of business on the 10th
day prior to the maturity date (both days inclusive), at HK$3.90 (fixed in
US dollars at US$0.50) per share. The values of the liability component and
the equity conversion component were determined at issuance of the bond.
The liability component was subsequently stated at amortised cost until it is
extinguished on conversion or maturity of the bond. The residual amount,
representing the value of the equity conversion component, was accounted
for as a conversion option reserve included in equity.

ARERNRITERNER FOERFREH478% (=
T+ F :461%) ¢

BRHEE(D)IR Ry AT B EH AN - AR B fE R
SRR EFRRERRENEEYRANENT
ERHAENRERA—FUA (Z2—LF: —F)
A) e

AREREAERNREROFZEIK  RDEROR
HEEEQABEMRET -

M

(a) E!zi “NEFZA=1+—8  BEMNES/EETE

T%%ﬁuﬁ%ﬂnﬁﬁﬁ Al (RKEFRA) AE
EEEZTEE'ufé#?%ﬁ%ﬁ':E’J%E%ﬁf%%f&AE*%S,OO0,000ﬁ o

b AEER-F-NFNATHBERTREEARARET
175,000,0007 - | 4.0%8) AT B o tLEFRET
AL DFRYE - TEREFBEATEESES
BHRARD  NEL-_Z-NFAA-ThAZZEE
ZIHAHTH (BAERAR) EXRHERK AL
Z%ﬁﬁ&ﬁ%%ﬁ@*@%@ﬁ@%&%%%(ﬂﬁ
BRERIERTRISET) - AEREZERAR TN
MEERETEFSETE - ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%1ﬁéﬁﬁ%$
A EEEEARZAABRARY - TEREAFFH
B EEDSESAKBNEENEZEBIIRATE
BESERE -
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23 Borrowings (continued)

During March and April 2018, the convertible bonds were fully converted
into approximately 348,075,000 shares of the Company of HK$0.025 each
at a conversion price of HK$3.90 per ordinary share.

23

The convertible bonds recognised in the statement of financial position

are calculated as follows:

E-ZT-\FZAZMANRE - TEEESC 2SR
R#I348,075,000/x R RIAE - BAR0.0258 % - BAER
REIRIIEE -

ERBIRRRERONGREFAFMT

RMB’000

AR%TR

Liability component at 31 December 2016 RIE—R"E+ZA=+—HHARARBR 1,185,096
Interest accrued FSER 48,635
Interest paid BAFE (47,196)
Effect of currency translation INEEERYE (68,857)
Liability component at 31 December 2017 RIZ—tFE+A=T—HMARHERBH 1,117,678
Interest accrued FISER 5,259
Interest paid BRFLE (5,100)
Effect of currency translation INETEERTE (41,906)
Conversion of convertible bonds AEEER (1,075,931)

Liability component at 31 December 2018

RZB—-N\F+-AZ+—HHAREEBH

Interest expense on the liability component of the bond was calculated at

the effective interest rate of 4.22% per annum.
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24

Deferred income tax 24 BERMBR
The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax EEMBHEEMEEMEHEE TN

liabilities is as follows:

2018 2017
—E2-\f —E—+tfF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFT
Deferred income tax assets: EREFRBHEE
— Deferred income tax assets to be recovered after —BBIEARKENEEMEHEE
more than 12 months 49 55
— Deferred income tax assets to be recovered within —EPREARKENEEMEREE
12 months - -
49 55
Deferred income tax liabilities: EIEFEHAE
— Deferred income tax liability to be recovered after —BBREARKDMELEMEHEE
more than 12 months (176,870) (156,517)
— Deferred income tax liability to be recovered within - EREARRNKEMELEREFEE
12 months (2,449) (4,081)
(179,319) (160,598)
Deferred income tax liabilities (net) BEMBRAR (B8) (179,270) (160,543)
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Deferred income tax (continued)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the
year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the
same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

20 REFFR (1K)

FREEFEHEEMRE OREZREHTER &
BEAEH) EHNT

Credited/ Recognised in

(Charged) to Credited/ At31  the income At 31
At1January  theincome  (Charged)to ~ December  statement  December
07 statement Reserves 2017 (Note 32) 2018
B 3
B EBER —Z-tE ER&% —%-0\E
“Etf A&/ REANE/ +=B Wi +=R
0z hl= (1k) (k%)  =+—R  (W#E%2) =t+-R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFL ARETT ARETT ARBTRT AR®TRT ARRTR

Deferred income tax assels BRFAEHEE
~ Impairment loss on financial assets - SRMEERBERE 17,861 2319 - 15,542 285 15,827
— Amortisation of computer software - EREAE 5928 (1,603) - 4,325 (2,019) 2,246
~ Accumulated loss recovered within five years  — RER T EEH 23R 5,509 (6,509) - - - -
— Over-claimed advertisement -BYMELE 1946 (1.946) - - - -
— Deferred government grant — BRBE 8 - 9,015 - 9,015 805 9,820
31,044 (2.36) X (989) 27,893

Deferred income tax liablities BRFAEHER
- Deferred development costs — BRFAEKA (57,950) (12,133) - (70,083) (13,129) (83,212)
— Fair valug surplus o intangible asels - BB (12,761) 2041 - (10,720 6,737 (3,983)
— Fair value gains on investment properties  — REUREME D4 BEEE (59,404) (10.718) (38500)  (108,622) (11,346)  (119,968)
(130,115) (20,810) (38,500) (189,425) (17,738)  (207,163)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forwards
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefits through the
future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2018, due to the
fact that the directors are not certain whether it is probable that future
taxable profit would be available to the Group within the validity period
of the deductible tax losses, the Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets of RMB97,794,000 (2017: RMB102,202,000) in respect of tax
losses amounting to RMB459,559,000 (2017: RMB472,092,000) in certain
Group’s subsidiaries, which can be carried forward to offset against future
taxable income, all of which will expire in 2019 to 2023 respectively.
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25 Trade and other payables 25 MEFERREMEGR

2018 2017
—2-\%§ —T—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFT
Trade payables (a) and (b) JERFERF(a)(b) 20,568 18,533
Salary and staff welfare payables EN%E e kE TR 183,344 169,673
Advances from customers EF&Ze - 185,023
VAT and other taxes payables [EREETRAMH S 89,756 54,310
Accrual for expenses EiREA 61,211 44,913
Construction fee payable FE TREFIE 8,170 21,968
Unpaid business acquisition consideration A FHEDR 88,180 91,388
Deposits of distributors CHEERES 69,831 63,908
Interest payable TERF S 1,207 9,529

Outstanding payments for investments classified EYRNBUARLEERER
as financial assets at FVPL BERtAERNEMEETIA 19,000 -
Dividend payable & A< AR 42 -
Others Hit 39,407 18,875
580,716 678,120
(@) The fair values of trade and other payables approximate their @) EAIEFREMCESRZAAEEELFESERA

(b)

carrying amounts. The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and

other payables are mainly denominated in RMB.

At 31 December 2018, the aging analysis of the trade payables

based on invoice date is as follows:

{B1E « AABZ KA KBRS RN R EL B 3

BZEREEIEUARKHE -

b)) RZE-NETZA=1T—0 ZEEENEX

REEZAROERRIFTHT -

2018 2017

—Z2-N\fE e

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT AREFT

0 - 180 days 0—180% 13,539 11,573
181 - 360 days 181 — 360X 3,768 2,720
Over 360 days HBiB360x 3,261 4240
20,568 18,533
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26 Deferred income 26 EREWA
2018 2017
—Z-N\E Tt
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETTT
Deferred service fee income (a) BERERBANA () - 113,313
Deferred government grants (b) EFEHTIE B #8h () 102,081 84514
102,081 197,827

(@) The amount represented service fees received in advance from
customers for software implementation and cloud services to be
provided in periods beyond the financial year end, which was

classified as contract liabilities in 2018.

(b)  Movement of deferred government grants is as follows:

@ BZHEAREERCARFALEEICKRIERP
R SRR RERBBA - HRHB
HEBBERER - \F-A-B#ES

BRARAR -

(b) ETHBBANESHIT :

2018 2017

—E-N\fE —E—+F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETFT

At 1 January ®—B—AH 84,514 37,564
Additions byl 38,827 83,609
Recognised in the income statement REZRER (21,260) (36,659)
At 31 December B+-A=+—H 102,081 84,514

It represents cash received from government for financing various
research and development projects conducted by the Group. The
cash received will be recognised as income when the research and

development cost are amortised in expense and certain stipulated
conditions required by government are met (usually when the

related development project is completed).
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27 Revenue from contracts with customers 21 HERZHEMESRAEEMKRA

The Group’s revenue includes revenues from ERP business and cloud SENKABECEEREENSEBURERBE

services business. Revenue is stated net of applicable value-added tax %o WMABHKRERNHEIEER  WABEATS
(“VAT") in the PRC and comprises the following: 1

2018 2017

—Z-\E§ —T—tF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AER®TR ARETT

ERP business TEBREEFELK 1,959,402 1,735,265
~ Revenue from sales of software and hardware products — RE RN
recognised at a point in time BHERBERA 936,620 878,100
— Revenue from rendering of software implementation - R—BREHEAERNRESRT
services recognised over time ZERBRA 805,667 562,897
— Revenue from rendering of software solution consulting, — R B RE AR RS
maintenance, upgrade and other supporting services ERARED - R AARA
recognised over time Et R RBEHMA 217,115 294,268
Revenue from rendering of cloud services recognised R—EREEAERNIREZRERA
over time 849,256 568,193
2,808,658 2,303,458
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28 Expenses by nature

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and marketing expenses,
research and development costs, administrative expenses and net

28 HMHESEHREA

DIRREERA « HERERER - MIARFAHEKA
TREAkeREERAREENERAFEANER

impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets are analysed as AT :
follows:
2018 2017
—Z-)\E§ —T—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETF T
Research and development costs HERER A
Amounts incurred BY e 500,301 403,697
Less: development costs capitalised B B2 B (379,237) (354,837)
Add: amortisation M BAME 2 A A i 284,094 296,457
405,158 345,317
Employee benefit expenses (Note 30) BTRFFES (F530) 1,799,747 1,467,793
Less: amount included in development costs B BERHBEREAZEE (442,631) (334,963)
1,357,116 1,132,830
Depreciation e 47,691 44,559
Less: amount included in development costs B BERFERAZEE (5,994) (5,847)
41,697 38,712
Outsourcing services IEIRIEE 342,379 231,289
Sales promotion HEERENA 87,141 84,792
Advertising BEKA 107,476 77,383
Cost of inventories consumed (Note 14) SERTFERA (FiF14) 105,393 88,897
Rental and utilities Hek AREE£ER 45,025 52,718
Traveling EIRE 55,056 49,966
Office expenses WAE 47,462 39,128
Other taxes and surcharges HEi e KM m 44,582 47,392
Professional service fees BERBER 22,212 21,309
Training costs b= 20,989 20,516
Amortisation of trademarks, licences and copyrights (Note 8) 712 » (- E (EREE S (Fi5E8) 6,915 6,688
Amortisation of computer software for own use (Note 8) BRAEMEEEE (1538) 8,097 5,467
Amortisation of customer relationship (Note 8) RPBEEH (1:8) 5,230 5,230
Amortisation of land use rights (Note 6) TnfE PR SH (F9536) 1,860 3,361
Auditors’ remuneration 2 Gl 3,100 3,700
— Audit services - BIERE 3,100 2,800
— Non-audit services — FERRE - 900
Net impairment losses on financial assets and contract assels E& BEBEMAR B EREERE 47,697 38,923
Others Hit 38,253 34,758
Total st 2,792,838 2,328,376
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29 Other income and gains — net 29 Rt ARFIF - B8E
2018 2017
—2-\%§ —T—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER®TT AREFT
Other income Hitig A
VAT refund (a) EERIREQ) 178,529 171,837
Government subsidy income B SR 43,347 52,340
Rental income — net (Note 9) HeWA — 558 (M) 12,941 68,236
294,817 292413
Other gains Hitifl#®
Realised gains on financial assets at FVPL (b) WanBETE L2 ABRN
SRVEEF SUA(D) 34,503 15,150
Unrealised fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets AR BETEEHEES:TAREN
at FVPL PRMEERER WS 9,831 (180)
Gains from dilution of investments in associates (Note 10) B &% 1> 235 B RRERIEFIE (FFEE10) 114 25,130
Revaluation gain on investment upon losing of control RAEEEFIRMEFHRE (FE10)
(Note 10) 5,318 -
Gains on remeasurement of contingent consideration for PEAHNIBHEENTEFE
business combination = 25117
Others Hitb (2,212) (8,372)
48,154 56,845
342,971 349,258
(a)  According to the current tax regulations in the PRC, the development @ BERTHERBHE SR REMEE

and sales of computer software are subject to VAT with an applicable
rate of 17%. From 1 May 2018, according to the circular “Notice of
Ministry of Finance and the General Administration of Taxation on
the Adjustment of VAT Rate”(Cai Shui [2018] No.32), the applicable
rate for software industry has been changed from 17% to 16%.

In 2011, the State Council issued a circular regarding the “Taxation
Policy for Encouraging the Development of Software and Integrated
Circuits Industry” (Guo Fa [2011] No.4) (the “Circular”). Pursuant
to the Circular, software enterprises engaged in the sales of self-
developed software in the PRC are entitled to VAT refund to the
extent that the effective VAT rate of the sales of the software in the
PRC exceeds 3% of the sales amounts.

It represented interest income from wealth management products
that are measured at FVPL.

BRITOHEGMEER - A —F—\FRA—
B RE(MEE  REERERAREER
@A) (FH2018]325%) - RUTRERAR
7% R16%

E-T——% BEBRBERNECE-—SHBE
HEXNERBEREXZRETRROBHN) (B
201] FAFEM) o RKRZBA > EPEAR
HAMBEREAHEELTRBELERHERND
¥ AETPEARANEREABHEERMHERMN
ERBERVXBAEHEEMNI%N - AR
e

JRETULABEFEALS
EEREGHFISKA -

STAREMH]
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30 Employee benefit expenses

30 BWIBFAX

2018 2017

—2-\%§ Tt F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%TR AREFT

Wages, salaries and bonus 1% 2ENEs 1,255,107 1,058,669
Commissions HERK 198,830 136,898
Staff welfare BITER 47,060 37,848
Pension scheme contributions (a) RIRETEHT() 207,248 166,281
Share-based compensation PARR 17 5 BT 6 SR A 91,502 68,097
1,799,747 1,467,793

(a) Pensions - defined contribution plans

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes
organised by the relevant local government authorities in the PRC.
The Group is required to make monthly contributions to the retirement
schemes at rates ranging from 12% to 20%, depending on the location of
the subsidiaries, based on the basic salaries of eligible employees. The
local government authorities are responsible for the pension liabilities

(a) BHE-BERFHE

to retired employees. Forfeited contributions made by the Group on
behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to full vesting of the
contributions cannot be used by the employer to reduce the existing level

of contributions.
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30 Employee benefit expenses (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for
the year include one (2017: one) director whose emoluments are reflected
in the analysis presented under “Benefits and interests of directors
and chief executive officer” (Note 40). The emoluments payable to the
remaining three (2017: four) individuals during the year are as follows:

30
(b)

BIEFMAX ()

AREHFMAL
FEEARERIUSRFMNALRERL (22—t
) B ANFHE [ EERERNTEN
MaiEs | (P EE40) 2MNDTRIR - AFEXFE
BN AL (5 - W) ATEFMMT -

2018 2017
—B-\E§ —T—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AEB%®TT AREF T

Basic salaries, housing allowances, other allowances and BEX%e  BRZEL - HEHA
benefits in kind EWFI=E 5,568 5,700
Share-based compensation RESBERSE 6,994 16,060
Bonuses ®e 4,547 11,313
Contribution to pension scheme RREHEMER 197 228
17,306 33,301

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

LEHHETIIRA SR :

Number of individuals

A8
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—+F

Emolument bands (in HK dollar) HIEE AEETE)

HKD5,000,001 — HKD5,500,000 715,000,017 2 7 #5,500,0007T 1 -
HKD5,500,001 — HKD6,000,000 7B #55 500,0017T 2 7% #6,000,0007C 1 -
HKD6,000,001 — HKD6,500,000 7 #6,000,0017T 278 #6,500,0007C - 1
HKD8,500,001 — HKD9,000,000 48 500,0017T 278 19,000,0007T - 1
HKD9,000,001 — HKD9,500,000 7459 ,000,0017T 2 7819,500,0007C 1 -
HKD10,500,001 — HKD11,000,000 751£10,500,001 70 27 % 11,000,00070 - 1
HKD12,500,001 — HKD13,000,000 751£12,500,001 7T 2 7% #13,000,0007C - 1
3 4

During the financial year, no amount was paid or receivable by any of the
said three (2017: four) individuals as an inducement to join or upon join

the Company.

BEHA > L= (ZF—t: @) BEAGRZA
FHEEFFRERIMAKFE MARR A0 LR
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31 Finance costs — net 3 HERF - B8
2018 2017
—Z-N\E —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETFT
Interest income FBEUWA 29,444 40,029
Interest on borrowings FELH (17,624) (62,506)
Bank charges RITFEE (1,474) (581)
Net foreign exchange losses on financing activities A EBINEFEL (11,383) (4,054)
(1,037) (27.112)

32 Income tax expense 32 mMERER

Taxation on the PRC profits is calculated on the estimated assessable
profit for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the PRC.

TEREHBRREBETZEARIMEE NERNHAE
Bk - WHEAFEEORFRABER DETAHERN -

2018 2017
—E-N\E T+
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETF T

Current income tax B HMEH
— Current tax on profits for the year — REBFER KR EH 34,600 48,429
— Adjustments in respect of prior years - BENRFE (14,567) (16,793)
Deferred income tax EIEFTEH 18,721 23,172
38,760 54,808

(@) No provision for profits tax in the Cayman Islands and Hong Kong
has been made as the Group has no assessable profits for the years
in those jurisdictions.

(b) In 2016, a tax law [2016] No.49 has been enacted that entity can
register for the National Important Software Enterprise (“NISE”) in
tax bureau if the entity complies with relevant requirements. Based
on management’s assessment, it is highly probable that Kingdee
China will meet those requirements. Therefore, Kingdee China was
estimated to use a preferential corporate income tax rate of 10% for
the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: 10%). The application of
preferential tax rate stated above is subject to critical estimates of
the management of the Group (Note 4.1(e)).
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32

Income tax expense (continued)

(c)

Kingdee Deeking was qualified as a software enterprise by Shenzhen
Software Industry Association on 8 October 2015 and was entitled
to tax exemption for two years and thereafter to a preferential
rate at half of the corporate income tax rate for three years. In
addition, based on management’s assessment, it is highly probable
that Kingdee Deeking will also meet the requirements for NISE.
Therefore, Kingdee Deeking was estimated to use a preferential
corporate income tax rate of 10% for the year ended 31 December
2018 (2017: 10%). The application of preferential tax rate stated
above is subject to critical estimates of the management of the
Group (Note 4.1(e)).

Kingdee Tianyan Middleware was consistently qualified as a
High-tech Enterprise from September 2017 and was entitled to a
preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in 2018 (2017: 15%).

Beijing Kingdee Management Software Co., Ltd. was consistently
qualified as High-tech Enterprise from December 2017 and were
entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in 2018
(2017: 15%).

Guanyi was consistently qualified as High-tech Enterprise from
November 2016 and were entitled to a preferential corporate income
tax rate of 15% in 2018 (2017: 12.5%, a preferential rate at half of
the corporate income tax rate for new software enterprises).

Shanghai Kingdee Deeking Cloud Computing Co., Ltd. was qualified
as High-tech Enterprise from 2016 to 2019 and was entitled to a
preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% in 2018 (2017: 15%).

2 FMERREA (R’

(c)

SRESHN T —AF+AN\BBRIEHTE
BERTRHCERE  TEZMESRFMNE
BRE - pphh  EREBREMMA  EESR
BLAIRRERRHAEZE - At HE-T
—NE+ZA=+-RALRNEE ¢BEEFA
W BEBE (ZT—+F : 10%) - L5
BREEREIAREBEREME N ME:T (M
41(e) °

SRRAFEFR _T-LFNARRERER
BRRMEE  EEERMI (ZF—LF:
15%) M EEREFHHERMAEMN -

EREGEERHERAANR_FT—LF+=
ARRERBRSHRMDE - EERERA15%
(ZF—F  15%)MEER KA BLEMEH -

EHR_E—A"F+—ARRTEBR B IR
¥ TEERABNEERRAECENS
B (ZE—HF:125% HEGHLERDE
FrgBUR £ A EER R )

LRERGEEHEARRAN T —RFE-
T-NFERERBRSHEMER - ERER
5% (C2—LF - 5R)NEIRXAELE
FR1SH -
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32 Income tax expense (continued)

32 FMERER (K

(e)  Other PRC subsidiaries of the Group applied the tax rate of 25%. () HtPETFARERBRNERAEHEE -
The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the AEEERAFBER LA EAMEHERRR
theoretical amount that would have arisen using the principal rate of FEE AR AMBI M EAEREET R E K

the PRC corporate income tax due to the following:

BFAR - RRF2A TR

2018 2017
—Z-N\E Tt
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFTT
Profit before tax B BRI E 448,030 378,420
Tax calculated at the statutory tax rate of 25% BEERRAB%TENTEE
(2017: 25%) (ZE—+F : 25%) 112,008 94,605
Tax effects of: %
Preferential tax rates FREERE (67,491) (54,357)
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset BERRELMEHEENTE
was recognised & 35,703 37,356
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes AAMHENER 1,286 8,094
Re-measurement of deferred tax due to a change in MEETEHMASRIEMERARE
applicable tax rate (4,288) (582)
Additional deductible allowance for research and AN 2 R ER
development expenses (29,891) (13,515)
Adjustments in respect of prior years VAR & A% (14,567) (16,793)
38,760 54,808
33 Dividends 33 KA
2018 2017
—E-N\fE e
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT AREFIT
Proposed final dividend FIRFAREA 33,000 42,400
Included in the 2017 final dividends of RMB42,400,000 (RMB1.3 cents ZEEESRRFARER400000T (AAREER
per share) (approximately HKD1.6 cents per share), RMB42,358,000 were 139) (BABERI6T) ERZT-N\EREFAR
paid in 2018, while the remaining RMB42,000 was outstanding as at 31 #42,358,0007C + R ARBEQOOTEBZE-S—N\F

December 2018.
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33

34
(a)

Dividends (continued)

A final dividend of RMB1.0 cents (equivalent to approximately HKD1.1
cents) per ordinary share, totaling RMB33,000,000, for the year ended
31 December 2018, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. This proposed dividend is not reflected as a dividend payable
in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018, but will be reflected as an appropriation of retained earnings for the
year ending 31 December 2019.

Earnings per share
Basic
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable

33

34
(a)

KR (&)

REBARNBRBFAE L BEEREL-F-N
A=t BLEFEREREBRSAAREER
1.0 CE¥#1.19) - 5t AR¥33,0000007T » A& B
PBBRARBRIABRMERS - BREL-T-NF+
ZAZ - BIEFEOMBRRN B RS HR o

B2
-3
EXBRUEREBBRAARARNEEANMNE - &K

to owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary PAFRBE ST ERRMINETHOHESE  BTRER
shares in issue during the year, excluding ordinary shares purchased and B SRR EIMEE RS A R @R -
held for share award plan.
2018 2017
—Z-N\E —E—tF
Profit attributable to owners of the Company FHRBRFLFEAFEAN (AEETT)
(RMB'000) 412,106 310,004
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in 2 R{TE:BRMMETFYH (T:1)
issue (thousands) 3,125,266 2,806,783
Basic earnings per share (RMB cents per share) BEXEREN (BRARES) 13.19 11.04
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34 Earnings per share (continued)
(b) Diluted

M wERBS (§)
(b) WiE

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company has three categories of
dilutive potential ordinary shares: convertible bonds, share options and
share awards. The convertible bonds are assumed to have been converted
into ordinary shares at the beginning of the year, and the net profit is
adjusted to eliminate the interest expense less the tax effect. For the share
options and share awards, the number of shares that could have been
issued upon the exercise of all dilutive share options and share awards
less the number of shares that could have been issued at fair value
(determined as the average annual market share price of the Company’s
shares) for the same total proceeds is added to the denominator as the
number of ordinary shares issued for no consideration.

HRESRNERRMAABENEE L BRBLAR
RECETEBROIMETIREGE - FARE=R
ARENEATRR : ERES - BRENRD KB
AE - TBARFRINAFRNRERSLER - T
FHBEABRAHHENERRANRGEE - HNBEE
Mk REYEHE - REBATEAMBNNESLEE &
ERAAEBE (BEERARRRMNFHFERE) 1
BANBNEE - AL AHEORNEE - BRR
BRETENERDFTORNBBELLER - FHRER
BIED S REFREMETZERR -

2018 2017
—E-\E§ —E—tF
Profit attributable to owners of the Company FARBRELTESEEA
(RMB’000) (AR®FT) 412,106 310,004
Interest expense on the convertible bonds (net of tax) EREEFIE T (IBRTHE)
(RMB'000) (ARET) 5,259 -
Profit used to determine diluted earnings per share  FIERALIEERESREE
(RMB’000) (AERFT) 417,365 310,004
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 257 & BRI MEFIHS
(thousands) (AER%BTT) 3,125,266 2,806,783
Adjustments for: MR
— Assumed conversion of convertible bonds (thousands) — REE A EBEANER (T 94,808 -
— Share options (thousands) — BEMRAE (F&1) 81,536 53,921
— Share awards (thousands) — Rp RS (F3T) 49,874 24,080
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for HERBEESRESMHEER -
diluted earnings per share (thousands) MEFHE (F&) 3,351,484 2,884,784
Diluted earnings per share (RMB cents per share) RESKREE (BRAR®S) 12.45 10.75
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35 Cash flow information

(a) Cash generated from operations

3 HEELENRS
(a) WEELEMARS

2018 2017
—Z-N\fE —E—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AER®TT ARET T
Profit before income tax BrTE TR AR 448,030 378,420
Adjustments for: HEIFE -
— Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 7) —TEE - THRREENTE (M) 41,697 38,712
— Losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment -RETHE  IRLIELEHE 1,285 264
— Amortisation of land use rights (Note 6) — b AR (FI56) 1,860 3,361
— Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 8) - EREESEE () 304,336 313,842
~ Finance costs - net -UBERZE 1,037 22,476
— Share-based compensation (Note 30) - BREER (M3E30) 91,502 68,097
— Share of losses of associates (Note 10) - DEBERNARENEENHE
(Pr#E10) 4,240 15,227
— Fair value gains on investment properties (Note 9) - REUEHEAABEEH NS
(P 7E9) (94,516) (96,419)
— Realised gains on financial assets at FVPL (Note 29) - URAREEFEAEEEHTABR
MeRMEEDER S (M1329) (34,503) -
— Unrealised fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets at ~ — AAR BEEEBEEH AB%
FVPL (Note 29) MEBMEERER K (MF29) (9,831) 180
— Gains from dilution of equity in associates (Note 10) - BaERRH R (M50 (114) -
— Revaluation gains on investment upon losing of control — AREEHEBHEGKE (H:10)
(Note 10) (5,318) -
~ Re-measurement of contingent consideration for business ~ — (M IEE R A Y B EEIBE
combination (Note 29) (BI5E29) - (25,117
749,105 719,043
Changes in working capital (excluding loans to third parties &4 &4 88 (F&/ N \EEELER
from the micro-credit business): FE-FEFMFREML)
— Inventories -FE 5,621 (7,805)
— Trade and other receivables — JEUER TR Eo A U R 68,840 (24,476)
— Contract assets - eBREE (61,860) -
— Contract liabilities -ARA&E 225,289 -
— Deferred income — EEMA 17,567 72,460
— Trade and other payables — ERNEFREMEMR 9,342 149,138
— Due from customers on implementation contracts — net - EWEFEMARN — 38 - 66,633
Cash generated from operations excluding net cash outflow in  EEEAHIRS (M NEEEEKM
loans to third parties from the micro-credit business F-HERNFRERL) 1,009,904 974,993
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35 Cash flow information (continued) 3% WEELMAS (W)
(a) Cash generated from operations (continued) (a) WEEEMRS (E)
In the consolidated cash flow statement, proceeds from disposal of EReRERAN  HETDE  IRERZENIERE
property, plant and equipment comprise: iR
2018 2017
—Z-N\F —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT
Net book amount (Note 7) AR (PEET) 2,226 2,401
Losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment HEREE « IRREENEE (1,285) (264)
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment HETEE - THREXBHMER 9 2137
(b) Non-cash transactions (h) #REXH
There were no significant non-cash investing and financing activities R EEERIIAFRBEEANIRSBERS]
during the year except for the conversion of the convertible bonds (Note ) (FHzE23 (b)) ©
23(b)).
(c) Net debt reconciliation (c) SPEBED

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in net
debt for each of the periods presented.

REEI S ERRAMI R FEHODTNEE -

Net debt 2018 2017
BEE —E-\E§ ZT—tF
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%TR ARBTF T

Borrowings — repayable within one year R —-—FRNEE 301,125 155,026
Borrowings — repayable after one year B — —FRER - 1,193,503
Less: cash and cash equivalents B REREEEEY (1,452,848) (1,056,675)
Net (cash)/debt % (Be)/ 8 (1,151,723) 291,854
Gross debt - fixed interest rates BEL - BEEf® 301,125 1,117,678
Gross debt — variable interest rates BER — FEFIE - 230,851
Less: cash and cash equivalents B RERBREEEY (1,452,848) (1,056,675)
Net (cash)/debt FCRe)/ at (1,151,723) 291,854
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35 Cash flow information (continued)

3 EEEEMAS (W)

(c) Net debt reconciliation (continued) (c) BEFAD (|
Liabilities from financing
Other assets activities
Hftt 5 & MEEFDNAR
Borrowing due  Borrowing due
Cash  within 1 year after 1 year Total
—FEREH — &3
e EEN B st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARETT AR®TL
Net debt as at 1 January 2017 A _ZE—tF—-A—BREH 1,464,769 (80,675) (141559)  (31,502)
Cash flows Reng (383,136) (74,351) 154675 (302,812)
Interest accrued less interest paid FERF ERE A FB - - (1,439) (1439)
Foreign exchange adjustments P R (24,958) - 68,857 43,899
Net debt as at 31 December 2017 R-Z—tE+=-A=+—HPEHE 1,056,675 (155,026) (1193503)  (291,854)
Liahilities from financing
Other assets activities
Htt & MEETHNER
Borrowing due  Borrowing due
Cash  within 1 year after 1 year Total
—FEREHY —FHREHY
e & & st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTIT ARBTIT ARBFTT AR®TL
Net debt as at 1 January 2018 R-E—-\F—F—HBEE 1,056,675 (155,026) (1,193,503) (291,854)
Cash flows Ren= 380,061 (146,099) 75,825 309,787
Interest accrued less interest paid PR FIBRE MFI 8 - = (159) (159)
Foreign exchange adjustments P R 16,112 - 41,906 58,018
Non-cash conversion of convertible
bonds FRE - EEER = = 1,075,931 1,075,931
Net cash as at 31 December 2018 RZ-Z—N\FE+ZA=+—HBHE 1,452,848 (301,125) - 1,151,723
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N T LS

Transactions with non-controlling interests

(a) Disposal of interest in a subsidiary without loss of control in

(b)

202 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

2018

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group’s subsidiary, Kingdee
Vehicle, received a capital injection of RMB35,000,000 from a third party
— Beijing Souche Network Technology Co, Ltd. After the transaction, the
Group’s equity interest in Kingdee Vehicle was diluted from 70% to 56%
and the Group continues to retain control over Kingdee Vehicle as the
Group still has more than 50% of its voting rights. The effect of changes
in the ownership interest of Kingdee Vehicle on the equity attributable to
owners of the Company during the year is summarised as follows:

36
()

HFRRNERNTH
RIS-N\FRETLRAME (FREEHNE)

BE"Z-\FT-A=1t—RILFE  F&EFAH
ERAERF N UARREBERBRERRA CATH
18) 5 ARH35000,000THRE « RHTMIE - K&
B FAEMRIEHRTNHEEY - TEERES
SHTENDA LR RE - SRTERERAAER
VEBHFNEBRAARENEE ANERNTER
I

2018

—Z-N\&F

RMB’000

AR®TR

Deemed consideration received for the 14% equity interest HE 4B ER I B 35,000
Carrying amount of non-controlling interests being disposed of FEREENEEERE (21,704)
Gains on disposal recognised within equity EREZFERLEFE 13,296

Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary in 2017

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group acquired an
additional 33% of the equity interest of Guanyi for a cash consideration
of RMB83,500,000. After the acquisition, the Group owned 91% shares of
the Guanyi. The carrying amount of the acquired non-controlling interests
in Guanyi on the date of acquisition was RMB33,699,000. The Group
recognised a decrease in equity attributable to owners of the Company
of RMB49,801,000. The effect of changes in the ownership interest of
Guanyi on the equity attributable to owners of the Group during the year
is summarised as follows:

(b)

REZS—EFRBFLRMMER
BI—Z—tF+-A=t—RIL5E £EBAES
E3R3% 2 BT - BELESARES3 50,0007 © 5
RUEER  SEBEESTNWRG - EHEHOIEEH
VR 2R IR B A0 BRTE (B (B A A R #633,699,0007T ©
REHERIFE B 2R D AR H49,801,0007T « A5
EHERERHEANEGHBBNARAENTAE AN
BENPEREDNT

2017

T+t F

RMB'000

AREFT

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired BAFER R REE 33,699
Consideration payable to non-controlling interests ST IR SN (E (83,500)
Excess of consideration paid recognised within equity BELNNEENHNEERRER (49,801)

Annual Report 2018




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AU B R

36
(c)

37

(a)

(b)

Transactions with non-controlling interests (continued)

Disposal of interest in a subsidiary without loss of control in
2017

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group disposed of 15%
equity interest in a subsidiary, Kingdee Vehicle, for a cash consideration
of RMB2,250,000. After the transaction, the Group continues to retain
control over Kingdee Vehicle by more than 50% of its voting rights.
The effect of changes in the ownership interest of Kingdee Vehicle on
the equity attributable to owners of the Company during the year is
summarised as follows:

36 HIFFFMEERZNRH (K)

(c) RES—LFHEFLFRS (FRERHE)

BE" T tF+T-A=1T—RIFE ARFHET
AR HTERE L - HEAARE2250,0007T &
EfnE  SENBBRHE0%N FEFOREN RE L
SHRAENEH - SRAERSHAARSNEGHEF

NEBRAR RN AR

WEMT :

2017

Tt

RMB’000

AREFT

Consideration receivable for the 15% equity interest HEBWERME A EE 2,250
Carrying amount of non-controlling interests being disposed of R RAER (7.474)
Loss on disposal recognised within equity EREPHERHERNS (5,224)

Operating lease Commitments — Group as lessee and
lessor

The Group had total minimum future lease payments under

37 EEHAAE -SESKBEAMHBA

(a) FRERBFTHBZEFEEHAMERKRIfZ

non-cancelable operating leases in respect of properties as RERSAREHENT -
follows:

2018 2017
—E-\E§ —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTR ARETF T
Not later than one year TEB—F 32,458 22475
Later than one year and not later than five years BRA-—FENEARF 26,339 24,998
58,797 47 473

The Group had total minimum future lease receivable under

() FREABBFTRBZEFEEHEARRRERZ

non-cancelable operating leases in respect of properties as REARWRAENT
follows:

2018 2017
—Z-N\EF Tt fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBEFT
Not later than one year NER—F 45,522 64,782
Later than one year and not later than five years BE—FETRBATF 64,904 91,051
110,426 155,833

—3-)\F7H
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38 Related parties transactions 38 WEARH
The Group is controlled by Mr. Xu Shao Chun, who owned 24.12% of the AEERGBOFRERS  EEEREEAU12%H K
Company’s shares as at 31 December 2018. The remaining 75.88% of the T HERTH 8% AR BT A - AEEMFREFAR
shares were widely held. The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr. ROBFEE o
Xu Shao Chun.
(a) Transactions with related parties (a) HREAXHEE
Save as disclosed in employee share-based arrangements (Note 22) and BEZZ-)\FT-A=+—0 BRT&MHBRXZ
directors’ emoluments (Note 40) in the consolidated financial statements, BIRMEH (MF2) REERERERENS (H
the Group had transactions with related parties for the year ended 31 ) A AEBEEMBEERSHRMAT
December 2018 as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETT
Sales of products EmiEE
— Associates — B 14,578 12,138
— Companies controlled by the ultimate controlling party — B R AR A PTIE  f  a 150 -
14,728 12,138
Sales of services RiGHE
— Associates — B 13,034 15,978
Rental income HEHA
— Associates — B 2,207 2,036
— Companies controlled by the ultimate controlling party — BRI AT Gl 13,782 5,526
15,989 7,562
Interest income FEMA
— Associates — e 1,601 3,084
— Companies controlled by the ultimate controlling party — BRI AT S 5,249 5,249
6,850 8,333

Products and services are sold based on terms agreed with the
counterparties in the ordinary course of business, and the rental rates and
interest rates are determined in the same way.
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38 Related parties transactions (continued)
(b) Purchases of products and services

38 HWEAXH (K)
(h) REREBHERE

2018 2017
—Z-N\fE —t4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR#®TT ARETFT

Purchases of products EmiEE
— Associates — e 5,129 13,242
— Companies controlled by the ultimate controlling party — B R R AP E E 284 1,318
5,413 14,560

Purchases of services REEE
— Associates — e 21,535 16,098
— Companies controlled by the ultimate controlling party — B R AR A P 81 189
21,616 16,287

Products and services purchased from associates and companies
controlled by the ultimate controlling party are carried out on terms

agreed with the counterparties in the ordinary course of business.

(c) Balances with related parties

(c) BRESRZELNHFRER

YIRS A S DRI R ARSI 77 Pt TR
BH0 - WIRRE A BELBRT H I RENIRIUETT -

2018 2017
—E2-\f —t5
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%TT ARETF T
Payable to related parties recorded in “Contract liabilities” EHEIARERE] (2017 [EFE:])
(2017: “Advances from customers’) T RS R 5 5A
~ Associates —BE AT 1,056 766
Payable to related parties recorded in “Trade payables” OB [ERTERAR Ay AT R
EQE]
- Associates —BE N7 792 1,998
Receivables from related parties (Note 13) e @R 5OE (FIEE13)
— Associates o VNS 5,117 4675
— Companies controlled by the ultimate controlling party — B R R A PR 4,076 1,774
9,193 6,449
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38 Related parties transactions (continued) 38
(d) Key management compensation (d)

Key management comprise the Company’s directors and senior officers as
defined in the Company’s articles of association and vice presidents. The

WEAXH (&)

WRETEARHS

MREEASBEAFES ARARERTENER
BEMERS - nEREEARINEAEERBNE
FRENMEIT :

compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services

is shown below.

2018 2017
—Z-\EF —T—+F
RMB’000 RMB’000
N & AREFT
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits HehEmEHEE R 20,599 23,445
Share-based payments AR (3 A LB A S A 20,066 22410
40,665 45,855
(e) Loans to related parties (e) HFHMEHER
2018 2017
—Z-N\EF Tt
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%TTR AEBETFT
Loans to companies controlled by the ultimate controlling party 43 F & & 4EHI A FTIEHIH FEE R
At 1 January ®—A—H 104,979 104,979
Loans advanced during the year FREHNER - -
At 31 December ®+Z-RA=+—8 104,979 104,979
Loans to an associate BTBECEER
At 1 January »—B—AH 59,160 53,612
Loans advanced during the year FRELNER 587,374 -
Share of losses of an associate in excess of investment cost ~ BE &> ¥ MREEER - 5,548
Repayments received from related parties BB (30,000) -
At 31 December ®+=B=+—H 616,534 59,160
Total loans to related parties R FRB A EREH 721,513 164,139
Represented by: FITREG :
Loans to Shenzhen Cloud-Hub Network Co., Ltd. BFRINEZ RBEFER AT
(“Shenzhen Cloud-Hub") (TRINEZR]) ER 29,160 59,160
Loans to Shanghai Jinyi Medical Software Limited BT EESRERAEHTEERAR
(“Shanghai Jinyi Medical") (LE5eEE]) BEX 104,979 104,979
Loans to Qingdao Xinrun KTEEEHER 587,374 -
Total loans to related parties KRR ERAHE 721,513 164,139

206 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Annual Report 2018




38 Related parties transactions (continued)
(e) Loans to related parties (continued)

Loans of RMB29,160,000 (after taking into account the recognition of the
excess of share of loss over the investment cost) and RMB104,979,000
were advanced to Shenzhen Cloud-Hub and Shanghai Jinyi Medical
Software Limited (“Shanghai Jinyi Medical”, formerly named Shanghai
Kingdee Medical Software Co., Ltd.), respectively, by the Group in 2016,
both with a term of three years from 1 January 2016 to 1 January 2019,
and with a carried interest at 5% per annum (2017: 5%). At the end of
2018, the Group entered into loan extension agreements with Shenzhen
Cloud-Hub and Shanghai Jinyi Medical, respectively, to extend the date of
repayment to 31 December 2021.

Loans of RMB587,374,000 was advanced to Qingdao Xinrun, an associate
of the company. Amounts of RMB256,976,000 was interest free, due
within one year and classified as current asset, of which RMB218,430,000
has been subsequently settled as of the date of these financial statements.
Amounts of RMB330,398,000 was carried with interest of 5% per annum
and classified as non-current asset with a term of three years from 29
December 2018 to 28 December 2021.

REAZH (&)

BTHELER ()

SBRBE A BIRRNEZ RN LGS RERGEN
HERAR ([LESREE] JiBALEERERY
EEHARAT) 24T ARE29,160,0007T (ZE T
HILERANBEEBE2%) R ARE104979,0007T
WER BH=F M- F-A-BA#E_ZT—
NE—B—BIE FHERA% (ZT—+ 1 5%) c R
T-\FER  ¢HFEIPEEZRR LGS RESR
FAVERERGE  BEFEREE-_T-_—F+_A
=t+-8-

FEBRERE LTS SRR ARG 3740007
B e ARI256,976 0007 5 — 5 M E B B KR
SIRERBAZS + Ko AR 218430 0007 2R AES
BREZAREE - HEDEAARBI0600TH
B3 FHES BRA-E-N\F+=A=thA
EoF--FtCATNA IRERRBART -
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the Company

39 Statement of financial position and reserve movement of

39 FLXFMMBRARRERED

As at 31 December

®R+=-BA=+—H
2018 2017
—E-\f§ T+
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
BisE AR¥TT AREFT
Assets gE
Non-current assets FERBEE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss IR EEFEAEEH B
HeREE 260,059 -
Interests in subsidiaries HFABMEE 2,537,538 1,952,305
2,197,597 1,952,305
Current assets mEEE
Other receivables Ho A UK 38,454 211,826
Cash and cash equivalents ReLREEEY 23,486 67,277
61,940 279,103
Total assets HEE 2,859,537 2,231,408
Liabilities af
Non-current liabilities FRBARE
Amounts due to subsidiaries e F A 210,196 570,175
Current liahilities mEEE
Other payables HAERH 42 4,726
Total liabilities HaR 210,238 574,901
Net assets BEE 2,649,299 1,656,507
Equity attributable to owners of the Company  BBEBRFATHAEEA
Share capital AR 79,585 71,599
Share premium BB 2,903,459 1,681,289
Other reserves Hi (@) (376,085) (166,617)
Retained eamings Bk (@) 42,340 70,236
Total equity ana 2,649,299 1,656,507
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved by the BERARNHERAREENETE - NE=AT

Board of Directors on 13 March 2019 and was signed on its behalf.

Xu Shaochun
#®OE

Director
EE
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SRR TRREFEHZE -

Lin Bo
W

Annual Report 2018

Director
EZ




39 Statement of financial position and reserve movement of
the Company (continued)
Note:

(@) Reserve movement of the Company

39 FLXFMMBRRARREMRED (F)

GEE

@ AAREED

Retained
earnings Other reserves
gERE Hoth G
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2017 —E2—+t%—H—H 56,561 (154,794)
Profit for the year FEAF 13,675 -
Shares purchased for share award plan BARNEETEEENRE - (40,841)
Transfers shares to the awardees upon vesting NEBR IR ERAERR A - 12,027
Buy-back of shares EE=EG - (133,046)
Cancellation of shares R - 150,037
At 31 December 2017 —Z—t§+-HA=+-H 70,236 (166,617)
At 1 January 2018 —Z-\¥—A—H 70,236 (166,617)
Profit for the year FEAF 14,504 -
Shares purchased for share award plan BR7ER T EEENRE = (224,405)
Transfers shares to the awardees upon vesting REBRBRNEBRERA = 14,937
Dividend distribution RS E (42,400) -
At 31 December 2018 —Z2-N\F¥+-H=1+—H 42,340 (376,085)
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40 Benefits and interests of directors and chief executive

officer

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive is set out

below:

For the year ended 31 December 2018:

4 EFRERHTENIINES

BNESREFMTENFHMOT -

BE2_Z—\F+-_A=t+—HLFE:

Employer’s
Allowances contribution
Discretionary ~ and benefits  to a retirement
Name i3] Fees Salaries bonuses inkind (a) (i) benefit scheme Total
Hftiasm BHFER
it HEMEE
e b4 BisEe {RE(a)(i) e Mt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETr ARETR ARETR ARETT  ARBTR
Chairman TE
Mr. Xu Shao Chun BOBRE 150 2,730 1,691 7,961 59 12,591
Executive directors HiTEE
Mr. Lin Bo WL E 150 1,164 1,007 4,232 59 6,612
Non-gxecutive directors FHTEF
Ms. Dong Ming Zhu ERGt 150 - - 25 - 175
Mr. Zhang Chen (a) (if) SRR () (i) - - - 5 - 5
Mr. Shen Yuan Ching (a) (i) BT SR A () (i) 150 - - - - 150
Independent non-executive directors BV AR TEE
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark BiddleZz & 200 - - 25 - 225
Mr. Liu Chia-Yung ARELE 150 - - 25 - 175
Mr. Wy Cheng () (ii) SRIBSAE () (i) - - - 5 - 5
Mr. Cao Yang Feng () (ii) E103&(a) (i) 150 - - - - 150
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40 Benefits and interests of directors

officer (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2017:

and chief executive

40 EFRERMTEMNNGNER (E)

&

EE—HETAST-HIEFE:

Discretionary

Employer’s
Allowances  contribution to
and henefits a retirement

Name :%] Fees Salaries bonuses inkind (a)(i) benefit scheme Total
EftiEfIe BiFiER
% HENEE
e e hisge {RE(a) #ax gt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTLT  ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Chairman *E
Mr. Xu Shao Chun ROERE 150 2210 1,333 4583 55 8,391
Executive directors HITEF
Mr. Lin Bo OB 55 4 (a) (i) 150 828 4 1,532 54 3,78
Non-executive directors HHITEE
Ms. Dong Ming Zhu ERKIT 150 - - 59 - 209
Mr. Zhang Chen (a) (ii) RRILE 150 - - - - 150
Independent non-executive directors B 7R TTEE
Mr. Gary Clark Biddle Gary Clark Biddlest 4 200 - - 59 - 259
Mr. Wu Cheng (a) (iii) RELE 150 - - 59 - 209
Mr. Liu Chia-Yung URERE 150 - - 58 - 208
(a) Directors’ emoluments (@ EEHH

(i)

(i)

(i)

Includes share options and share award plan, estimated
monetary value was based on the annual charge of the share-

based payment in accordance with IFRS2.

Mr. Zhang Chen resigned as a non-executive director of the
Company on 13 March 2018 and Mr. Shen Yuan Ching was
appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on the

same day.

Mr. Wu Cheng resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 13 March 2018 and Mr. Cao Yang
Feng was appointed as an independent non-executive director

of the Company on the same day.

(i)

(i)

BREBRENBEDZBE - REERY
BRERSE - BAEKEEERUERD
RERNSNNFEER -

“E-N\FZAT=HR RREEEEE
AAFIFTESRE  ATERERE
BEAEGAALDAERNITES -

“E-\FZATZRAE RBERLERZE
ARRBUFNTERRE  BMHEELE
NERREBARREBLFRNTESH

Al
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40 Benefits and interests of directors and chief executive
officer (continued)

(b)

212 Kingdee International Software Group Company Limited

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any termination
benefits for the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

Inducement to join the Company

During the financial year, no amount was paid or receivable by any
Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Company.

Waiver

During the financial year, no Director had waived or agreed to waive
any of his/her emoluments.

Consideration provided to third parties for making available
directors’ services

For the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group did not
pay consideration to any third parties for making available directors’
Services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour
of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
with such directors

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, there are no loans, quasi-loans
and other dealing arrangements in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

The Group’s transactions with the companies controlled by Mr. Xu
Shao Chun, the chairman and executive director of the Company,
are set out in Note 38.

Except for mentioned above, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted during the year.

40 EFRERRTENNGNER (H)

(b)

Annual Report 2018

EEMRIEREH
BE_Z—tFE-_Z—/\F+-A=+—ALt
FE B OETEEESRIEMNESLL
&F o

NIVNESNGIEE]:3)

BRERA - EAEFHRIN IR IR
BMAKRZIMARR AR LR

#e

REHRN  RBEEERRRABREEAHH

IRHEERBMAE = RENGE

BE_Z—+FH-_Z—- \F+-A=+—ALt
FE EBSARREEEREMATNEZS
RELREE -

MEE  XRFEFLHNEABBRAESH
BEIREHNER EERNEMI Z0EH

BE_T—tFE-T-)\F+-A=t+—-AL
R RERAEAES  XAFEFEHEA
BENZESNRETIBIERNER  EERM
Hi R HNER -

ERERS  ZHFANTHENELE

ARBERZAREERFNTESRIBERLSE
EEPNSIE R N R

R EXPTASN  FRLBERRBBERH —
T MARREFERREERENELEREAR
RINERRS - ZHRAH -
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